Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

3-11-2021

Biological Invasions in Coastal Marine Ecosystems: How Changes in Trade Are Linked to Ballast Water Delivery of Nonindigenous Species

Danielle Elizabeth Verna Portland State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds

Part of the Environmental Studies Commons Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Verna, Danielle Elizabeth, "Biological Invasions in Coastal Marine Ecosystems: How Changes in Trade Are Linked to Ballast Water Delivery of Nonindigenous Species" (2021). *Dissertations and Theses.* Paper 5653.

https://doi.org/10.15760/etd.7525

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. Please contact us if we can make this document more accessible: pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Biological Invasions in Coastal Marine Ecosystems:

How Changes in Trade Are Linked to Ballast Water Delivery of Nonindigenous Species

by

Danielle Elizabeth Verna

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy in Earth, Environment and Society

Dissertation Committee: Mark D. Sytsma, Chair Gregory M. Ruiz, Co-Chair Max Nielsen-Pincus Scott Wells

Portland State University 2021

© 2021 Danielle Elizabeth Verna

Abstract

Globalization has escalated transfers of nonindigenous species (NIS) across natural dispersal barriers. The resulting biological invasions have become a leading global mechanism of ecological change. NIS are often transported between coastal marine ecosystems in the ballast water of commercial ships, and patterns of NIS introduction and establishment can be linked to global trade dynamics. Here I examined drivers of trade and ballast water across spatial and temporal extents of invasion. The analyses incorporated a variety of datasets on trade, industries, and ship behavior to identify fluctuations in globally transported commodities that lead to changes in maritime shipping patterns and frequency. Importantly, I estimated quantitative relationships between trade exports and ballast water imports. Changes in the number and proportion of vessel arrivals that discharged ballast water, and the frequency of discharge, drove fluxes in ballast water volume. In San Francisco Bay, California, the annual tonnage of the top 11 export commodities by vessel type predicted total bay-wide overseas ballast water discharge ($R^2 = 0.92$), largely driven by exports of dry bulk goods to Asia and petroleum to western Central America. Across the West, Gulf, and East Coasts of the United States, a four-fold increase in exports of petroleum, coal, and liquefied natural gas explained a more than three-fold increase in ballast water delivery by vessel type ($R^2 =$ 0.97), linking the coastal US with trade partners in Asia, Europe, and North and South America. In coastal Alaska, the annual number of tank and bulk vessels that discharged ballast water predicted annual statewide ballast water volume by each vessel type (R^2 = 0.70, $R^2 = 0.94$, respectively), driven by oil exports to the US West Coast and mining and

i

timber exports to Asia. These relationships clarify the influence of trade on ballast water and invasion dynamics to support hindcasts and forecasts of NIS introductions. Additionally, I created an adaptable risk-based screening protocol of ballast water delivery. An application of this tool to a dataset of vessel arrivals on the Oregon coast and lower Columbia River identified high priority vessels for inspection within the range of resources available to managers. This study as a whole is a step forward in understanding invasion patterns, NIS risk to coastal ecosystems, and the sustainability of current drivers of global maritime shipping.

Acknowledgements

I am grateful to many for their support during the past four years and beyond, without which this dissertation would not have been achievable. I would like to thank my advisers Dr. Mark Sytsma and Dr. Greg Ruiz for their guidance and extensive expertise. I appreciate their support to live and work remotely from the University for the second half of the program. Thank you to my committee member Dr. Max Nielsen-Pincus for keen insights on this research and time spent discussing literature outside of my immediate discipline. Thank you to Dr. Scott Wells for serving as my Graduate Student Representative. I received much support from members of the Marine Invasions Research Laboratory at the Smithsonian Environmental Research Center and always enjoy time spent there. I would especially like to thank Dr. Mark Minton for supplying data and collaborating on many analyses, Dr. Jim Muirhead for his patience and willingness to teach, and Dr. Kimberly Holzer for her enthusiasm and thoughtful input. I am also thankful for the support of members of the Fisheries, Aquatic Science, and Technology Laboratory at Alaska Pacific University, including FAST Lab Director Dr. Brad Harris for his leadership and honest perspective. Thank you to Dr. Catherine de Rivera and Rian vanden Hooff at the Oregon Department of Environmental Quality for arranging the project that led to Chapter 4, and for their interest in ensuring the outcome was a useful product. I would like to acknowledge my co-authors on all chapters, many whom I have mentioned above, for collaboration and thoughtful discussion. Last but not least, thank you to my family and friends for their constant encouragement and support, in many ways, of my goal to pursue education.

iii

Funding for this dissertation was provided by the Smithsonian Environmental Research Center, Fisheries, Aquatic Science, and Technology Laboratory, North Pacific Research Board, and PSU Edward D. and Olive C. Bushby Scholarships. I received additional support engaging with the Prince William Sound Regional Citizens' Advisory Council and Alaska Department of Fish and Game. Funds for publication of Chapter 4 were provided by the Scion Natural Science Association.

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	iii
List of Tables	viii
List of Figures	ix
Introduction	1
Chapter 1	
Trade exports predict regional ballast water discharge by ships	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and methods	
Study site	
Vessel traffic and ballast water delivery data	
Trade data	
Analyses	
Results	
Arrivals and BW discharge by ship type	
BW source regions and recipient ports	
Relationship of change in trade to BW discharge volume	
Discussion	
Predicting BW discharge from trade	
Source region and recipient port	
Invasion response to trade shifts	
Conclusions	
References	

Table of Contents

Chapter 2

Expanding US energy exports fuel opportunity for marine biological invasions	53
Abstract	53
	v

Introduction	53
Methods	55
Total export data5	55
Energy data 5	56
Ballast water data5	58
Analysis 5	59
Results	50
Total exports	50
Energy boom	50
Ship behavior ϵ	51
Relationship between energy exports and ballast water imports	52
Invasion opportunity ϵ	53
Discussion	54
Energy trade dynamics ϵ	54
Maritime shipping ϵ	56
Future sustainability ϵ	57
Recommendations	59
References	76

Chapter 3

Recent and projected ballast water dynamics from maritime shipping in Alaska	81
Abstract	81
Introduction	82
Methods	85
Study area	85
Data sources and cleaning	85
Analyses	87
Results	89
Arrivals and ballast water discharge	89
Ballast water management	90
Modeling annual ballast water volume	91

Sensitivity analysis and scenarios of ballast water discharge	91
Discussion	93
Maritime shipping patterns	93
Drivers of ballast water discharge and sources of uncertainty	95
Invasion opportunities	98
Conclusions	100
Acknowledgements	109
References	110

Chapter 4

A	decision tree analysis of nonindigenous species risk from ballast water to the lower	r
C	Columbia River and Oregon coast, USA	. 120
	Abstract	. 120
	Introduction	. 121
	Methods	. 125
	Data and study area	. 125
	Risk factors	. 126
	Decision tree	. 130
	Results	. 132
	Discussion	. 135
	Acknowledgements	. 148
	References	. 149

Conclusion	159
Appendix A: Supplemental Material to Chapter 1	164
Appendix B: Supplemental Material to Chapter 2	

List of Tables

Chapter 1 Table	
Table 1.1. Vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge	39
Chapter 3 Tables	
Table 3.1. Modeled ballast water discharge volume Table 3.2. Scenarios	102 102
Chapter 4 Tables	
Table 4.1. Risk factors and scales Table 4.2. Vessel prioritization	142 143

List of Figures

Introduction Figures

Figure 1.	Pillars of biosecurity	v management for nonindigenous species	3
Figure 2.	Conceptual diagram	of research gaps	3

Chapter 1 Figures

Figure 1.1. Bulker and tanker ballast water source bioregions	. 40
Figure 1.2. Annual arrivals and ballast water	. 41
Figure 1.3. Annual variation by vessel type	. 42
Figure 1.4. Spatial variation by vessel type	. 43
Figure 1.5. Annual tonnage of top export commodities	. 44

Chapter 2 Figures

Figure 2.1. Total exports from the coastal United States	71
Figure 2.2. Spatial and temporal energy exports	72
Figure 2.3. Vessel arrivals and proportion of dischargers	73
Figure 2.4. Energy exports and ballast water imports	74
Figure 2.5. Recent top destinations of energy exports from the United States	75

Chapter 3 Figures

Figure 3.1. Annual arrivals by vessel type	. 103
Figure 3.2. Arrivals that discharged ballast water	. 104
Figure 3.3. Annual ballast water discharge by vessel type	. 105
Figure 3.4. Spatial arrivals and ballast water discharge	. 106
Figure 3.5. Annual management of ballast water discharge	. 107
Figure 3.6. Projected ballast water discharge volumes	. 108

Chapter 4 Figures

Figure 4.1. Ports that received ballast water	144
Figure 4.2. Decision tree	145
Figure 4.3. Environmental similarity risk of ballast water	146
Figure 4.4. Volume and age of ballast water	147

Introduction

Biological invasions by nonindigenous species (NIS) result from the movement of organisms beyond natural dispersal limits. Species are limited in their natural dispersal by physical and biological barriers, e.g., land masses, oceans, competition from other species (Vermeij 1991). Humans have overcome geographic barriers and introduced species into novel environments across space and time (Ojaveer et al. 2018). The rate and scale of NIS introductions seen in modern times has become possible with the advent of human transportation systems and networks, vastly increasing the abundance, density, and variety of species transferred around the globe (Hulme 2009). Moreover, humans facilitate invasions by altering the environment and reducing biological barriers. For example, development and infrastructure cause disturbance, alter native species population levels, and appear to facilitate NIS invasions (Dafforn 2017; Padilla and Williams 2004).

The patterns, processes, and ecological impacts of biological invasions have been increasingly studied in the past 60 years since the publication of Charles Elton's book *The ecology of invasions by animals and plants* in 1958 (Richardson 2011). In the process of a successful invasion, NIS must pass through stages of transport, introduction, establishment, and spread, facing barriers at each step (Blackburn et al. 2011). Predicting invasion success remains a difficult task since it depends on a combination of species-specific attributes and characteristics of the recipient environment (Papacostas et al. 2017; Catford et al. 2011), though some patterns have emerged. Native species richness and functional diversity are thought to increase resistance to invasion on small scales

(Stachowicz 1999), cross-latitudinal studies indicate that biotic resistance decreases from tropical to temperate zones while abiotic pressures increase (Freestone et al. 2013), and time since introduction is a strong predictor of NIS range size (Byers et al. 2015).

Successful biological invasions are a leading cause of ecological change on a global scale (Pyšek and Richardson 2010). NIS impacts have been documented across biomes, including terrestrial agriculture (Paini et al. 2016) and forests (McKenzie et al. 2005), freshwater aquatic ecosystems (Gallardo et al. 2016), and the marine environment (Molnar et al. 2008). Invasions can cause direct biotic impacts by reducing the abundance of native species through competition and predation, ultimately affecting the functionality of food webs (Gallardo et al. 2016). Indirect effects on native species genetics are possible with hybridization and introgression with NIS (Mooney and Cleland 2001). With time, invasive species can modify habitat structure and disturbance regimes, as well as other abiotic characteristics of the introduced environment (Strayer et al. 2006). Ecosystem services to society can be negatively altered, such as food provisioning, water quality, shoreline protection, and tourism (Katsanevakis et al. 2014).

Globalization has led to increasing NIS transfers by a variety of pathways and vectors, resulting in rising impacts and damages (Hulme 2009; Chapman et al. 2017). Recent total annual costs from invasive species have been estimated at \$120 billion in the United States (Pimentel et al. 2005), £1.7 billion in Great Britain (Williams et al. 2010), and \$13.6 billion in Australia (Hoffmann and Broadhurst 2016). Growing ecological, economic, and social costs of biological invasions have garnered international attention and calls for prevention, control, and research (Pagad et al. 2015). As a result,

comprehensive approaches to biosecurity and NIS management have been developed across ecosystems and pathways (Meyerson and Reaser 2002; Jarrad et al. 2011) (Figure 1).



¹Hulme PE. 2011. Biosecurity: The Changing Face of Invasion Biology. In Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology: The Legacy of Charles Elton. Ed. David M. Richardson, Blackwell Publishing Ltd

Figure 1. Pillars of biosecurity management for nonindigenous species

Each pillar independently influences the likelihood of success or failure of biological invasion and jointly contributes to biosecurity measures that aim to prevent or minimize NIS introductions and establishment.

In the marine environment, maritime shipping is the leading vector to introduce NIS, primarily from ballast and biofouling (Ruiz et al. 1997; Bailey et al. 2020). The mode of NIS introductions to coastal ecosystems has progressed through time from wooden sailing ships to steel-hulled, engine-powered ships and present day largecapacity commercial vessels (Ojaveer et al. 2018). Modern ships connect far-reaching ports in a matter of days, enhancing the speed and frequency of viable NIS deliveries and increasing the likelihood that organisms survive the journey to establish upon release (Hulme 2009; Wonham et al. 2013).

The direction and magnitude of maritime shipping is driven by trade dynamics, as ships transport goods between port systems globally (Seebens et al. 2016). Consequently, NIS introductions are linked to fluxes in trade patterns and the movement of unique trade commodities (Carney et al. 2017). Continued growth and expansion of maritime shipping and coastal infrastructure is anticipated to increase risk of invasions in marine ecosystems, since there appears to be no saturation in the accumulation of NIS worldwide (Seebens et al. 2017; Sardain et al. 2019). Furthermore, development of new trade routes (e.g., China's Belt and Road Initiative, the Arctic's Northwest Passage and Northern Sea Route) and shifting trade patterns (e.g., expansion of the Panama Canal) will expose coastal areas to novel NIS (Miller and Ruiz 2014; Muirhead et al. 2015; Liu et al. 2019). Successful colonization by introduced species is dependent on environmental match between trade partners (Keller et al. 2011), and climate change is anticipated to increase opportunity in high latitude ecosystems (Mahanes and Sorte 2019).

Ballast water from ships has been studied as a dominant vector of NIS for at least thirty years and is the subject of biosecurity measures internationally and in the United States (Bailey 2015). Ships take on seawater as ballast to maintain stability when cargo loads are reduced or absent, entraining aquatic organisms in the process. Ballast water and biota are moved between ports similarly to, and often in the opposite direction of, cargo deliveries from a ship. The result is a network of organism transfers between port systems that result in NIS introductions and establishment (Seebens et al. 2016).

Ballasting behavior varies by ship type, since some vessels carry cargo on nearly every voyage and/or require relatively low volumes of ballast water for operation (e.g., container and passenger ships), in contrast to vessels that carry bulk goods in one direction and ballast water on return (e.g., tankers and bulk carriers) (Verling et al. 2005; Minton et al. 2015). A greater proportion of tanker and bulk carrier arrivals discharge ballast water than other ship types, and their average discharge volumes are higher (Davidson et al. 2018). As a result of these differences in vessel behavior, ports that export bulk goods receive relatively large volumes of ballast water.

To reduce the likelihood of introducing NIS to coastal ecosystems, ships manage ballast water prior to discharge. Ballast water exchange was adopted as a management tool internationally and in the United States in the 1990s, wherein vessels replace coastal water in mid-ocean by emptying and refilling or allowing water to flow through ballast tanks (Verna and Harris 2016). The aims of ballast water exchange are to reduce the number and density of organisms, deliver an osmotic shock to remaining coastal organisms to inhibit survival, and discharge lower-risk open-ocean species in arrival ports. This practice is estimated to be 90% effective, in that it is expected to reduce the concentration of coastal zooplankton by an order of magnitude (Minton et al. 2005). Midocean exchange remains the leading mechanism of ballast water management, though development of economically and technologically feasible onboard treatment systems began in the early 2000s and is increasing rapidly. Ballast water treatment systems must meet an established threshold of organism densities of different size classes, and often use a combination of filtration and chemical means to reach specific (required) discharge

standards (Verna and Harris 2016). Many treatment systems have now been approved for use in the United States, but installation and operation remain ongoing challenges. Ballast water treatment systems are expected to reduce invasion opportunity below that of ballast water exchange, but their effects on actual invasion rates through time are unknown (Minton et al. 2005). Nevertheless, the transition from exchange to treatment marks a shift toward quantitative standards of NIS introduction risk.

To effectively manage risk of biological invasions, it is useful to identify factors that will influence the likelihood and consequence of NIS introduction and establishment across space and time (Gibbs and Browman 2015). In the coastal United States, the location, timing, and source of marine invasions have been driven by trade dynamics. For instance, the US Pacific Coast receives large volumes of trade originating from western Pacific ports, also the source location of many introduced species (Ruiz et al. 2000). The greatest number of initial (new) marine invasions to the US has occurred on the Pacific Coast, followed by the Atlantic and Gulf Coasts. The greatest number of secondary invasions (from one coast to another) has occurred on the Gulf Coast, indicating opportunities for stepping stone invasions from other invaded coastlines (Ruiz et al. 2000). As trade patterns shift, the likelihood of NIS introductions from ballast water, and the risk of invasions, will also shift. The US Gulf Coast, though historically relatively uninvaded, received over half of the total volume of ballast water nationwide in 2013 (Ruiz et al. 2015) and the annual volume increased through 2018 as a result of growing US energy exports (Chapter 2). Detecting these patterns is useful for biosecurity management and survey efforts that aim to measure temporal invasion rates. Given lag

times in NIS establishment and discoveries, it may be years before the outcome of trade shifts are apparent (Crooks 2005).

The quantitative relationships between trade and ballast water delivery have been a missing link in invasion dynamics, though some studies have characterized the influence of individual commodities on shipping and ballast water (Carney et al. 2017; Holzer et al. 2017). Here, research gaps are filled by gathering comprehensive trade and ballast water datasets to identify fluctuations in globally transported commodities that lead to changes in maritime shipping patterns and frequency. This work is possible due to the robust National Ballast Information Clearinghouse that captures data from commercial vessel arrivals to ports in the United States (National Ballast Information Clearinghouse 2019). Although such detailed ballast water datasets are often not available in other countries, the findings described here illustrate that trade can be used as a robust proxy for ballast water and indicate that natural resource extraction is a major driver of bulk shipping traffic. Furthermore, the approach to risk-screening of ballast water developed here can broadly enable managers to appropriately allocate resources and choose best management practices based on information available at the time.

This dissertation spans multiple aspects of a complex and broad body of literature on biological invasions while examining maritime shipping and trade dynamics (Figure 2). The research focuses on the transport and introduction stages of invasion, as that is where preventative management is recognized to be most valuable and cost-effective (Epanchin-Niell 2017). The results can be used to identify potential hotspots of NIS introductions within the context of human activity and environmental change.



Figure 2. Conceptual diagram of research gaps

Globalization and trade have led to increased introductions of NIS from the ballast water of ships, resulting in biological invasions globally. The chapters in this dissertation address research needs related to the influence of trade on maritime shipping patterns and vessel ballasting behavior.

My research questions are:

- 1. How does trade influence ballast water delivery?
- 2. How do changes in trade commodities affect spatial and temporal patterns of ballast water dynamics?
- 3. How can we manage ballast water or trade to limit NIS introductions?

This research aims to address current gaps by defining relationships between trade and ballast water dynamics. Chapter 1 presents a robust multivariate linear model of overseas bulk commodities exports and ballast water imports across all ports in highly invaded San Francisco Bay, California, indicating that trade data can provide a reliable proxy of ballast water volume and source. Chapter 2 uniquely combines datasets on exports of oil, coal, and liquefied natural gas from the coastal United States to explain temporal growth in ballast water imports across all coasts, adding a new dimension to the sustainability challenge of global energy demand. Chapter 3 models statewide ballast water delivery to the sparsely invaded coastline of Alaska and provides a sensitivity analysis of ballast water discharge volume given fluctuations in the number of discharging vessels. Chapter 4 develops a semi-quantitative risk assessment of ballast water discharge to moderately invaded coastal Oregon and introduces a novel decision tree to aid decision makers with limited program resources for management.

In its totality, my dissertation adds to the body of literature on invasion dynamics by uniquely identifying how trade influences ballast water delivery of NIS across space and time. First, I examine a broad list of trade commodities to ascertain drivers of vessel behavior with implications for invasion dynamics at regional, statewide, and national scales. Second, I provide a critical and novel proxy for ballast water discharge volume that is widely applicable. Third, I use known risk factors of NIS introductions to inform management priorities and action. This research can inform future work on invasion dynamics influenced by shipping, the sustainability of natural resource extraction and global movement of commodities, and the location and prioritization of NIS survey efforts.

References

- Bailey, Sarah A. 2015. "An Overview of Thirty Years of Research on Ballast Water as a Vector for Aquatic Invasive Species to Freshwater and Marine Environments." Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18 (3): 261–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2015.1027129.
- Bailey, Sarah A., Lyndsay Brown, Marnie L. Campbell, João Canning-Clode, James T.
 Carlton, Nuno Castro, Paula Chainho, et al. 2020. "Trends in the Detection of Aquatic Non-indigenous Species across Global Marine, Estuarine and Freshwater Ecosystems: A 50-year Perspective." Diversity and Distributions 26 (12): 1780– 97. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13167.
- Blackburn, Tim M., Petr Pyšek, Sven Bacher, James T. Carlton, Richard P. Duncan,
 Vojtěch Jarošík, John R.U. Wilson, and David M. Richardson. 2011. "A Proposed
 Unified Framework for Biological Invasions." Trends in Ecology & Evolution 26
 (7): 333–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.03.023.
- Byers, James E., Rachel S. Smith, James M. Pringle, Graeme F. Clark, Paul E. Gribben,
 Chad L. Hewitt, Graeme J. Inglis, et al. 2015. "Invasion Expansion: Time since
 Introduction Best Predicts Global Ranges of Marine Invaders." Scientific Reports
 5 (1): 12436. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep12436.
- Carney, Katharine J., Mark S. Minton, Kimberly K. Holzer, A. Whitman Miller, Linda D.
 McCann, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2017. "Evaluating the Combined Effects of
 Ballast Water Management and Trade Dynamics on Transfers of Marine

Organisms by Ships." Edited by Chon-Lin Lee. PLOS ONE 12 (3): e0172468. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172468.

- Catford, Jane A., Peter A. Vesk, Matt D. White, and Brendan A. Wintle. 2011. "Hotspots of Plant Invasion Predicted by Propagule Pressure and Ecosystem Characteristics: Hotspots of Plant Invasion." Diversity and Distributions 17 (6): 1099–1110. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2011.00794.x.
- Chapman, Daniel, Bethan V. Purse, Helen E. Roy, and James M. Bullock. 2017. "Global Trade Networks Determine the Distribution of Invasive Non-Native Species"
 Global Ecology and Biogeography 26 (8): 907–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12599.
- Crooks, Jeffrey A. 2005. "Lag Times and Exotic Species: The Ecology and Management of Biological Invasions in Slow-Motion" Ecoscience 12 (3): 316–29. https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-12-3-316.1.
- Dafforn, Katherine. 2017. "Eco-Engineering and Management Strategies for Marine Infrastructure to Reduce Establishment and Dispersal of Non-Indigenous Species." Management of Biological Invasions 8 (2): 153–61. https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2017.8.2.03.
- Davidson, Ian C., Christopher Scianni, Mark S. Minton, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2018. "A History of Ship Specialization and Consequences for Marine Invasions, Management and Policy." Edited by Steven Vamosi. Journal of Applied Ecology 55 (4): 1799–1811. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13114.

- Epanchin-Niell, Rebecca S. 2017. "Economics of Invasive Species Policy and Management." Biological Invasions 19 (11): 3333–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1406-4.
- Freestone, Amy L., Gregory M. Ruiz, and Mark E. Torchin. 2013. "Stronger Biotic Resistance in Tropics Relative to Temperate Zone: Effects of Predation on Marine Invasion Dynamics." Ecology 94 (6): 1370–77.
- Gallardo, Belinda, Miguel Clavero, Marta I. Sánchez, and Montserrat Vilà. 2016. "Global Ecological Impacts of Invasive Species in Aquatic Ecosystems." Global Change Biology 22 (1): 151–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.13004.
- Gibbs, Mark T., and Howard I. Browman. 2015. "Risk Assessment and Risk
 Management: A Primer for Marine Scientists." ICES Journal of Marine Science
 72 (3): 992–96. https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsu232.
- Hoffmann, Benjamin D, and Linda Broadhurst. 2016. "The Economic Cost of Managing Invasive Species in Australia." NeoBiota 31: 18.
- Holzer, Kimberly K., Jim R. Muirhead, Mark S. Minton, Katharine J. Carney, A.
 Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2017. "Potential Effects of LNG Trade Shift on Transfer of Ballast Water and Biota by Ships." Science of The Total Environment 580: 1470–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.125.
- Hulme, Philip E. 2009. "Trade, Transport and Trouble: Managing Invasive Species Pathways in an Era of Globalization." Journal of Applied Ecology 46 (1): 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01600.x.

- Jarrad, Frith C., Susan Barrett, Justine Murray, Richard Stoklosa, Peter Whittle, and Kerrie Mengersen. 2011. "Ecological Aspects of Biosecurity Surveillance Design for the Detection of Multiple Invasive Animal Species." Biological Invasions 13 (4): 803–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-010-9870-0.
- Katsanevakis, Stelios, Inger Wallentinus, Argyro Zenetos, Erkki Leppäkoski, Melih Ertan Çinar, Bayram Oztürk, Michal Grabowski, Daniel Golani, and Ana Cristina Cardoso. 2014. "Impacts of Invasive Alien Marine Species on Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity: A Pan-European Review." Aquatic Invasions 9 (4): 391–423. https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2014.9.4.01.
- Keller, Reuben P., John M. Drake, Mark B. Drew, and David M. Lodge. 2011. "Linking Environmental Conditions and Ship Movements to Estimate Invasive Species Transport across the Global Shipping Network: Estimating Ship-Based Invasions of Global Ports." Diversity and Distributions 17 (1): 93–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00696.x.
- Liu, Xuan, Tim M. Blackburn, Tianjian Song, Xianping Li, Cong Huang, and Yiming Li.
 2019. "Risks of Biological Invasion on the Belt and Road." Current Biology 29
 (3): 499-505.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2018.12.036.
- Mahanes, Samuel A., and Cascade J. B. Sorte. 2019. "Impacts of Climate Change on Marine Species Invasions in Northern Hemisphere High-Latitude Ecosystems." Frontiers of Biogeography 11 (1). https://doi.org/10.21425/F5FBG40527.
- McKenzie, Philip, Chris Brown, Sun Jianghua, and Wu Jian. 2005. "The Unwelcome Guests: Proceedings of the Asia-Pacific Forest Invasive Species Conference,

Kunming, Yunnan Province, China, 17-23 August 2003." ISBN 974-7946-77-7. Bangkok, Thailand: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Regional Office for Asia and the Pacific.

- Meyerson, Laura A., and Jamie K. Reaser. 2002. "Biosecurity: Moving toward a Comprehensive Approach." BioScience 52 (7): 593. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2002)052[0593:BMTACA]2.0.CO;2.
- Miller, A. Whitman, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2014. "Arctic Shipping and Marine Invaders." Nature Climate Change 4 (6): 413–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2244.
- Minton, Mark S., Emma Verling, A Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2005.
 "Reducing Propagule Supply and Coastal Invasions via Ships: Effects of Emerging Strategies." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3 (6): 304–8. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0304:RPSACI]2.0.CO;2.
- Minton, Mark S., A. Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2015. "15 Implications of Ship Type on Delivery and Management of Ballast Water." In Biological Invasions in Changing Ecosystems, edited by João Canning-Clode. Warsaw, Poland: De Gruyter Open. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110438666-021.
- Molnar, Jennifer L., Rebecca L. Gamboa, Carmen Revenga, and Mark D. Spalding. 2008."Assessing the Global Threat of Invasive Species to Marine Biodiversity."Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6 (9): 485–92.

- Mooney, H. A., and E. E. Cleland. 2001. "The Evolutionary Impact of Invasive Species." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98 (10): 5446–51. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.091093398.
- Muirhead, Jim R., Mark S. Minton, Whitman A. Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2015.
 "Projected Effects of the Panama Canal Expansion on Shipping Traffic and Biological Invasions." Diversity and Distributions 21 (1): 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12260.
- National Ballast Information Clearinghouse. 2019. "NBIC Online Database. Electronic Publication, Smithsonian Environmental Research Center & United States Coast Guard." Smithsonian Environmental Research Center. https://doi.org/10.5479/data.serc.nbic.
- Ojaveer, Henn, Bella S. Galil, James T. Carlton, Heidi Alleway, Philippe Goulletquer, Maiju Lehtiniemi, Agnese Marchini, et al. 2018. "Historical Baselines in Marine Bioinvasions: Implications for Policy and Management. PLOS ONE 13 (8): e0202383. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202383.
- Padilla, Dianna K, and Susan L Williams. 2004. "Beyond Ballast Water: Aquarium and Ornamental Trades as Sources of Invasive Species in Aquatic Ecosystems."
 Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2 (3): 131–38.
- Pagad, Shyama, Piero Genovesi, Lucilla Carnevali, Riccardo Scalera, and Mick Clout.
 2015. "IUCN SSC Invasive Species Specialist Group: Invasive Alien Species
 Information Management Supporting Practitioners, Policy Makers and Decision

Takers." Management of Biological Invasions 6 (2): 127–35. https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2015.6.2.03.

- Paini, Dean R., Andy W. Sheppard, David C. Cook, Paul J. De Barro, Susan P. Worner, and Matthew B. Thomas. 2016. "Global Threat to Agriculture from Invasive Species." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113 (27): 7575–79. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1602205113.
- Papacostas, Kj, Ew Rielly-Carroll, Se Georgian, Dj Long, Sd Princiotta, Am Quattrini, Ke Reuter, and Al Freestone. 2017. "Biological Mechanisms of Marine Invasions." Marine Ecology Progress Series 565: 251–68. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12001.
- Perrings, Charles, Katharina Dehnen-Schmutz, Julia Touza, and Mark Williamson. 2005.
 "How to Manage Biological Invasions under Globalization." Trends in Ecology & Evolution 20 (5): 212–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.02.011.
- Pimentel, David, Rodolfo Zuniga, and Doug Morrison. 2005. "Update on the Environmental and Economic Costs Associated with Alien-Invasive Species in the United States." Ecological Economics 52 (3): 273–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2004.10.002.
- Pyšek, Petr, and David M. Richardson. 2010. "Invasive Species, Environmental Change and Management, and Health." Annual Review of Environment and Resources 35 (1): 25–55. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-033009-095548.
- Richardson, D M, ed. 2011. Fifty Years of Invasion Ecology The Legacy of Charles Elton. United Kingdom: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Ruiz, Gregory M., James T. Carlton, Edwin D. Grosholz, and Anson H. Hines. 1997.
 "Global Invasions of Marine and Estuarine Habitats by Non-Indigenous Species: Mechanisms, Extent, and Consequences." American Zoologist 37 (6): 621–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/37.6.621.
- Ruiz, Gregory M., Paul W. Fofonoff, James T. Carlton, Marjorie J. Wonham, and Anson
 H. Hines. 2000. "Invasion of Coastal Marine Communities in North America:
 Apparent Patterns, Processes, and Biases." Annual Review of Ecology and
 Systematics 3: 481–531.
- Ruiz, Gregory M., Paul W. Fofonoff, Brian P. Steves, and James T. Carlton. 2015.
 "Invasion History and Vector Dynamics in Coastal Marine Ecosystems: A North American Perspective." Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18 (3): 299– 311. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2015.1027534.
- Sardain, Anthony, Erik Sardain, and Brian Leung. 2019. "Global Forecasts of Shipping Traffic and Biological Invasions to 2050." Nature Sustainability 2 (4): 274–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0245-y.
- Seebens, Hanno, Tim M. Blackburn, Ellie E. Dyer, Piero Genovesi, Philip E. Hulme, Jonathan M. Jeschke, Shyama Pagad, et al. 2017. "No Saturation in the Accumulation of Alien Species Worldwide." Nature Communications 8 (1): 14435. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14435.
- Seebens, Hanno, Nicole Schwartz, Peter J. Schupp, and Bernd Blasius. 2016. "Predicting the Spread of Marine Species Introduced by Global Shipping." Proceedings of the

National Academy of Sciences 113 (20): 5646–51.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524427113.

- Stachowicz, J. J. 1999. "Species Diversity and Invasion Resistance in a Marine Ecosystem." Science 286 (5444): 1577–79. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.286.5444.1577.
- Strayer, David L., Valerie T. Eviner, Jonathan M. Jeschke, and Michael L. Pace. 2006.
 "Understanding the Long-Term Effects of Species Invasions." Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21 (11): 645–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.07.007.
- Verling, Emma, Gregory M Ruiz, L. David Smith, Bella Galil, A. Whitman Miller, and Kathleen R Murphy. 2005. "Supply-Side Invasion Ecology: Characterizing Propagule Pressure in Coastal Ecosystems." Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272 (1569): 1249–57.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3090.

- Vermeij, Geerat J. 1991. "When Biotas Meet: Understanding Biotic Interchange." Science, New Series 253 (5024): 1099–1104.
- Verna, Danielle E., and Bradley P. Harris. 2016. "Review of Ballast Water Management Policy and Associated Implications for Alaska." Marine Policy 70: 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.04.024.

Williams, F, R Eschen, A Harris, D Djeddour, C Pratt, R S Shaw, S Varia, J Lamontagne-Godwin, S E Thomas, and S T Murphy. 2010. "The Economic Cost of Invasive Non-Native Species on Great Britain." CABI Project No. VM10066. United Kingdom. Wonham, Marjorie J., James E. Byers, Edwin D. Grosholz, and Brian Leung. 2013.
"Modeling the Relationship between Propagule Pressure and Invasion Risk to Inform Policy and Management." Ecological Applications 23 (7): 1691–1706. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-1985.1.

Chapter 1 Trade exports predict regional ballast water discharge by ships

This chapter was submitted to Frontiers in Marine Ecology, Marine Conservation and Sustainability section on December 8, 2020, by D. E. Verna, M. S. Minton, and G. M. Ruiz.

Abstract

Biological invasions often result from transfers of organisms during various trade activities. In coastal ecosystems, commercial ships are a dominant source of species transfers globally, and ships' ballast water (BW) is a major focus of biosecurity management and policy to reduce invasions. While trade drives shipping patterns, diverse vessel types and behaviors exist such that the quantitative relationship between trade and BW dynamics is still poorly resolved, limiting both science and management. Here we estimated the relationship between tonnage of overseas exports and BW discharge volume for San Francisco Bay, California, by explicitly considering BW practices by vessel type. Using extensive datasets on shipborne exports and BW discharge, we (a) evaluated spatial and temporal patterns across nearly 20 different ports in this estuary from 2006-2014 and (b) developed a predictive model to estimate overseas BW discharge volume from foreign export tonnage for the whole estuary. Although vessel arrivals in San Francisco Bay remained nearly constant from 2006-2014, associated tonnage of exported commodities more than doubled and BW discharge more than tripled. Increased BW volume resulted from increased frequency and per capita discharge of bulk carriers from Asia and tankers from western Central America and Hawaii, reflecting likely shifts in direction of commodity movement (i.e., trade). The top 11 export commodities (59%

of total export tonnage) were transported on bulk carriers or tankers. We developed a multivariate linear model where annual tonnage of these top 11 export commodities by vessel type were predictors of total bay-wide overseas BW discharge (adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$), having the potential to estimate past or future BW delivery in San Francisco Bay. Tonnage of bulk exports provides valuable insights into BW flux and invasion dynamics, since most BW discharge to ports is driven by trade of bulk commodities and the associated behavior of bulk and tank ships. BW discharge data are not available for many global regions and time periods, whereas trade data are widely available and can provide a reliable proxy estimate of BW volume and geographic source, which are critical to evaluate invasion risk.

Introduction

Biological invasions by nonindigenous species (NIS) are a leading cause of ecological change and economic impact (Mack 2000, Pysek & Richardson 2010), and no global region is immune to invasions. In marine ecosystems, coastal bays and estuaries are hotspots for invasions as centers of human populations, creating focal points for the transfer of organisms via trade (Ruiz et al. 2000). Over the past century, the growth and expansion of transportation, commerce, and accompanying development in coastal areas have increased the risk of invasion (Hulme 2009, Dafforn et al. 2015), with the degree of international trade a key measure of a country's NIS abundance (Westphal et al. 2008).

Although global trade includes several mechanisms or vectors that transfer coastal organisms among geographic regions, commercial ships connect ports throughout the

world and are a dominant source of invasions resulting from vast numbers of organisms moved by ballast water and hull biofouling (Ruiz et al. 2011, Bailey et al. 2020). Ballast water (BW) is used to maintain vessel stability, draft, and trim. Water taken on in one port or location entrains a diverse community of organisms that are discharged at subsequent ports of call, creating a large-scale transfer of organisms that can colonize new bioregions. A large ship can transfer more than 50,000 metric tons of coastal water across oceans in 8-10 days, and the United States alone receives over 180 million metric tons of BW from overseas vessels each year (NBIC 2016). Most of this BW is delivered by bulk and tank cargo vessels, which transport bulk dry and liquid commodities, respectively. These vessel types deliver bulk commodities in one direction and return without cargo in the opposite directly, carrying BW to maintain stability. As a result, bulk commodity vessels often contribute the majority of BW to ports compared to other vessel types, such as containerships or cruise ships that carry cargo on each voyage (Verling et al. 2005, Minton et al. 2015, Davidson et al. 2018). Due to such differences in vessel operations among ship types, total vessel arrivals are often not a good proxy for BW deliveries in space or time, whereas the volume of BW received at a port may often be linked intrinsically to the volume of commercial bulk exports, such as oil, grain, or coal (Carney et al. 2017).

Although not a precise predictor, greater volumes of BW discharge are expected to result in greater propagule supply and likelihood of introducing NIS (Minton et al. 2005, NRC 2011). As a result, changes in the scale and direction of trade can have direct consequences on the transport and introduction of NIS across space and time, and such

changes are linked directly to the flux of commodities among ports. Furthermore, both frequency and magnitude of organism transfers, or propagule pressure, are expected generally to increase invasion likelihood (NRC 2011, Simberloff 2009). However, maritime trading partners do not all present equal probability of invasions. Ports located in environmentally similar regions are often prone to successful exchange of species, for example the western United States and China (Meyerson & Mooney 2007). Assessments of vector strength, trade partners, and environmental match are effective means to evaluate potential changes in NIS risk (Gibbs & Browman 2015).

While multiple countries require vessels to report data on volume and source of BW discharges, most countries still do not have access to such data (e.g., Zhang et al. 2017). Even where present, these data sets began in the late 1990s. Thus, comprehensive data is rare for most countries and ports around the world and is truly limited to the past few decades even when available. This paucity of BW data in most global regions in space or time limits understanding of quantitative relationships between shipping and invasions that are desired in both invasion science and management.

To date, few studies have used trade data to evaluate its quantitative relationship with BW delivery and the possible application of predicting changes in BW discharge volumes over time (Carney et al. 2017, Holzer et al. 2017). Here, we combine extensive data on vessel arrivals, BW discharge volume, and cargo import/export data to evaluate the relationship between trade and BW delivery over nine years in San Francisco Bay, California, a highly invaded estuary with diverse commercial shipping. Our approach explicitly considers differences in the operational profile of different vessel types, with

respect to BW and cargo, and measured changes in BW discharge frequency, volume, and source region as key variables in invasion dynamics. This approach has potential broad application to predict BW delivery in diverse regions or time periods where trade data are available.

Materials and methods

Study site

San Francisco Bay is a large estuary located in central coastal California, USA, that has at least 20 commercial shipping ports frequented by foreign and domestic vessel traffic, ranging from San Francisco and Oakland in the lower bay to Sacramento and Stockton in the upper estuary (Fig. 1.1).

The area is home to roughly 7.5 million people with a diverse range of aquatic habitats and associated biota (Cloern & Jassby 2012). The estuary receives freshwater input from the Sacramento and San Joaquin Rivers, which transport runoff from 40% of California's surface area (Nichols et al. 1986), though the volume of freshwater input varies annually and water is often diverted or dammed before reaching the estuary (Cohen & Carlton 1998). The upper reaches of the estuary, including Suisun Bay and eastward, are low salinity, nutrient rich, turbid waters. The lower bay is also rich in nutrients but conversely is a high salinity, high productivity area with large tidal influences (Cloern & Jassby 2012).
Vessel traffic and ballast water delivery data

To examine BW discharge and vessel arrival patterns to San Francisco Bay over time, we extracted data from the National Ballast Information Clearinghouse (NBIC) (http://invasions.si.edu/nbic/) for a nine year period from 2006 through 2014. Following 2004, nearly every commercial vessel operating in U.S. waters was required to submit a Ballast Water Management Reporting Form to the NBIC at each arrival, and the NBIC estimates that compliance with the reporting requirements is approximately 94% nationwide. The data collected on these forms includes BW source and discharge locations and volumes, arrival locations, vessel types, and presence/absence of BW management. We characterized BW that was sourced and vessels that arrived from beyond the 200 nautical mile exclusive economic zone (EEZ) as overseas, and BW that was sourced and vessel that transited solely within the EEZ as coastwise.

While we examined all commercial vessels, we focused particular attention on bulk and tank vessels arriving from overseas, since these vessel types were expected to deliver most of the BW. For these two vessel types, we examined the distribution of arrivals and BW discharge among San Francisco Bay dominant arrival ports, which differ in salinity characteristics, including: Alameda, Antioch, Benicia, Carquinez, Concord, Crockett, Martinez, Oakland, Pittsburg, Redwood City, Richmond, Rodeo, Sacramento, San Francisco, San Rafael, Stockton, and Suisun Bay. Further, we identified dominant overseas source bioregions for bulk and tank vessel traffic to San Francisco Bay. For bulk carriers, these bioregions were EAS-1 through EAS-VIII and NWP-1 through NWP-5, and included the countries of China, Indonesia, Japan, North Korea, South Korea, Thailand, Taiwan, Vietnam, Malaysia, Singapore, and Philippines. For tankers, the following bioregions were dominant overseas sources: NEP-VI through NEP-IX and SEP-H along the west coast of Central America (Fig. 1.1) (Kelleher et al. 1995). *Trade data*

To examine spatial and temporal trade patterns to ports in San Francisco Bay, we extracted data from USA Trade Online, a publicly available online database provided by the U.S. Census Bureau (https://usatrade.census.gov/), over the same nine year period. The database provided annual and monthly measures of import and export commodities for the ports of Alameda, Carquinez Strait, Crockett, Martinez, Oakland, Redwood City, Richmond, Sacramento, San Francisco, and Stockton, however data for Sacramento was not available after 2010. Commodity data were categorized using the Harmonized Commodity Description and Coding Systems (HS codes) introduced in 1988. These classification codes consist of a series of two-digit chapters (e.g., 27: Mineral Fuels, Mineral Oils and Products of their Distillation; Bituminous Substances; Mineral Waxes) containing four- and six-digit subcategories with increasing resolution (e.g., 271019 Petroleum oils and oils from bituminous minerals, not containing biodiesel, not crude, not waste oils). Based on the spatial heterogeneity in arrivals and discharge by vessel type, we identified the commodities (six-digit codes) associated with bulk and tank vessels in each port.

Analyses

We assessed the contribution of various vessel types to arrivals and BW discharge over the nine-year period to San Francisco Bay. For bulk and tank vessels, we estimated

the total BW discharge volume, frequency of discharge, and per capita discharge per year. In addition, we identified the relative contribution of discharge by bulk and tank vessels according to both BW source and discharge port in San Francisco Bay.

Using a combination of data from the NBIC and USA Trade Online, we developed a linear model for San Francisco Bay that estimates the relationship between the tonnage of exports transported by bulk and tank vessels and the total volume of overseas BW discharge. Since the slope of the model reflects this relationship within the range of trade tonnage received during our study period, we limit inferences drawn from the results to that range. Trade statistics were unavailable for some ports for which BW data were available (Benicia, Concord, Pittsburg, Rodeo, and Suisun Bay).

Results

Arrivals and BW discharge by ship type

From 2006 through 2014, San Francisco Bay received a reported 33,558 arrivals and 55,584,402 m³ of BW. The number of annual arrivals remained consistent through time $(3,729 \pm 141, \text{mean} \pm \text{standard deviation})$ and was dominated by coastwise vessels (79%). Container, tank, and bulk vessels were the primary types to call on ports in San Francisco Bay. In sharp contrast, the volume of BW discharge increased 84% over the nine-year period. While coastwise BW discharge declined slightly, the volume of overseas BW more than tripled by 2014 (Fig. 1.2). Bulk and tank vessels discharged most BW, and these two vessel types accounted for 87% of the total volume and 91% of the overseas volume. The growth in reported BW discharge from overseas sources was driven specifically by bulk and tank vessels. While the number of overseas bulk and tank vessel arrivals fluctuated little during our study period (Fig. 1.3A), the cumulative annual volume of overseas BW discharged by each vessel type increased over five-fold over the nine years (Fig. 1.3B). This temporal growth was the combined result of a dramatic increase in the number and proportion of discharging vessels (Fig. 1.3C) and a rise in the mean volume per vessel discharge (Fig. 1.3D).

BW source regions and recipient ports

Ballast water from bioregions of eastern Asia adjacent to Japan, China, and South Korea accounted for 70% of all overseas bulk carrier discharge (Fig. 1.1A). The observed overall increase in BW discharge by bulk carriers in San Francisco Bay (Fig. 1.3B) was driven largely by a growing contribution of vessels from Asia, and primarily China (Appendix A Sup. Fig. 1A). While the contribution of bulk carrier arrivals from Asia fluctuated between 62-76% of total arrivals (across all regions), the frequency of discharging vessels increased three-fold from Asia across the nine years, accounting for 80-90% of all discharge events by bulk carriers from 2008-2013 (Table 1.1A), and the percent of discharging vessels was much higher than that of other source regions.

In contrast, the Pacific coast of Central America was the dominant source region of overseas BW discharge for tankers (Fig. 1.1B), representing 53% of total volume discharged to San Francisco Bay by overseas tank vessels from 2006 through 2014. The annual discharge volume from this source region grew more than four-fold over the nine years, with most coming from Mexico (Appendix A Sup. Fig. 1B). The increasing

contribution of BW from Central America was driven by both an increase of vessel arrivals and percent discharging from this region (Table 1.1). Hawaii was also a major cumulative source region for BW discharge by tankers arriving to San Francisco Bay across years (Fig. 1.1B), but the relative contribution to annual arrivals and BW discharge was smaller than Central America and declined over time (Appendix A Sup. Table 1).

It is noteworthy that the overseas arrivals and BW discharge in San Francisco Bay differ among specific ports and show a broader regional pattern with respect to the estuary's salinity gradient (Fig. 1.4). Bulk vessels tended to call on ports in the upper estuary such as Benicia, Pittsburg, Stockton, and Sacramento where bulk exports of rice to Japan, coal to Mexico, and iron ore to China were most common. This low salinity area received two-third of overseas bulk carrier BW discharged in San Francisco Bay (Fig. 1.4B). Conversely, tankers frequently called on ports in the lower bay such as Richmond and San Francisco where exports of oil to Central America were common. This high salinity area received two-thirds of the Bay's overseas BW discharged from tankers (Fig. 1.4B).

Relationship of change in trade to BW discharge volume

The change in overseas BW discharge by bulk and tank vessels was directly related to (and driven by) increased export of bulk commodities. Overall, there were nearly 4,500 6-digit export commodities from ports within San Francisco Bay, and total tonnage of these exports increased annually and more than doubled from 2006 through 2014. The top eleven commodities by tonnage were bulk commodities, transported by bulk or tank vessels, and accounted for 59% of total shipping exports. More specifically,

eight of these eleven commodities were transported by bulk carriers (e.g., waste products, petroleum coke, coal, rice) and three were transported by tankers (petroleum oils) (Fig. 1.5).

There was a strong relationship between foreign exports and overseas BW discharge volume among years, for bulk and tank vessels, both alone and together. The relationship between the tonnage of the top eight export commodities from bulk carriers (10^{6} kg) and the volume of overseas BW (10^{3} m^{3}) discharged by bulk carriers in San Francisco Bay can be described by

y = -1,250 + 0.5022x, $R^2 = 0.86$.

The relationship between the tonnage of the top three export commodities from tankers (10^6 kg) and the volume of overseas BW (10^3 m^3) discharged by tankers can be described by

 $y = -717.98 + 0.5820x, R^2 = 0.87.$

A multivariate linear model of the relationship between the annual tonnage of the top eleven export commodities and the total annual overseas BW discharge volume received throughout San Francisco Bay can be described by

 $y = -2,002.38 + 0.6212x_1 + 0.5324x_2$, where

y is the annual volume of overseas BW discharge (10^3 m^3) ,

 x_1 = annual tonnage of exports transported by tankers (10⁶ kg),

 x_2 = annual tonnage of exports transported by bulk carriers (10⁶ kg),

and an adjusted $R^2 = 0.92$.

Discussion

Predicting BW discharge from trade

This study elucidates the quantitative effects of trade exports on BW discharge characteristics, including volume and source region. It is generally understood that trade drives shipping and BW delivery, affecting invasion dynamics on a global scale (Bailey et al. 2020, Hulme 2009, Kaluza et al. 2010, Sardain et al. 2019, Seebens et al. 2013, Ruiz et al. 2000). Fluctuations in commodity supply, product demand, and emergence of new trade routes and partners all affect the number, tempo, and type of vessel calls at a port. Yet, how exactly this converts to BW delivery has been more elusive, since (a) most vessels do not discharge BW upon arrival (Miller et al. 2011, Minton et al. 2015) and (b) BW discharge varies by both vessel type and specific export commodity. As a result, the number of vessel arrivals alone is a poor proxy for BW discharge volume and organism transfer, as our data and other studies show (Fig. 1.3; Davidson et al. 2018, Miller et al. 2011, Minton et al. 2015, Verling et al. 2005). Several past studies have adopted coarse estimates of BW by vessel types, using an average value sometimes adjusted for vessel size, but this approach largely ignores the high level of variation and directionality of BW versus cargo transfers within vessel type. Here, we explicitly evaluated selective commodity exports, focusing on bulk dry and liquid cargo associated with larger discharge volumes from bulk and tank vessels (compared to other vessel types), to develop a model that explains > 90% of temporal variation in overseas BW discharge volume across all ships and ports in San Francisco Bay.

Using detailed knowledge of transportation logistics for specific cargos and ship types, our approach provides a predictive model for BW discharge volume that may be applicable broadly to other locations or time periods. We suggest the general approach is likely to be robust, representing an improvement of past methods for estimation, because it relies on a mechanistic understanding of BW transfer associated with specific cargo and vessel types. Importantly, this approach also is accessible in most regions. Given that BW discharge data are only available recently (and for a very limited number of countries), whereas trade and ship arrival data exist commonly with broad spatial and temporal coverage, such a modelling approach has considerable appeal and potential as a general tool for both backcasting and forecasting BW delivery as well as considering implications for invasion dynamics. Furthermore, this approach may be useful for assessing biosecurity threats under shifts in trade patterns and partners that affect vessel behavior, cargo types, and connectivity between source/recipient ports.

However, we recognize that our analysis currently evaluates only a short snapshot of time and is limited to one major port system. We are encouraged by the strong relationship between trade of bulk commodities and total BW discharge volume, creating new opportunities to clarify the historical record for San Francisco Bay such as effects of changing trade on BW quantity and source regions as well as associated invasion patterns. The response of invasions to shifts in trade and BW delivery remains a key knowledge gap, for both invasion science and management, which is impeded by limited data on BW history and propagule delivery (NRC 2011, Ruiz et al. 2013). The utility of

our model to help in these respects requires further testing and validation, both across time within San Francisco Bay and in other regions.

This general approach expands upon previous work on the relationship of BW discharge associated with particular bulk cargo. Several studies highlight the dominant contribution of bulk carrier and tanker vessels to total BW discharge volume at ports around the world (Carlton et al. 1995, Cope et al. 2015, David et al. 2012, Miller et al. 2011, Minton et al. 2015, Verna et al. 2016). Temporal measures of the relationship between bulk cargo and BW quantities focus primarily on single commodities and ship type. For example, coal exports by bulk carriers explains most of the variation in overseas BW delivery in Chesapeake Bay, driving a surge in both BW volume and propagule supply between 2005 and 2013 (Carney et al. 2017). Similarly, projections of liquefied natural gas exports from the United States anticipate substantially greater BW discharge from tankers, primarily along the U.S. Gulf Coast (Holzer et al. 2017). Here, we apply a similar approach to a broad list of bulk commodities, across multiple types of bulk and tank vessels, allowing us to explain the large temporal changes in BW discharge observed for San Francisco Bay over nine years.

Source region and recipient port

Our analysis shows how expanding bulk exports resulted in a surge in overseas BW flux from particular geographic source regions, arriving to different portions of San Francisco Bay. Each source and arrival port has consequences for associated biota and invasion opportunities. The location of a trade partner obviously affects the biological composition of BW discharge. BW delivery from China and Mexico expanded greatly

during our study, driving a 3-fold increase in total discharge to San Francisco Bay. Although it is generally expected that increasing propagule supply increases the likelihood of new invasions (NRC 2011, Simberloff 2009), environmental conditions also affect the outcome (Seebens et al. 2016). Although we did not evaluate environmental match directly, it appears that China may be a more potent source for new invasions than Central America, based on the many successful past invasions from this region (Cohen & Carlton 1995, Winder et al. 2011). Moreover, BW discharge from bulk carriers occurred in the upper reaches of the estuary (Fig. 1.4) where salinities are reduced, and we note that many of the past invasions from Asia were in low salinity habitats. This suggests that both climate and salinity provide a good match for colonization of species arriving with BW from Asia, and the increase in BW may represent an elevated chance of new invasions associated with bulk carriers.

The increase in BW discharge and source regions reflect the underlying shifts in trade exports per port in San Francisco Bay, where more exports increased the volume and frequency of discharge events. For example, in the port of Stockton, a change from importing to exporting commodities caused a temporal shift in the proportion of bulk carriers that discharged BW. Arrivals to Stockton fell from 2006 through 2009 as bulk imports of Portland cement from China (distributed to western U.S. states) declined. Arrivals then rebounded and grew through 2014, coinciding with a spike in exports of iron ore and coal to China and Mexico. Meanwhile, from 2006 to 2014 the proportion of vessels that discharged BW increased annually from 8% to 70%. When bulk carriers

imported commodities, they discharged little BW. As bulk exports grew and became the driver of vessel arrivals, the port received a 20-fold increase in BW volume.

In contrast to bulk carriers, the surge in BW from tankers reflected a shift in trade dynamics with Central America and, to a lesser extent, Hawaii. The proportion of overseas tankers that discharged BW sourced in Mexico peaked from 2010 – 2012, coinciding with a peak in exports of oil commodities from the Bay to that country. Oil exports to Mexico then declined in 2013 and 2014 as exports of coal skyrocketed (transported by bulk rather than tank vessels). At the same time, more tanker BW began to arrive from Central America because of increased oil exports, particularly to Guatemala and El Salvador. Tanker BW discharge from Hawaii rose concurrently. Overall, the proportion of discharging overseas tankers grew annually over the nine years (Table 1.1), though sourced from varying coastal ecosystems.

The type of vessel used to transport commodities also influences the location of discharge, reflecting specialization of ports and associated infrastructure. With the combined shipping pressure of bulk and tank vessels in ports throughout San Francisco Bay, most of the area routinely received BW. However, a clear distinction emerged between upper estuary (low salinity) bulk carrier discharge and lower bay (high salinity) tanker discharge (Fig. 1.4). For example, the high salinity port of Richmond has terminals capable of handling both dry and liquid bulk cargo, but three oil commodities accounted for most (68%) of total exports and two-thirds of the BW received there was discharged by overseas tankers.

Invasion response to trade shifts

Trade statistics can provide considerable insight into vessel movement patterns and the associated flux of BW as a leading source of coastal species transfer and invasions. Our study expands upon previous exploration of the trade-BW relationship to provide estimates of BW flux at higher resolution and accuracy, using operational profiles of different vessels types according to cargo type and direction of trade. Our approach also allows some comparison of environmental match between source and recipient regions as a coarse proxy of relative similarity and perhaps invasion opportunity. While these are important variables, which contribute to invasion outcomes, they are not sufficient to characterize the associated propagule supply characteristics and invasion probability.

In general, the 3-fold increase in annual overseas BW discharge observed in San Francisco Bay is likely to have increased total propagule delivery from overseas sources, although organism concentrations are notoriously variable in space and time, differing among source regions, voyage conditions, seasons, and years (Briski et al. 2013, Carney et al. 2017, Smith 1999, Verling et al. 2005). We further expect the increase in BW from China in particular to result in increased probability of invasions to San Francisco Bay from this region based on past invasion history associated with this trade (as noted earlier). However, the relationship between propagule supply and invasion outcome is still poorly resolved, with high uncertainty of expected responses (NRC 2011, Wonham et al. 2013), driven partly by limited available data to adequately characterize the number of species as well as frequency and concentrations delivered through time. It is noteworthy that nearly all (> 98%) of overseas BW discharged to San Francisco Bay in our study was reported to be treated with either exchange (flushing of tanks) in open ocean or a treatment technology required to reduce the concentration of coastal organisms (NRC 2011). This has likely reduced the propagule supply of coastal biota arriving in BW compared to historical BW discharge from Asia and elsewhere (but see Carney et al. 2017). If this is indeed the case, the residual risk of colonization is uncertain, as we have entered a new era where concentrations of organisms in BW are below historical conditions. Today, the extent to which concentrations of coastal organisms are below a critical threshold for successful invasions remains a major question in invasion ecology and management (Ruiz and Carlton 2003, NRC 2011).

There is typically a lag time from species arrival to population growth and detection (Bailey et al. 2020, Crooks 2005, Sakai et al. 2001). Moreover, the ability to estimate changes in invasion rate with statistical confidence are especially challenging, given that most of the available data are limited to occurrence records instead of repeated measures that aim to detect change in San Francisco Bay and elsewhere (Costello et al. 2007, Costello & Solow 2003, Solow & Costello 2004, Ruiz et al. 2011). Thus, evaluation of the full effect of changes in vessel behavior documented here will require both time and detailed analyses.

Conclusions

Shipping is a major driver of biological invasions. Globalization, emerging transport networks, and increased connectivity have led to invasions in marine, freshwater, and terrestrial biomes alike (Hulme 2009). Furthermore, there appears to be

no saturation in global invasions despite heightened awareness and management efforts (Seebens et al. 2017). Fluctuations in supply and demand of traded commodities influences the magnitude and direction of NIS transfers, as well as the construction and location of facilities that are designed to manage imports and exports (Bulleri & Chapman 2010, Ruiz et al. 2015). The latter affect the environmental conditions of the recipient communities, which in turn can determine habitat suitability and opportunity for colonization.

This study quantifies how the direction, magnitude, and location of trade drives overseas BW discharge by ships in San Francisco Bay. We developed a predictive model for BW discharge using trade export data by focusing on bulk commodities associated with bulk carriers and tankers. Our approach has the potential for broad application since such trade data are available in space and time around the world. Moreover, this approach provides a key measure of BW flux to support biosecurity management in many global regions where comprehensive data on BW discharge is lacking. Further measures, such as in situ sampling and NIS surveillance, are still required and critical to evaluate the propagule supply associated with BW flux as well as invasion consequences.

Tables

Table 1.1. Vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge

The proportion of vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge to San Francisco Bay from (A) overseas bulk carriers from Asia and remaining bioregions, and (B) overseas tankers from Central America and remaining bioregions. Total number of vessels (n) shown for percent discharging vessels.

(A) Overseas Bulkers	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Asia Source Region* % Discharging (n)	23% (145)	32% (117)	64% (124)	76% (123)	78% (123)	70% (136)	73% (143)	75% (146)	69% (153)
Other Source Regions % Discharging (n)	33% (89)	28% (74)	24% (58)	26% (39)	25% (40)	41% (56)	28% (53)	39% (70)	55% (92)
Contributions from									
Asia									
% Total arrivals	62%	61%	68%	76%	75%	71%	73%	68%	62%
% Dischargers	53%	64%	85%	90%	91%	81%	87%	80%	68%

*Asia bioregions: EAS-1 through EAS-VIII, NWP-1 through NWP-5

(B) Overseas Tankers									
Central America									
Source Region*	20%	29%	43%	35%	43%	46%	49%	60%	63%
% Discharging (n)	(45)	(42)	(90)	(71)	(95)	(108)	(131)	(88)	(101)
Other Source Regions % Discharging (n)	11% (198)	11% (201)	12% (193)	15% (182)	16% (129)	18% (114)	16% (136)	33% (157)	47% (144)
Contributions from									
Central America									
% Total arrivals	19%	17%	32%	28%	42%	49%	49%	36%	41%
% Dischargers	29%	35%	63%	48%	67%	71%	74%	50%	48%

*Central America bioregions: NEP-VI through NEP-IX, SEP-H

Figures



Figure 1.1. Bulker and tanker ballast water source bioregions

Total overseas ballast water discharged in San Francisco Bay by source bioregions, from 2006 through 2014, by bulk carriers (upper) and tankers (lower). Cumulative discharge volume (m³) per source bioregion is indicated by color. Bioregions outlined in black on each map represent those considered Asia and western Central America (upper and lower, respectively) and shown in Table 1.1.





Annual contributions of overseas and coastwise ballast water discharge (bars) and arrivals (lines) to San Francisco Bay by commercial vessels.



Figure 1.3. Annual variation by vessel type

Annual variation by vessel type for overseas (A) arrivals, (B) ballast water discharge, (C) percentage discharging arrivals, and (D) mean discharge volume of those vessels reporting discharge to San Francisco Bay. Error bars in panel (D) represent standard error. Panels (C) and (D) show growth in bulkers and tankers only.



Figure 1.4. Spatial variation by vessel type

The relative contribution of vessel type to (A) total overseas vessel arrivals and (B) overseas ballast water discharge to ports within San Francisco Bay from 2006 through 2014. Scale is shown in bottom left of each figure for arrivals (A) and discharge (B).



Figure 1.5. Annual tonnage of top export commodities

The annual tonnage (bars) of the top eleven commodities exported from San Francisco Bay and the annual volume (line) of overseas ballast water discharge. The type of vessel that exported each commodity is noted as bulk carrier (B) or tanker (T). These top 11 commodities comprised 59% of the total export tonnage. References

- Bailey SA, Brown L, Campbell ML, Canning-Clode J, Carlton JT, Castro N, Chainho P, Chan FT, Creed JC, Curd A, Darling J, Fofonoff P, Galil BS, Hewitt CL, Inglis GJ, Keith I, Mandrak NE, Marchini A, McKenzie CH, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Ojaveer H, Pires-Teixeira LM, Robinson TB, Ruiz GM, Seaward K, Schwindt E, Son MO, Therriault TW, Zhan A. 2020. Trends in the detection of aquatic non-indigenous species across global marine, estuarine and freshwater ecosystems: A 50-year perspective. Diversity and Distributions, DOI: 10.1111/ddi.13167
- Briski E, Bailey SA, Casas-Monroy O, DiBacco C, Kaczmarka I, Lawrence JE,
 Leichsenring J, Levings C, MacGillivary ML, McKindsey CW, Nasmith LE,
 Parenteau M, Piercey GE, Rivkin RB, Rochon A, Roy S, Simard N, Sun B, Way
 C, Weise AM, MacIsaac HJ. 2013. Taxon- and vecto-specific variation in species
 richness and abundance during the transport stage of biological invasions.
 Limnology and Oceanography, 58: 1361-1372
- Bulleri F, Chapman MG. 2010. The introduction of coastal infrastructure as a driver of change in marine environments. Journal of Applied Ecology 47: 26-35
- Carlton JT, Reid DM, van Leeuwen H.1995. Shipping Study. The role of shipping in the introduction of nonindigenous aquatic organisms to the coastal waters of the United States (other than the Great Lakes) and an analysis of control options. The National Sea Grant College Program/Connecticut Sea Grant Project R/ES-6. Department of Transportation, United States Coast Guard, Washington, D.C. and

Groton, Connecticut. Report Number CG-D-11-95. Government Accession Number AD-A294809.

- Carney KJ, Minton MS, Holzer KK, Miller AW, McCann LD, Ruiz GM. 2017. Evaluating the combined effects of ballast water management and trade dynamics on transfers of marine organisms by ships. PLoS ONE 12(3): e0172468, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0172468
- Cloern JE, Jassby AD. 2012. Drivers of change in estuarine-coastal ecosystems: discoveries from four decades of study in San Francisco Bay. Review of Geophysics 50: RG4001, doi:10.1029/2012RG000397
- Cohen AN, Carlton JT. 1995. Nonindigenous aquatic species in a United States estuary: a case study of the biological invasions of the San Francisco Bay and Delta. U.S.
 Fish and Wildlife Service and National Sea Grant College Program (Connecticut Sea Grant), Washington.
- Cohen AN, Carlton JT. 1998. Accelerating invasion rate in a highly invaded estuary. Science 279: 555-558
- Cope RC, Prowse TAA, Ross JV, Wittmann TA, Cassey P. 2015. Temporal modelling of ballast water discharge and ship-mediated invasion risk to Australia. Royal Society Open Science 2: 150039, https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.150039

Costello CJ, Solow AR. 2003. On the pattern of discovery of introduced species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 100: 3321-3323, doiorg/10.1073/pnas.0636536100

- Costello C, Springborn M, McAusland C, Solow A. 2007. Unintended biological invasions: Does risk vary by trading partner? Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 54: 262-276
- Crooks JA. 2005. Lag times and exotic species: The ecology and management of biological invasions in slow-motion. Ecoscience 12: 316-329, https://doi.org/10.2980/i1195-6860-12-3-316.1
- Dafforn KA, Glasby TM, Airoldi L, Rivero NK, Mayer-Pinto M, Johnston EL. 2015. Marine urbanization: an ecological framework for designing multifunctional artificial structures. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 13: 82-90
- David M, Perkovic M, Suban V, Gollasch S. 2012. A generic ballast water discharge assessment model as a decision supporting tool in ballast water management.
 Decision Support Systems 53: 175-185, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2012.01.002
- Davidson IC, Scianni C, Minton MS, Ruiz GM. 2018. A history of ship specialization and consequences for marine invasions, management and policy. Journal of Applied Ecology 1-13
- Gibbs MT, Browman HI. 2015. Risk assessment and risk management: a primer for marine scientists. ICES Journal of Marine Science 72: 992-996
- Holzer KK, Muirhead JR, Minton MS, Carney KJ, Miller AW, Ruiz GM. 2017. Potential effects of LNG trade shift on transfer of ballast water and biota by ships. Science of the Total Environment 580: 1470-1474
- Hulme P. 2009. Trade, transport and trouble: managing invasive species pathways in an era of globalization. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 46: 10-18

- Kaluza P, Kölzsch A, Gastner MT, Blasius B. 2010. The complex network of global cargo ship movements. Journal of the Royal Society Interface 7: 1093-1103, doi: 10.1098/rsif.2009.0495
- Kelleher G, Bleakley C, Wells S. 1995. A Global Representative System of Marine
 Protected Areas, volume 2 4. Great Barrier Reed Marine Park Authority, World
 Bank, IUCN (World Conservation Union), Washington, DC
- Mack RN, Simberloff D, Lonsdale WM, Evans H, Clout M, Bazzaz FA. 2000. Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. Ecological Applications: 10: 689-710, doi-org/10.1890/1051-

0761(2000)010[0689:BICEGC]2.0.CO;2

- Meyerson LA, Mooney HA. 2007. Invasive alien species in an era of globalization. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5: 199-208
- Miller AW, Minton MS, Ruiz GM. 2011. Geographic limitations and regional differences in ships' ballast water management to reduce marine invasions in the contiguous United States. BioScience 61: 880-887
- Minton MS, Miller AW, Ruiz GM. 2015. Implications for ships type on delivery and management of ballast water. In Biological Invasions in Changing Ecosystems, Joao Canning-Clode (ed). De Gruyter Open Ltd, pg. 343-364
- Minton MS, Verling E, Miller AW, Ruiz GM. 2005. Reducing propagule supply and coastal invasions via ships: effects of emerging strategies. Frontier in Ecology and the Environment 3: 304-308

- National Ballast Information Clearinghouse 2016. *NBIC Online Database*. Electronic publication, Smithsonian Environmental Research Center & United States Coast Guard. Available from http://dx.doi.org/10.5479/data.serc.nbic; searched on 18 March 2016
- National Research Council (NRC). 2011. Assessing the relationship between propagule pressure and invasion risk in ballast water. The National Academies Press, Washington, D. C., USA, 144 pp
- Nichols FH, Cloern JE, Luoma SN, Peterson DH. 1986. The modification of an estuary. Science 231: 567-573
- Pysek P, Richardson D. 2010. Invasive species, environmental change and management, and health. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 35: 25-55
- Ruiz GM, Carlton JT (eds). 2003. Invasive species: vectors and management strategies. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff PW, Ashton G, Minton MS, Miller AW. 2013. Geographic variation in marine invasions among large estuaries: effects of ships and time. Ecological Applications 23: 311-320, doi-org/10.1890/11-1660.1
- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff PW, Carlton JT, Wonham MJ, Hines AH. 2000. Invasion of coastal marine communities in North America: Apparent patterns, processes, and biases. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 31: 481-531
- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff PW, Steves BP, Carlton JT. 2015. Invasion history and vector dynamics in coastal marine ecosystems A North American perspective. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18: 299-311

- Ruiz GM, Fofonoff PW, Steves B, Foss SF, Shiba SN. 2011. Marine invasion history and vector analysis of California: a hotspot for western North America. Diversity and Distributions 17: 362-373
- Sakai AK, Allendorf FW, Holt JS, Lodge DM, Molofsky J, With KA, Baughman S,
 Cabin RJ, Cohen JE, Ellstrand NC, McCauley DE, O'Neil P, Parker IM,
 Thompson JN, Weller SG. 2001. The population biology of invasive species.
 Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 32: 305-332
- Sardain A, Sardain E, Leung B. 2019. Global forecasts of shipping traffic and biological invasions to 2050. Nature Sustainability 2: 274-282,

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0245-y

- Seebens H, Blackburn T, Dyer E, et al. 2017. No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. Nat Communications 8: 14435, doiorg/10.1038/ncomms14435
- Seebens H, Gastner MT, Blasius B. 2013. The risk of marine bioinvasion caused by global shipping. Ecology Letters, doi: 10.1111/ele.12111
- Seebens H, Schwart N, Schupp PJ, Blasius B. 2016. Predicting the spread of marine species introduced by global shipping. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113: 5646-5651
- Simberloff D. 2009. The role of propagule pressure in biological invasions. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics. 40: 81-102

- Smith LD, Wonham MJ, McCann LD, Ruiz GM, Hines AH, Carlton JT. 1999. Invasion pressure to a ballast-flooded estuary and an assessment of inoculant survival.
 Biological Invasions 1: 67-87
- Solow AR, Costello CJ. 2004. Estimating the rate of species introductions from the discovery record. Ecology 85: 1822-1825, doi-org/10.1890/03-3102
- USA Trade Online. 2019. Electronic publication, United States Census Bureau, U.S. Department of Commerce. Available from https://usatrade.census.gov/index.php
- Verling E, Ruiz GM, Smith LD, Galil B, Miller AW, Murphy KR. 2005. Supply-side invasion ecology: characterizing propagule pressure in coastal ecosystems.
 Proceedings of the Royal Society B 272: 1249-1257
- Verna DE, Harris BP, Holzer KK, Minton MS. 2016. Ballast-borne marine invasive species: exploring the risk to coastal Alaska, USA. Management of Biological Invasions 7: 199-211, DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2016.7.2.08
- Westphal MI, Browne M, MacKinnon K, Noble I. 2008. The link between international trade and the global distribution of invasive alien species. Biological Invasions 10: 391-398
- Winder M, Jassby AD, Nally RM. 2011. Synergies between climate anomalies and hydrological modifications facilitate estuarine biological invasions. Ecology Letters 14: 749-757, doi-org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01635.x
- Wonham MJ, Byers JE, Grosholz ED, Leung. 2013. Modeling the relationship between propagule pressure and invasion risk to inform policy and management.
 Ecological Applications, 23: 1691-1706, doi-org/10.1890/12-1985.1

Zhang X, Bai M, Tian Y, Du H, Zhang Z. 2017. The estimation for ballast water discharged to China from 2007 to 2014. Marine Pollution Bulletin 124: 89-93, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.07.012</u>

Chapter 2 Expanding US energy exports fuel opportunity for marine biological invasions

Abstract

Variability in maritime trade influences the location and magnitude of coastal biological invasions from the ballast water of ships. Here we identify a previously unexplored driver of increasing ballast water imports to the United States from 2005-2018, representing a 422% growth in shipborne exports of oil, coal, and liquefied natural gas, particularly from the Gulf Coast. Across all coasts, we found 97% of the variability in ballast water imports among years was explained by the tonnage of energy exports. Tank and bulk ships transported energy goods globally, greatly expanding the vector strength and species source pool. This study finds that energy trade dynamics drive changes in ballast water delivery and highlights an additional sustainability challenge of growing global energy demand beyond climate change. We use our findings to assess the dynamic effects of global energy supply and demand on regional ship behavior and invasion opportunity.

Introduction

The supply and production of energy resources varies around the world, thus, to meet demand of growing economies and populations, raw and finished energy goods are traded internationally via maritime shipping. In 2018, an estimated 1.9 billion tons of crude oil, 1.2 billion tons of coal, and 318 million tons of liquefied natural gas (LNG) were in world maritime trade, comprising nearly a third (31.5%) of goods loaded globally

not considering refined petroleum products¹. Moreover, global energy consumption is projected to rise nearly 50% by 2050, driven primarily by countries within Asia². While access to modern energy is valuable to improving quality of life, there are trade-offs associated with rapid energy expansion that challenge the sustainability of natural resources³. Efforts to address energy sustainability have often focused on the supply (e.g., exploration, production, refinement) and demand (e.g., consumption) of fossil fuels to mitigate climate change^{4,5}. Here we address a new dimension of energy sustainability focused on the behavior and effects of maritime shipping, the link between supply and demand.

Maritime shipping is the world's primary vector to introduce estuarine and marine nonindigenous species (NIS), including over 350 coastal NIS in North America from 1981-2010⁶. Ship types influence the source and magnitude of NIS introductions differently given operating profiles, configuration, and cargo⁷. Ships that specialize in carrying dry and liquid bulk goods, such as coal, petroleum, and LNG, typically transit with cargo in one direction and carry ballast water on the return voyage. The uptake and discharge of seawater as ballast provides ships stability as needed but also collects (samples) and releases entire planktonic communities between ports. The number and frequency of ships that discharge ballast water across space or time positively influences the likelihood of NIS introduction and establishment⁸. As a result, biological invasion risk is projected to increase as the magnitude of global maritime shipping grows, driven by socioeconomic factors.⁹

Over the past four decades, trade of energy goods in the United States has undergone a transition from net imports to net exports, altering maritime shipping dynamics in coastal ports¹⁰. By 2018, a recent production boom from shale formations led the United States to be the world's leading producer of oil and natural gas¹¹. Increasing tonnage of petroleum, coal, and LNG were exported from coastal US ports to countries around the world on bulk and tank ships, even goods destined to countries on the same continent¹².

Here we thoroughly examined fluxes in the scale and directionality of maritime trade of energy goods as a driver of biological invasion opportunity. In this analysis, we (1) explored the relative proportions of total national and regional exports across time from the United States; (2) uniquely integrated comprehensive trade datasets across three energy sectors (petroleum, coal, and LNG, hereafter referred to as energy); (3) assessed the influence of energy exports on shipping behavior; and (4) modeled the relationship between energy exports and ballast water imports across space and time, and by ship type. Our results reveal an unintended consequence of rising global energy demand and underscore the need to integrate associated maritime shipping and invasion dynamics into sustainability goals.

Methods

Total export data

We obtained data on total United States exports from USA Trade Online, a database provided by the United States Census Bureau¹³. USA Trade Online reports

imports and exports of goods classified by the hierarchical Harmonized System (HS) codes, where 22 sections contain 2-digit chapter codes that classify goods broadly, then 4-digit heading codes and 6-digit subheading codes that classify goods with increasing specificity. For example, Section 2 Vegetable Products contains Chapter 10 Cereals that contains Heading 1004 Oats. We extracted data on the annual kilograms of 4-digit goods that were exported from port districts on the West, Gulf, and East Coasts from 2005 through 2018. We used the 2-digit chapters to broadly group goods as Agriculture, Energy, Mineral, or Other. Agriculture goods included HS chapters 1 – 15 (sections 1, 2, and 3), Energy goods included HS chapter 27 (section 5), Mineral goods included HS chapters 25 and 26 (section 5), and remaining chapters (and sections) were Other goods. We categorized 242 4-digit export goods in this way, representing 97.5% of the total export tonnage, and goods that were at least 0.02% of total export tonnage. Furthermore, we identified the type of vessel that transported each 4-digit good (e.g., tank, bulk, container ship).

Energy data

We obtained data on United States exports of petroleum and coal from the Energy Information Administration (EIA). We used data from the EIA because it is comprehensive and provides detailed information on current and projected trade of energy goods. We note that energy tonnage in data collected from the EIA does not fully match the annual tonnage in the "energy" category of total exports from USA Trade Online. We suspect this discrepancy to be the combined result of multiple factors, including variability in reported export location (e.g., port vs. port district); the primary source of data for each database; density conversion factors for some petroleum products; variability in revisions made to each database by their hosts; and variability in product name/identification. We used data from the EIA to analyze specific energy exports and data from USA Trade Online to summarize relative exports only.

The EIA reports petroleum export data at the spatial level of Petroleum Administration for Defense Districts (PADDs)¹⁴. The United States is divided into seven PADDs, where PADDs 1-5 encompass the 50 states and District of Columbia, and PADDs 6 and 7 contain US territories. Our dataset included exports from PADDs 1, 3, and 5, representing the East Coast, Gulf Coast, and West Coast (including Alaska and Hawaii) (see Figure 2.2). For these PADDs, we extracted data on barrels of crude oil and refined petroleum that were exported annually from 2005 through 2017 and monthly for 2018. There were 28 distinct petroleum goods (crude oil and 27 refined products). We converted volumes of each petroleum good to tonnages using densities (metric tons/barrel) obtained from the United States Environmental Protection Agency¹⁵. We then aggregated refined petroleum goods into seven categories based on their end use. The fuels category contained 17 products (e.g., motor gasoline, diesel, propane, kerosene) and the fuel additives category contained five products (e.g., motor gasoline blending components, oxygenates). Lubricants, waxes, petroleum coke, asphalt, and miscellaneous were individual categories of refined petroleum. Crude oil was a unique category.

The EIA reports coal exports from individual terminals throughout the United States¹⁶. We identified export terminals located on the West, Gulf, and East Coasts and excluded exports from all other locations including the Great Lakes, interior (landlocked)

terminals, and US territories to spatially align with locations of petroleum exports. We extracted annual data on short tons of coal exported from 2005 through 2018, converted to metric tons, and summed the export tonnages from ports within each coast. The coal dataset included metallurgical coal (used for steel production), steam coal (used for electricity generation), and coke.

We obtained data on United States exports of liquefied natural gas (LNG) from the Office of Fossil Energy (OFE)¹⁷. The OFE reports daily vessel-specific LNG exports from all coastal export terminals in operation. During our study period, operational terminals were located in Kenai, Alaska (West Coast), Sabine, Louisiana (Gulf Coast), Corpus Christi, Texas (Gulf Coast), and Cove Point, Maryland (East Coast). We extracted data on cubic feet of LNG exports in annual reports from 2008 through 2018 (LNG exports did not occur during 2005-2007) and converted these volumes to tonnage (48.7 million cubic feet = 1 metric ton LNG). We cross-checked export data obtained from the OFE against shipborne LNG export data available from the EIA. Total annual export quantities matched across datasets; we chose to use the dataset from OFE due to its increased resolution of export location (terminal).

Ballast water data

We obtained data on ballast water delivery to the United States from the National Ballast Information Clearinghouse (NBIC)¹⁸. Commercial vessels are required to report ballast water source, management, and delivery locations and volumes (cubic meters) to the NBIC upon entering US ports on a standardized Ballast Water Management Reporting Form. We extracted vessel-specific arrival and ballast water delivery data from 2005 through 2018 for the West, Gulf, and East Coasts. We used data only for vessels that arrived and ballast water that was sourced from beyond the US exclusive economic zone.

Analysis

All analyses were conducted in R¹⁹. For data collected from the EIA, we compiled a list of Series IDs that identified each good from each export location (PADD or terminal) and a separate list of Series IDs that identified each good to its trade destination. We then used the R package "EIAdata" to import data for analysis²⁰. For the destinations of coal exports, we used data provided by the United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, 'Monthly Report EM 545' compiled by the EIA in a quarterly spreadsheet available on their website.

We summarized the total annual tonnage of energy (metric tons of petroleum, coal, and LNG) exported from each coastal region (West, Gulf, East) and the annual tonnage of ballast water that was imported to each coastal region. We then modeled the relationship between annual energy exports and annual ballast water imports using multiple linear regression with categorical and continuous variables. Further, we modeled the relationship between annual energy exports and annual ballast water imports for the two dominant vessel types (bulkers and tankers) using multiple linear regression.

Results

Total exports

The United States exported a multitude of goods that we have summarized into Agriculture (e.g., corn, soybean, wheat), Energy (e.g., oil, coal, natural gas), Mineral (e.g., metal ores, sulfur, clays, sand, gravel), and Other (e.g., wood, paper, waste). From 2005-2018, the United States increasingly exported Agriculture, Energy, and Other goods from coastal ports, though the rate of change in Energy exports was greatest. Exports of Energy surpassed all other goods in 2009 and accounted for more than 50% of national export tonnage by 2018 (Figure 2.1a). The growth in national Energy exports relative to other goods was driven largely by a dramatic surge from the Gulf Coast, where Energy was one-third of exports in 2005 and two-thirds in 2018, even while exports of Agriculture and Other goods also rose. On the West Coast, Energy was a growing proportion of exports but remained smaller than Agriculture and Other goods. Energy was a leading export from the East Coast in most years, alongside Other goods (Figure 2.1b-d).

Energy boom

Energy tonnage exported from the coastal United States rose annually from 85 million metric tons (MMT) in 2005 to over 444 MMT in 2018 (Figure 2.2). Petroleum exports grew the most during this period (470%) after remaining relatively stable since the early 1980s (Appendix B Supplemental Figure 1). Coal exports fluctuated over time, falling from a 2012 peak of 107 MMT through 2016 before returning to near peak levels by 2018. Relatively small amounts of LNG (< 6 MMT) were exported through 2015,
after which exports grew nearly 500% in three years and accounted for 5% of total energy tonnage in 2018.

Energy exports from each coast varied and grew asymmetrically in type and magnitude over the 14-year period from 2005-2018 (Figure 2.2). On the West Coast, energy exports were predominantly petroleum fuels, steam coal, and petroleum coke. By 2018, annual coal exports from the West Coast had risen from 0.5 MMT to nearly 10 MMT and petroleum exports exceeded 22 MMT, more than doubling the tonnage of energy exported since 2005. The Gulf Coast experienced the largest growth in energy exports of nearly 600% and was the leading region to export crude oil, refined petroleum, and LNG. Exports of petroleum from the Gulf Coast increased annually to more than 291 MMT in 2018 while LNG exports began in 2016. The East Coast led the nation annually in coal exports, dominated by metallurgical and steam coal. Energy exports from the East Coast more than tripled from 2005 after coal rebounded and LNG shipments began in 2018.

Ship behavior

Ship specialization of cargo exports drove trends in spatial and temporal ballast water delivery across the United States. Bulk carriers (bulkers) exported three coal products and petroleum coke, while tankers exported a variety of bulk liquid goods such as refined petroleum (including fuels), crude oil, and LNG (Appendix B Supplemental Figure 2). As a result, most ballast water imports on the West and East coasts where coal and petroleum coke exports were common were delivered by bulkers (77% and 75%,

respectively), and tankers imported most ballast water on the Gulf Coast (54%) due to increasing petroleum exports.

As energy exports grew nationally, the volume of bulker and tanker ballast water imports rose 230% and more than 1000%, respectively, from 2005-2018. This flux in ballast water volume was driven by a growing proportion of vessels that discharged on each coast, rather than an increasing number of vessel arrivals (Figure 2.3, Figure 2.4). On the West Coast, where agriculture and other bulk commodities were commonly exported in addition to energy, ballast water imports nearly doubled, and the proportion of discharging bulkers remained greater than 50% and was as high as 80%. Ballast water imports to the Gulf Coast increased over 8-fold as the proportion of discharging tankers rose from 14%-65%; the number of arrivals increased by just 42%. East Coast ballast water imports increased 9-fold, though the annual proportion of discharging bulkers fluctuated with the trend in coal exports.

Relationship between energy exports and ballast water imports

There was a strong relationship between fluxes in energy exports and ballast water imports across the coastal United States from 2005-2018 (multiple linear regression, $F_{3, 38} = 378.9$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.97$, Figure 2.4). The relationship between ballast water imports and energy exports was dependent on ship type ($F_{3, 24} = 175.8$, adjusted $R^2 = 0.95$), as bulkers imported 87% more ballast water per ton of energy exported than tankers (Appendix B Supplemental Figure 3). Nationally, bulkers imported more ballast water than tankers annually from 2005-2016. Nevertheless, tankers exported greater tonnage of energy than bulkers in 2009, corresponding with a decrease in coal

exports from the Gulf and East Coasts, and annually from 2014-2018. Tanker energy exports grew roughly 30% in both 2017 and 2018 as petroleum exports boomed on the Gulf Coast, leading to an increase in ballast water imports in those years.

Invasion opportunity

The magnitude of ballast water imports was driven by ship type and the destinations of cargo. Bulkers exported coal to Canada, the Netherlands (for distribution to other European countries), Brazil, the United Kingdom, South Korea, and India. Most petroleum was exported by tankers to Mexico and Canada. When LNG exports began in earnest in 2016, primary tanker destinations were South Korea, Mexico, Japan, and China (Appendix B Supplemental Figure 4). From 2005-2018, energy exports from the United States grew more than 400% to 13 countries and 1,000% to seven countries (Figure 2.5). The largest increase in energy exports was to Taiwan (> 21,000%) primarily from petroleum.

The proportion of ballast water imports that was reported to have undergone management to reduce the concentration of coastal organisms varied by ship type and coast (Appendix B Supplemental Figure 5). Bulkers tended to have high and steady rates of ballast water management across all coasts (ranging from $89.7 \pm 1.2\%$ in 2005 to 94.9 $\pm 1.1\%$ in 2018, mean \pm standard error). Conversely, tankers reported managing less than 50% of ballast water in 2005 on the West and Gulf Coasts. Under changing regulations, the management rates of tankers improved to greater than 90% by 2018 on all coasts. Management rates were generally lower on the Gulf Coast than the West and East Coasts for both vessel types. Most ballast water imports were managed with mid-ocean ballast water exchange, with a lesser but growing volume managed with onboard treatment systems (1% in 2014 - 25% in 2018).

Discussion

Our findings indicate that the sustainability of present-day energy demand can be linked to the behavior and dynamics of bulk and tank ships engaged in international trade. The growing usage of energy across a variety of sectors (e.g., industry, transportation, electricity production) has often been associated with global sustainability challenges, particularly air pollution and climate change²¹. Maritime shipping presents a sustainability and regulatory challenge beyond vessel emissions (CO₂, SO_x, NO_x) to invasive species²². Here we show that growth in tonnage of energy exports drives the flux and magnitude of ballast water delivery to a remarkably strong degree, which was previously unappreciated, and in turn is likely a key variable in dynamics of biological invasions.

Energy trade dynamics

Demand for energy comes as the world is increasing its capacity and usage of electricity and transportation alongside other investments in economic development²³. As energy consumption accelerates, geography and distribution of resources have led to greater energy transport on ships, linking supply and demand²⁴. As a result, energy globalization, though variable, has grown over time as countries develop new trade partners²⁵. A variety of factors, such as policies, price, and technology, interact to create dynamic markets for energy trade.

In the era since coal production spurred the Industrial Revolution in the 18th century²⁶, demand for modern energy has at various times been a driver or a passenger of global events. Variability in supply and demand has in turn driven fluctuations in shipping behavior. In the United States, steam coal exports from the East Coast rebounded in 2017 and 2018 in part to meet India's growing electricity demand from coal-fired power plants and due to the shutdown of nuclear-powered plants in Europe. Exports of metallurgical coal from the United States increased in 2017 when a tropical cyclone disrupted supply that typically originated in Australia. The global pandemic beginning in late 2019 brought a sharp decline in energy demand that affected price and production around the world²⁷.

The energy industry is shaped by policy and action at various levels. In the 1970s, global events induced two energy crises in the United States that resulted in national oil shortages, high prices, and a ban on crude oil exports. In response, experts called for greater reliance on domestic coal and encouraged stockpiling, among other measures, to boost energy independence from global supply shortages^{28,29}. During the following decades, while demand grew but domestic oil production declined, the United States became the top oil-importing nation in the world³⁰. The tide turned in the late 2000s when hydraulic fracturing and horizontal drilling technologies led to a boom in unconventional oil and gas extraction and production¹⁰. US refineries, long accustomed to processing imported heavy crude oil, adopted technologies to process newly available domestic light oil. By 2011, the United States had become a net exporter of refined petroleum products³⁰. The crude oil export ban from the 1970s was lifted in December 2015 and

exports increased annually through 2019. Meanwhile, in 2016, the US became a net exporter of LNG and since then new LNG export terminals came online on the Gulf and East Coasts to increase capacity. In 2018, the United States had the largest ever annual growth in oil and gas production of any country in the world¹¹. Additionally, the United States has the largest coal reserves in the world and has remained a net exporter through time despite fluctuations in global demand³¹. In 2019, as energy production increased and imports declined, the United States became a total net exporter of energy for the first time in 67 years.

Maritime shipping

Fluctuations in global energy supply and demand directly influenced regional maritime shipping dynamics in the United States. Growing energy exports led to an increasing proportion of arriving ships that discharged ballast water on each coast, positively influencing the opportunity for biological invasions. A combination of ship type and export commodity affected the magnitude and location of ballast water imports. Bulkers imported more ballast water than tankers in most years and disproportionately more per ton of energy exported. However, the nearly six-fold rise in petroleum and LNG exports from the Gulf Coast led to the largest growth in ballast water imports to that coast over time from tankers.

More ship arrivals and ballast water imports are expected to result in an increased likelihood of invasions, since the number and frequency of viable organism introductions, or propagule pressure, increases the probability of NIS introduction and establishment ^{8,32}. The assemblages of species in ballast water are determined by the source pool of the

trade partner. Countries that imported coal and petroleum coke, often in Asia and Europe, were key source locations of biota delivered by bulkers. Likewise, the destinations of petroleum exports by tankers, often Canada and Mexico, increasingly connected those regions with the Gulf Coast. Greater connectivity with a variety of trade partners can increase propagule pressure and broaden the species source pool.

Energy is anticipated to continue to play a role in shipping dynamics in the United States. For instance, several additional LNG export terminals are under construction, approved, or proposed, largely on the Gulf Coast^{33,34}. This region has historically had fewer primary invasions compared to the West and East Coasts³⁵, but the exaggerated propagule pressure documented here will likely influence future invasion dynamics. Risk of ballast-borne invasions throughout the United States will continue to remain unevenly distributed, with hotspots emerging at locations where the volume and frequency of imports are greatest. Current energy export terminals and new coastal or offshore infrastructure can serve as monitoring sites for detecting existing and novel invasions, such as ports on the Texas coast.

Future sustainability

Rising energy use has been driven by economic growth and this trend looks to continue into the future³⁶. In recent years, the demand for relatively cheap and available fossil fuels in developing nations such as China and India has skyrocketed with potential for additional growth³⁷. The LNG sector is expected to expand from regional markets to globally integrated trade with rising demand and short-term transactions, potentially leading to tanker shipments that are sensitive to global fluctuations in supply and

demand. China's Belt and Road Initiative to boost trade between Asia, Africa, and Europe, already recognized as a pathway for terrestrial invasions, will include a Maritime Silk Road with dozens of proposed new ports and increased oil and gas supply throughout the region^{38,39}.

Ensuring people's access to energy is distinctly recognized by Goal 7 of the United Nation's 2030 Sustainable Development Agenda⁴⁰. In addition to improving social well-being and opportunity, energy is fundamental to the achievement of many other global sustainability goals, such as no poverty (Goal 2), good health (Goal 3), quality education (Goal 4), clean water and sanitation (Goal 6), and economic growth $(Goal 8)^3$. To meet this goal amidst the growing consumption of fossil fuels, the world aims to improve energy sustainability with efficiencies and transition to renewable sources. Efforts to reach climate goals, such as those set forth in the Paris Agreement, may eventually shift trade patterns or even reduce the volume of shipping with changes in dominant energy sources (e.g., reduction in coal)⁴¹. Marine pollution regulations set forth by the International Maritime Organization to limit sulfur in ships' fuel will influence refinery practices beginning in January 2020^{42} . In the future, cleaner energy sources and new technologies may boost the sustainability of energy production and storage⁴³. While the proportion of modern, renewable energy has grown modestly in recent years, future policy and consumer demand will continue to change the landscape of energy $supply^2$.

The future sustainability of energy markets and maritime shipping will undoubtedly be shaped by anticipated and unanticipated events. As seen here, the direction and magnitude of maritime shipping is derived from global drivers of economic

growth and trade between countries. Since shipping is the leading mechanism to introduce NIS to coastal marine environments, this pattern underscores the influence of global socioeconomics on ecological processes and the human-mediated nature of biological invasions. Given that there does not yet appear to be saturation in global invasions⁴⁴, as the shipping network grows our methods can be applied more broadly or to other regions experiencing fluxes in bulk maritime trade. Exploring the global drivers of regional changes in shipping behavior can aid local prioritization of early detection and rapid response initiatives for biological invasions.

Recommendations

Coordinated, preventative approaches are critical to the sustainable management of leading vectors of NIS. Decades of effort to curb the introduction of species in ballast water led to the International Maritime Organization's (IMO) Ballast Water Management Convention that entered into force in 2017. The Convention requires vessels engaged in international trade to use ballast water treatment systems (BWTS) to meet organism concentration limits upon discharge. Since the Convention is phased in over multiple years, some vessels are currently operating these systems while others prepare for installation. The United States is similarly phasing in requirements for vessels to operate BWTS prior to discharge in US waters. In the meantime, vessels engage in ballast water exchange, a practice to flush water and organisms entrained in coastal ports beyond 200 nautical miles from shore. BWTS are expected to reduce the concentration of organisms in ballast water more than ballast water exchange⁴⁵. Our results underpin the urgency for the global fleet to install and operate BWTS. Furthermore, it is imperative to understand the efficacy of BWTS under different coastal conditions (e.g., salinity, turbidity, organism concentrations) and growing ballast water volumes. Despite international attention to ballast water management, increased volume and frequency of ballast water delivery may offset the benefits of reduced organism concentrations achieved by mid-ocean exchange or onboard treatment systems⁴⁶.

Fouling on ship hulls, niche areas, and other underwater surfaces is also a dominant mechanism of NIS introductions from ships. Longer port calls allow more time for organisms to accumulate in source locations and release in introduced locations⁷. In 2018, the global median number of days in port for dry bulk carriers was nearly 3 times that of container ships, and a third greater for liquid bulk carriers¹. The impact of energy exports on the number, frequency, and port residence times of bulker and tanker arrivals is an area for further study in the United States and elsewhere, as residence times vary by location depending on the number of arrivals and the efficiency (turnaround time) of the port.

Global sustainability challenges are often related. As indicated here, natural resource extraction and economic growth directly impact opportunity for biological invasions that cause lasting impacts to the health and resiliency of native ecosystems. Examining synergies between sustainability challenges highlights opportunities for integrated management, linking disciplines and avoiding policy silos⁴⁷. The result is a more comprehensive and efficient approach to solving global challenges⁴⁸.

Figures



Figure 2.1. Total exports from the coastal United States

Values represent the annual tonnage of shipborne exports (million metric tons) aggregated by type of goods. Panel a represents the sum of panels b-d; panels b-d represent exports from each coast.



Figure 2.2. Spatial and temporal energy exports

Tonnage of energy exports from the coastal United States in 2005 (a) and 2018 (b). Pie charts and values indicate million metric tons of total shipborne energy exports from each region. Regions are denoted by Petroleum Administration for Defense Districts (PADDs 1-5).



Figure 2.3. Vessel arrivals and proportion of dischargers

Overseas bulk and tank vessels that arrived and delivered ballast water on each coast of the United States. The dominant vessel type to arrive on each coast varies and the proportion of arrivals that deliver ballast water is influenced by the tonnage and type of exports.



Figure 2.4. Energy exports and ballast water imports

The relationship between energy exports and ballast water imports on coasts of the United States. Values represent million metric tons. A linear regression model of the relationship can be described as: $y = 1.62 \times 10^7 - 8.01 \times 10^6_G - 1.58 \times 10^7_E + 3.39 \times 10^{-1}x$, where *G* and *E* represent dummy coded contrasts of the Gulf and East Coasts to the West Coast. Adjusted R² = 0.97. Shaded areas in panel c represent 95% confidence intervals.





References

 United Nations Conference on Trade and Development. Review of Maritime Transport 2019. (UNITED NATIONS, 2020).

2. Energy Information Administration. International Energy Outlook 2019. 85 (2019).

3. Fuso Nerini, F. et al. Mapping synergies and trade-offs between energy and the Sustainable Development Goals. Nat Energy 3, 10–15 (2018).

4. Erickson, P., Down, A., Lazarus, M. & Koplow, D. Effect of subsidies to fossil fuel companies on United States crude oil production. Nat Energy 2, 891–898 (2017).

5. Creutzig, F. et al. Towards demand-side solutions for mitigating climate change.

Nature Clim Change 8, 260–263 (2018).

6. Ruiz, G. M., Fofonoff, P. W., Steves, B. P. & Carlton, J. T. Invasion history and vector dynamics in coastal marine ecosystems: A North American perspective. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18, 299–311 (2015).

 Davidson, I. C., Scianni, C., Minton, M. S. & Ruiz, G. M. A history of ship specialization and consequences for marine invasions, management and policy. J Appl Ecol 55, 1799–1811 (2018).

8. National Research Council. Assessing the Relationship Between Propagule Pressure and Invasion Risk in Ballast Water. (National Academies Press, 2011).

doi:10.17226/13184.

9. Sardain, A., Sardain, E. & Leung, B. Global forecasts of shipping traffic and biological invasions to 2050. Nat Sustain 2, 274–282 (2019).

10. Saundry, P. D. Review of the United States energy system in transition. Energ Sustain Soc 9, 4 (2019).

11. BP. BP Statistical Review of World Energy. 64 (2019).

12. Parfomak, P. W. et al. Cross-Border Energy Trade in North America: Present and Potential. 51 (2017).

13. United States Census Bureau, U.S. Department of Commerce. USA Trade Online. https://usatrade.census.gov/ (2019).

14. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Petroleum & Other Liquids Data. https://www.eia.gov/petroleum/data.php (2019).

15. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). Technical Support Document. Petroleum products and natural gas liquids: definitions, emission factors, methods and assumptions. Final Rule for mandatory reporting of greenhouse gases. 33 (2009).

16. U.S. Energy Information Administration (EIA). Coal Data.

https://www.eia.gov/coal/data.php (2019).

17. United States Office of Fossil Energy (USOFE). LNG Reports.

https://www.energy.gov/fe/listings/lng-reports (2019).

 National Ballast Information Clearinghouse. NBIC Online Database. Electronic publication, Smithsonian Environmental Research Center & United States Coast Guard.
 (2019) doi:10.5479/data.serc.nbic.

19. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://www.r-project.org/ (2020). 20. Brigida, Matthew et al. EIAdata: R Wrapper for the Energy Information Administration (EIA) API. R package version 0.0.5. (2019).

21. Oberschelp, C., Pfister, S., Raptis, C. E. & Hellweg, S. Global emission hotspots of coal power generation. Nat Sustain 2, 113–121 (2019).

22. Lister, J., Poulsen, R. T. & Ponte, S. Orchestrating transnational environmental governance in maritime shipping. Global Environmental Change 34, 185–195 (2015).
23. Waite, M. et al. Global trends in urban electricity demands for cooling and heating. Energy 127, 786–802 (2017).

24. Sutrisno, A., Nomaler, Önder & Alkemade, F. Has the global expansion of energy markets truly improved energy security? Energy Policy 148, 111931 (2021).

25. Overland, I. Energy: The missing link in globalization. Energy Research & Social Science 14, 122–130 (2016).

26. Wrigley, E. A. Energy and the English Industrial Revolution. Proc. R. Soc. A 371,20110568 (2013).

27. Gillingham, K. T., Knittel, C. R., Li, J., Ovaere, M. & Reguant, M. The Short-run and Long-run Effects of Covid-19 on Energy and the Environment. Joule 4, 1337–1341 (2020).

28. Elburt F. Osborn. Coal and the Present Energy Situation. Science 183, 6 (1974).

29. Alm, A. L. Energy Supply Interruptions and National Security. Science 211, 8 (1981).

30. Melek, N. C. & Ojeda, E. Lifting the U.S. Crude Oil Export Ban: Prospects for

Increasing Oil Market Efficiency. ER (2017) doi:10.18651/ER/2q17cakirmelekojeda.

31. Coal in a hole. Nat Energy 4, 429–429 (2019).

32. Muirhead, J. R., Minton, M. S., Miller, W. A. & Ruiz, G. M. Projected effects of the Panama Canal expansion on shipping traffic and biological invasions. Diversity Distrib. 21, 75–87 (2015).

33. United States Federal Energy Regulatory Commission. LNG Existing and Proposed Terminals. https://www.ferc.gov/industries/gas/indus-act/lng.asp (2020).

34. Holzer, K. K. et al. Potential effects of LNG trade shift on transfer of ballast water and biota by ships. Science of The Total Environment 580, 1470–1474 (2017).

35. Ruiz, G. M., Fofonoff, P. W., Carlton, J. T., Wonham, M. J. & work(s):, A. H. H. R.

Invasion of Coastal Marine Communities in North America: Apparent Patterns,

Processes, and Biases. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 3, 481–531 (2000).

36. Csereklyei, Z. & Stern, D. I. Global energy use: Decoupling or convergence? Energy Economics 51, 633–641 (2015).

37. Johnsson, F., Kjärstad, J. & Rootzén, J. The threat to climate change mitigation posed by the abundance of fossil fuels. Climate Policy 19, 258–274 (2019).

38. Ascensão, F. et al. Environmental challenges for the Belt and Road Initiative. Nat Sustain 1, 206–209 (2018).

39. Liu, X. et al. Risks of Biological Invasion on the Belt and Road. Current Biology 29, 499-505.e4 (2019).

40. UN General Assembly. Transforming our World: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development A/RES/70/1. (2015).

41. Walsh, C. et al. Trade and trade-offs: Shipping in changing climates. Marine Policy 106, 103537 (2019).

42. International Maritime Organization. International Convention for the Prevention of Pollution from Ships (MARPOL) Annex VI Prevention of Air Pollution from Ships. (2005).

43. Chu, S., Cui, Y. & Liu, N. The path towards sustainable energy. Nature Mater 16, 16–22 (2017).

44. Seebens, H. et al. No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. Nat Commun 8, 14435 (2017).

45. Minton, M. S., Verling, E., Miller, A. W. & Ruiz, G. M. Reducing propagule supply and coastal invasions via ships: effects of emerging strategies. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3, 304–308 (2005).

46. Carney, K. J. et al. Evaluating the combined effects of ballast water management and trade dynamics on transfers of marine organisms by ships. PLoS ONE 12, e0172468 (2017).

47. Cox, E., Royston, S. & Selby, J. From exports to exercise: How non-energy policies affect energy systems. Energy Research & Social Science 55, 179–188 (2019).
48. Liu, J. et al. Systems integration for global sustainability. Science 347, 1258832 (2015).

Chapter 3

Recent and projected ballast water dynamics from maritime shipping in Alaska

Abstract

Marine nonindigenous species (NIS) pose direct and indirect threats to coastal Alaska. Presently, Alaska's coastal ecosystems are relatively uninvaded with few substantial impacts to marine resources. To allocate detection efforts in a vast and changing coastline, it is useful to identify the possible effects of fluxes in dominant NIS vectors. The ballast water of ships is a leading vector of NIS to the marine environment, and the largest per capita ballast water volumes are discharged by ships that export bulk goods (e.g., coal, oil, timber). Here, I first examined spatial and temporal patterns of commercial vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge to Alaska from 2009-2018. Second, I identified trade and economic activities that drove shipping behavior in dominant ports. Third, I modeled the relationship between annual ballast water discharge volume and the number of discharging vessels. Lastly, I estimated annual ballast water discharge volume with a sensitivity analysis of tanker and bulker arrivals. I found that 90% of vessels arrived in 15 ports, and arrivals grew 38% across the ten-year period. Most arrivals were passenger ships engaged in tourism in southeast. Container and reefer vessels transporting seafood often arrived in Dutch Harbor and Kodiak. Mean (±SD) annual statewide ballast water volume was 12.99 (±0.44) million metric tons (MMT). Five ports received 96% of ballast water, driven by oil tankers in Prince William Sound and bulk carriers that exported mining ore from Red Dog and coal from Seward. The number of tankers that discharged ballast water annually explained 70% of the variation

in annual tanker discharge volume; the number of discharging bulkers explained 94% of bulker discharge volume. A sensitivity analysis, ranging from a 20% decrease to a 20% increase in the number of discharging tankers and bulkers found potential median annual discharge volumes of 11.3-14.9 MMT. New exports of liquefied natural gas from Nikiski could double the number of tankers arriving in Alaska annually, resulting in a median annual volume of 17.5 MMT. My results highlight the influence of natural resource extraction on shipping behavior and opportunity for ballast-borne NIS in coastal Alaska.

Introduction

Maritime shipping introduces nonindigenous species (NIS) across geographic barriers and at speeds that would be impossible through natural dispersal, consequently leading to biological invasions globally (Mooney and Cleland 2001; Hulme 2009). Global trade networks are shown to be predictors of anthropogenic movement of NIS (Westphal et al. 2008; Chapman et al. 2017), and the scale and directionality of maritime shipping, driven by trade dynamics, can influence NIS delivery across time and space (Ruiz et al. 1997). As trade patterns change and new infrastructure is developed, scenario building of shipping patterns has indicated spatial shifts in exposure to NIS vectors including ballast water and biofouling (Muirhead et al. 2015).

Ships' ballast water is responsible for transporting NIS to novel locations on global and regional scales (Bailey 2015). A vessel takes on seawater as ballast to provide stability as it transits between locations without cargo. When the vessel loads cargo it discharges ballast water, inadvertently introducing entrained organisms to a different port

or place. Vessels designed to transport bulk liquid and dry goods in large cargo holds (i.e., tankers and bulk carriers) typically carry goods in one direction and return laden with ballast water. Due to this unique ship behavior, tankers and bulk carriers discharge more ballast water than other vessel types (e.g., container, passenger, ro-ro ships), which tend to carry goods on every voyage (Davidson et al. 2018). While a region may receive a variety of vessel arrivals, ports that export bulk commodities often receive relatively high volumes of ballast water that put them at greater risk of NIS introductions. This behavior of tank and bulk vessels is evident across a range of ports and bulk commodities and can be used to predict potential changes in ballast water volume and NIS introduction opportunity over time (Verna et al., Chapter 1).

Transport and introduction are the first hurdles to a successful biological invasion, prior to a species' establishment and spread (Blackburn et al. 2011). Though the uncertainties associated with each step of the invasion process are substantial, prevention and early detection are considered most effective and least costly management options that lead to invasion failure (Epanchin-Niell 2017). An assessment of current and projected drivers of NIS introductions from maritime shipping is particularly informative for coastal areas with few invasions where management priorities emphasize prevention and early detection. Additionally, reviewing the prevalence of preventative management practices can highlight room for improvement or variation in risk. To reduce the concentration and abundance of coastal organisms in ballast water, two management approaches are typically used: mid-ocean exchange or onboard treatment systems (Casas-Monroy et al. 2015). While both management methods are effective at reducing

likelihood of NIS introductions, treatment systems establish a numeric threshold for organism concentrations based on size class that is lower than what is typically achieved with ballast water exchange (Minton et al. 2005).

High latitude marine ecosystems, including those of Alaska, are relatively uninvaded, likely as a combined result of low anthropogenic disturbance (intact habitat) and climate (Mahanes and Sorte 2019). However, high latitude shipping is an emerging pathway of NIS given the increase in trans-Arctic and within-Arctic maritime trade facilitated by climate change (Miller and Ruiz 2014; Lassuy and Lewis 2013). Greater anthropogenic activity in the Arctic region will likely result in heightened invasion risk as a result of increasingly suitable climatic conditions and more NIS introductions (Chan et al. 2019). Potential hotspots of biological invasions from ballast water have been identified in several Alaskan ports, driven by exports of commodities derived from natural resource extraction including oil, coal, mining ore, and timber (McGee et al. 2006; D. Verna et al. 2016). Anticipated new port development and fluctuations in natural resource extraction will undoubtedly have an effect on vessel traffic and ballast water delivery throughout the state (Huntington et al. 2015; Holzer et al. 2017).

Given that NIS pose a significant threat to the health and integrity of marine ecosystems, modeling shipborne introduction opportunities with regards to commercial trade activity can inform management and encourage localized surveys (Seebens et al. 2013). Here I used a comprehensive dataset on vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge to examine commercial shipping dynamics in Alaska during a recent ten-year period and identified port activities that drove vessel behavior. Next, I considered arrival and ballast

water discharge activity of unique vessel types to model annual ballast water volume across the state. Lastly, I explored how fluxes in bulk commodities trade from existing and proposed ports would influence ballast water discharge. This analysis provides insight into NIS introduction opportunity to Alaska and identifies data gaps that would improve future estimations. My approach to modeling and projecting ballast water discharge is transferable to other locations or time periods to inform invasion potential under anticipated changes in trade or vessel traffic.

Methods

Study area

This analysis focused on coastal marine ports and places within the state of Alaska. Alaska's coastline ranges from the temperate North Pacific Ocean to Arctic waters and contains six marine ecoregions including the North American Pacific Fjordland, Gulf of Alaska, Aleutian Islands, Eastern Bering Sea, Chukchi Sea, and Beaufort Sea (Spalding et al. 2007). These ecoregions consist of diverse habitat, high productivity, and abundant biota that support a variety of subsistence, sport, and commercial harvests integral to the way of life and economy of the region. There are commercial shipping ports in each ecoregion except for the Beaufort Sea, though most ports are located along the southern coast of the state.

Data sources and cleaning

I obtained data on vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge to all ports and places in Alaska between 2009 and 2018 from the National Ballast Information

Clearinghouse (National Ballast Information Clearinghouse 2019). The NBIC collects data from commercial vessels that arrive in the United States on standardized forms that capture vessel behavior and ballast water history. Data include vessel descriptors (type, gross tonnage, name, IMO number, ballast water capacity); ports of call (arrival port, last port, next port); the location, volume, and date of ballast water source, management, and discharge; and management method.

Vessel reporting to the NBIC became mandatory for nearly all commercial vessels arriving to ports in the United States in late 2004. However, an exemption from recordkeeping and reporting was in effect for crude oil tankers engaged in coastwise trade until late 2008 when new regulations went into effect from the United States Environmental Protection Agency (Verna and Harris 2016). Since crude oil tankers are the leading source of ballast water to Alaska, this analysis began in 2009.

I made the following adjustments to the original dataset. First, arrival data from ferries engaged on the Alaska Marine Highway System were removed. These vessels reported arrivals in 2017 and 2018 only, inflating the number of ro-ro vessel arrivals compared to other years. Furthermore, these vessels did not report ballast water discharge on any arrival. Second, one arrival report and two ballast water discharge reports located at inland coordinates were removed for accuracy. Third, ballast water discharge locations reported at coordinates within 0.5 nautical miles from a port were spatially joined to that port. This step ensured that the total ballast water discharge volume received in a given port was accurately reflected, and was applied to 2 discharge points at Red Dog, 137 points at Whittier, and one point at Skagway. Lastly, a similar approach was used for

discharge locations within bays including two points in Togiak Bay, one point in Bristol Bay, and ten points in Captains Bay. The vessel type "tankers" includes crude oil tankers and other tankers.

I reviewed material on planned or projected changes in vessel traffic, infrastructure, and natural resource development in Alaska. Some data sources covered statewide or regional growth, including a report on projections of vessel traffic in the Arctic from 2020 to 2030 (Harrison 2019), an online database inventory of current and proposed Arctic infrastructure (Durkee et al. 2021), and a planning document for Alaska's ports and harbors (Northern Economics, Inc. 2011). Other resources explicitly addressed fluctuations in currently active industries in Alaska such as petroleum, natural gas, timber, and mining (Holzer et al. 2017; Daniels et al. 2016; Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 2020; 85 Fed. Reg. 197 2020; US Energy Information Administration 2020). Using these materials, I identified projects that could potentially influence bulk trade in existing or new ports.

Analyses

I assessed commercial vessel arrivals to Alaska from 2009-2018 by type, arrival location, and whether arrivals discharged ballast water. I examined fluxes in the volume of ballast water received and number and type of vessels that discharged. I also examined ballast water source, management rates, and management methods across time. In addition, I identified the dominant trade commodities or economic activities in each port that influenced vessel behavior for all arrivals and the subset of vessels that discharged ballast water.

I developed linear models that estimated relationships between the annual number of discharging vessels and the annual volume of ballast water discharged for both tankers and bulkers. Using these models, I conducted a sensitivity analysis to assess how changes in the number of discharging vessels influenced ballast water discharge volume. To represent a decrease in the number of vessels, I assessed 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, and 50% of the lowest annual number of discharging tankers and bulkers. To represent an increase in vessels, I assessed 10% - 50% of the highest annual number of both vessel types (Table 3.1).

I used the results of the sensitivity analysis to estimate the annual ballast water volume that would be received in Alaska under eight hypothetical changes in the number of discharging vessels (Table 3.2). Since different trade activities drive tanker and bulker arrivals, these scenarios allow for independent fluctuations in each vessel type. The first seven scenarios account for potential changes in the number of vessel arrivals at current ports in Alaska. The first scenario represents a 20% decrease in both tankers and bulkers. The second scenario represents a 20% decrease in tankers and the mean number of bulkers from 2009-2018. The third scenario represents a 20% decrease in bulkers and the mean number of tankers from 2009-2018. The fourth scenario represents business as usual, where the annual number of tankers and bulkers remains the same as the mean over the recent ten-year period. The fifth scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of tankers. The sixth scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of tankers. The sixth scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of tankers. The sixth scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of bulkers. The seventh scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of bulkers. The seventh scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of bulkers. The seventh scenario represents a 20% increase in tankers and the mean number of bulkers. The seventh scenario represents a 20% increase in both tankers and bulkers.

exports of liquefied natural gas (LNG), where the mean number of tankers doubles and the mean number of bulkers remains the same.

Results

Arrivals and ballast water discharge

From 2009-2018, 27,116 arrivals to Alaska were reported to the NBIC. Most vessel arrivals were foreign-flagged passenger vessels (48%), followed by domestic tankers (16%), other vessels (14%), and containerships (10%), and to a lesser degree reefer, ro-ro, bulk, and general cargo ships (Figure 3.1). Total vessel arrivals grew 38% from 2009-2018, driven by an increase in passenger vessels. Most vessel arrivals (79%) did not discharge ballast water, though this varied by vessel type (Figure 3.2). Over the ten-year period, 131.7 million metric tons (MMT) of ballast water was discharged to Alaska, primarily by tankers and bulkers (91% and 8%, respectively). The annual volume of ballast water discharged statewide grew slightly through 2011 but decreased 4% overall (Figure 3.3). Both tanker and bulker ballast water discharge reached a maximum in 2011, followed by decline through 2015 for tankers and 2017 for bulkers.

Passenger vessels arrived primarily in the southeast Alaska communities of Juneau, Ketchikan, and Skagway, where cruise ship tourism is common. Most tankers (62%) arrived in Port Valdez at the terminus of the trans-Alaska pipeline to export crude oil. Container, reefer, and other vessels arrived primarily in Dutch Harbor where they transported seafood products. Bulkers arrived at Red Dog and Hawk Inlet for mining exports and at Afognak for timber exports (Figure 3.4a).

The location of tanker and bulker ballast water discharge varied by vessel type and bulk exports (trade) at the port, and most ballast water was received at only a few ports (Figure 3.4b). Port Valdez received 114 MMT of ballast water, accounting for 87% of total ballast water discharge and 96% of tanker discharge. Red Dog received 4.8 MMT of ballast water, the second largest volume at a single port, and 45% of bulker discharge. Seward received 2.2 MMT (21% of bulker discharge), but the volume of ballast water received annually declined from a peak of 0.5 MMT in 2011 to less than 0.01 MMT in 2017 and 2018 as exports of coal from the port ceased. Afognak received 0.88 MMT of ballast water and 8% of bulker discharge.

The source locations of tanker and bulker ballast water differed considerably. Most ballast water from tankers was sourced along the west coast of North America (97%), as tankers often transported oil from Port Valdez to terminals and refineries in Washington (Anacortes, Bellingham) and California (Long Beach, Benicia, Richmond). Conversely, bulkers predominantly sourced ballast water from overseas ports in China, Japan, Korea, and midocean locations during the voyage to Alaska (97%).

Ballast water management

Ballast water management was performed on 61.9 MMT (47%) of the total volume discharged to Alaska from 2009-2018. Annual management rates increased over the ten-year period. In 2015, management was reported on greater than 50% of annual ballast water discharge for the first time, increasing to 70% by 2018 (Figure 3.5). Of the ballast water that was reported managed, ballast water exchange was the most common method, totaling 57.5 MMT of discharge across the ten years. Use of onboard treatment

systems for management was first reported in 2015 and increased annually through 2018, totaling 4.8 MMT in 4 years. When ballast water was not managed prior to discharge, vessels reported various reasons; most commonly safety of the vessel due to weather, ballast water was taken onboard from a mid-ocean source, and the vessel's route was exempt from management.

Modeling annual ballast water volume

The annual volume of ballast water received from tankers and bulkers was explained independently by the annual number of vessels of each type that discharged ballast water. The annual number of discharging tankers ranged from a low of 260 in 2014 to a high of 319 in 2011 (288 \pm 5.5, mean \pm standard error). The annual number of discharging bulkers ranged from a low of 51 in 2017 to a high of 88 in both 2010 and 2011 (71 \pm 4.4, mean \pm standard error). Given the range between the number of discharging tankers and bulkers and corresponding discharge volumes, we developed separate models for each vessel type.

The relationship between the annual number of dischargers and annual ballast water volume (MMT) for tankers can be described as: y = 7.4 + 0.01562x, $R^2 = 0.70$.

The relationship between the annual number of dischargers and annual ballast water volume (MMT) for bulkers can be described as: y = 0.10039 + 0.01392x, $R^2 = 0.94$.

Sensitivity analysis and scenarios of ballast water discharge

The review of bulk commodities forecasts, such as oil, timber, and minerals, seldom included projections of the number of vessels necessary for export. I identified

one proposed project where additional natural resource extraction would lead to increased bulk exports. Specifically, proposed LNG exports from the port of Nikiski is anticipated to bring 204-360 (median 288) additional tankers to Alaska annually (Federal Energy Regulatory Commission 2020).

Hypothetically adjusting the number of tankers and bulkers that discharge ballast water annually, using the models described above, indicated a broad potential range of discharge volumes within and across vessel types (Table 3.1). Scenarios that involved changes in the number of tankers had a far greater impact on potential volume, as reflected in scenarios 3 and 5 where the number of tankers remained stable (Figure 3.6). In scenario 1, the number of both tankers and bulkers decreased by 20%; total annual median ballast water discharge volume was 11.32 (10.43, 12.21, 95% prediction interval) MMT. In scenario 2, tankers decreased by 20% and bulkers remained stable; annual discharge volume was 11.74 (10.87, 12.60) MMT. In scenario 3, bulkers decreased by 20% and tankers remained stable; annual discharge volume was 12.57 (12.01, 12.14) MMT. In scenario 4, business as usual, annual discharge volume was 12.99 (12.45, 13.53) MMT. In scenario 5, bulkers increased by 20% and tankers remained stable; annual discharge volume was 13.48 (12.90, 14.05) MMT. In scenario 6, tankers increased by 20% and bulkers remained stable; annual discharge volume was 14.47 (13.51, 15.43) MMT. In scenario 7, both tankers and bulkers increased by 20%; annual discharge volume was 14.96 (13.96, 15.95). Finally, in scenario 8, the mean number of tankers and bulkers from existing ports remained stable and an additional 288 tankers were added, doubling the number of discharging tankers; annual discharge volume was 17.49 (15.11,

19.86) MMT. The span of potential discharge volume between scenarios 1 and 8 was 6.2MMT (55% difference).

Discussion

Maritime shipping patterns

This analysis reveals recent patterns of arrivals and ballast water discharge from commercial vessels in Alaska and describes potential fluxes in ballast water volume with eight scenarios. I show that commercial vessel arrivals in many ports of Alaska are often a single vessel type and/or driven by a specific industry, e.g., tourism, petroleum, mining, seafood, or forestry. Since vessel types behave differently with regards to ballast water delivery (Davidson et al. 2018), here the economic driver of a port can serve as an indication of NIS introduction opportunity from ballast water. Moreover, arrivals alone are not a suitable replacement for data on ballast water delivery since most arrivals did not discharge (Minton et al. 2015; Verling et al. 2005). During the study period, the number of arrivals grew (driven by tourism and passenger vessels) while ballast water discharge declined slightly, often at different ports.

Considering the behavior of unique vessel types, the models developed here indicated that annual number of discharging tankers and bulkers can robustly predict the volume of ballast water received statewide. This is in contrast to other studies (e.g., Chapter 1) where number of vessels, even bulk vessels, is not a good proxy for ballast water volume, since ports both import and export bulk goods, resulting in differing

ballasting behavior among arrivals. In Alaska, ports that received bulk vessels were exporting but not importing goods, thus most arrivals discharged ballast water.

The growth in management rates during this study period reflects implementation of new regulations and a marginal transition from ballast water exchange to onboard treatment systems. This is noteworthy since the number and density of organisms in ballast water discharge depends on management. Ballast water exchange has been shown to have an efficacy rate of 90%, reducing mean zooplankton concentrations from 10⁴ to 10^3 organisms per cubic meter (Minton et al. 2005). Ballast water treatment systems must meet a numeric discharge limit of 10 organisms per cubic meter $\geq 50 \ \mu m$ (typical zooplankton size class) (Verna and Harris 2016). While the exact relationship between NIS introductions and successful establishment is unknown, in general greater numbers and densities of organisms and increased frequency of delivery (propagule pressure) are expected to result in greater likelihood of invasion (National Research Council 2011). Orders of magnitude reduction in organism concentrations between unmanaged, exchanged, and treated ballast water will have a large impact on NIS introductions across the range of scenarios and ballast water discharge volumes explored here.

The variation in source region between tankers and bulkers is striking in its potential to effect NIS introductions and survival, as well as surveillance siting and design. The type and abundance of organisms in ballast water uptake is influenced by location and seasonality, while survival in recipient ports is dependent on environmental match between locations (Casas-Monroy et al. 2015; Seebens et al. 2016). Tankers primarily sourced ballast water from invaded west coast port systems containing species

shown to survive in Alaskan waters, including Port Valdez (Ruiz et al. 2011; Hines and Ruiz 2000). Bulker ballast water from Asian countries is likely to have less similarity to high latitude ports such as Red Dog, though further study is needed to assess the species source pool and risk from these vessels to lower latitude ports. Moreover, bulkers that originated in overseas ports tended to have higher rates of management than coastal tankers, further reducing likelihood of NIS introduction.

Commercial vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge were often concentrated in a few regions and ports within the state (Figure 3.4). These patterns of arrivals and ballast water effectively concentrated the likelihood of primary NIS introductions from ballast water to key locations driven by key industries. Prince William Sound, located in the southcentral region of the state, clearly received the largest volume of ballast water due to oil exports form Port Valdez. Thus, oil and gas is by far the leading industry to drive ballast water delivery in Alaska. New LNG exports would increase the influence of that industry, although at a new location in Cook Inlet.

Drivers of ballast water discharge and sources of uncertainty

Alaska's economy is driven largely by the extraction or use of natural resources involving seafood, mining, petroleum, timber, and tourism (Goldsmith 2010). Due to the geographic isolation of Alaska and the destinations of predominant bulk exports, maritime shipping is an important component of these economic drivers. Fluxes in ballast water delivery have been associated with, and predicted by, exports of bulk commodities derived from natural resource extraction (Cope et al. 2015; Carney et al. 2017; Holzer et al. 2017, Chapter 2). As production and export of bulk commodities from Alaska changes through time, vessel behavior and ballast water discharge may also change.

Variability in bulker vessel traffic was evident in current ports. When the Usibelli Coal Mine discontinued exports from the Seward Coal Terminal in 2016, bulker arrivals and ballast water discharge likewise ended, dramatically changing the potential NIS propagule pressure to the southcentral port of Seward. In contrast, a possible expansion of the Red Dog Mine in northwest Alaska could bring an additional 6 bulkers per year to its port for exports of zinc and other metals (Harrison 2019), well within the range of scenarios explored here. Without this expansion, bulker arrivals to the Red Dog port are expected to remain stable. The Greens Creek Mine brings bulkers to southeast Alaska for exports of silver, gold, zinc, and lead. A recent proposal to expand tailing facilities would extend the life of the mine (85 Fed. Reg. 197 2020), likely resulting in additional bulker arrivals and ballast water discharge through time, though whether the annual number or source of arrivals would differ from recent years is unclear.

Infrastructure developments and new natural resource extraction projects will affect maritime shipping, but not necessarily ballast water discharge, depending on the commodity and vessel type used for exports. Proposed mining of graphite from Graphite Creek on the Seward Peninsula in northwest Alaska would result in 60,000 metric tons of concentrate per year loaded in containers and placed on barges for transport (Harrison 2019; Durkee et al. 2021). While this project has the potential to double the number of large barges in the port of Nome (Harrison 2019), barges discharge minimal ballast water. Likewise, the proposed Donlin Gold Mine in southwest Alaska would rely on
barge traffic on the Kuskokwim River (Donlin Gold 2021). The concentrate from copper mining proposed in the Ambler district would be filled into shipping containers and sent by rail to the Port of Alaska in Anchorage for loading onto ships, likely not resulting in substantial ballast water discharge from container vessels (Staples et al. 2018). A recently authorized deep-water port in Nome would allow for nearshore large commercial vessel moorings and cargo imports to the region, rather than exports. In contrast, the proposed LNG pipeline from the North Slope of Alaska to the port of Nikiski would double the number of discharging tankers statewide and conservatively increase tanker ballast water discharge by 38%, as described in scenario 8. Prospective natural resource extraction projects will be affected by market, price, permits, technological developments, and other barriers (Northern Economics, Inc. 2011).

This approach to scenario development provides snapshots of hypothetical changes to the number of discharging tankers and bulkers. While these scenarios are grounded in potential changes from some ports (described above), they would be improved by additional data. Tonnage of bulk exports is a reliable predictor of ballast water delivery, but in absence of those data for bulk trade from Alaska, I used information collected in the NBIC to test a variety of vessel and voyage characteristics as predictors of ballast water discharge volume. The link between fluctuations in commodity production and vessel arrivals was often not considered in current industry projections or available from current export activity. For instance, the volume of crude oil throughput in the trans-Alaska pipeline declined during the study period (Alyeska Pipeline Service Company 2019), but the number of discharging tankers fluctuated through time and was

not significantly correlated, indicating that other factors such as oil price, terminal storage, or vessel size affect exports. Crude oil production on Alaska's North Slope is projected to rise through 2040 and will depend on discoveries and production in current oil fields of the National Petroleum Reserve – Alaska and possible drilling in the Alaska's Arctic National Wildlife Refuge (US Energy Information Administration 2020). It is unclear how production will influence pipeline throughput or tanker traffic. Similar uncertainties exist for the timber industry, where projections of increasing timber harvest may translate into changes in bulker traffic in southeast or Afognak Island (Daniels et al. 2016).

I assumed the relationship between the number of discharging vessels and ballast water volume would remain the same through the range of scenarios developed. There was no evidence to suggest ports in Alaska received vessels at or near capacity during the study period, nevertheless I conservatively chose 20% fluctuations in vessel arrivals in scenarios 1 through 7. Scenario 8 includes a port facility with known capacity, and I conservatively chose the median value of expected arrivals. At some point of increased commodity production and export, the number of vessels that could call at a port and the volume of ballast water delivery would reach a maximum.

Invasion opportunities

Despite the known history of shipping as an NIS vector to coastal ports in Alaska (McGee et al. 2006; Verna et al. 2016; Scianni et al. 2017), these ecosystems are relatively uninvaded compared to lower latitudes. However, high latitude ecosystems are at increasing risk of NIS introductions and range expansions. Notable marine NIS present

in Alaska include the colonial tunicates *Didemnum vexillum* (Cohen et al. 2011), *Botrylloides violaceus*, and *Botryllus schlosseri* in southeast; the clam *Mya arenaria* in southcentral (Powers et al. 2006), the amphipod *Caprella mutica* in southeast, southcentral, and the Aleutian Islands (Ashton et al. 2008), and the bryozoan *Schizoporella japonica* in southcentral (Fofonoff et al. 2021). Current habitat conditions in temperate waters ranging from southeast to the southern Bering Sea are considered suitable for other NIS to establish as well (de Rivera et al. 2011; Droghini et al. 2020). Particularly, European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*) are an encroaching threat to seagrass beds, juvenile fishes, and native crabs as their range expands northward along the Pacific coast (Grosholz et al. 2011), currently as far north as British Columbia.

Climate change may facilitate NIS introduction and establishment in Alaska and other high latitude coastal ecosystems (Cárdenas et al. 2020; Lassuy and Lewis 2013). Subarctic and arctic waters in the Bering and Chukchi Seas are experiencing dramatic change (Huntington et al. 2020), and temperature-salinity modeling indicates suitability for NIS in the Bering Sea region will move northward by mid-century (Droghini et al. 2020). An emergence of high latitude shipping is anticipated to shift current global vessel traffic patterns, bringing new NIS to the Arctic region (Miller and Ruiz 2014). The Arctic Invasive Alien Species Strategy and Action Plan developed by working groups of the Arctic Council acknowledged NIS introduction potential from shipping and ballast water in its goal to "undertake prevention and early detection/rapid response initiatives" (CAFF and PAME 2017). How exactly these changes will directly impact vessel traffic, port calls, or bulk exports in Alaska remains unknown, but increased human disturbance and

NIS vectors in the region are likely to positively influence opportunities for biological invasions. Studies such as the one described here can aid planning for new NIS monitoring locations and design.

Components of maritime shipping beyond ballast water are also important vectors of NIS. In particular, biofouling on vessel hulls and niche areas is a leading source of NIS introductions to aquatic ecosystems (Williams et al. 2013). The likelihood of introductions from biofouling depends on factors such as when and how frequently the underwater surface of the vessel is cleaned and vessel residence times in source and recipient ports (Davidson et al. 2016). Given the increase in commercial vessel arrivals to Alaska from 2009-2018, and anticipated additional growth described above, a biosecurity assessment of these vessels would reveal potential risks or hotspots for managers. Moreover, segments of maritime traffic not captured by the NBIC, notably fishing vessels and transient recreational vessels, may also introduce NIS (Ashton et al. 2014; Droghini et al. 2020). Many fishing vessels, barges, and docks travel or are transported solely between ports or places within Alaska, increasing the possibility of secondary invasions (Vander Zanden and Olden 2008), though more work is needed to assess the risk of intrastate vessel traffic.

Conclusions

Global maritime trade is well known to influence ballast water transfer and invasion dynamics, shaped by the unique behavior of vessel types and exports of bulk commodities (Hulme 2009; Ruiz et al. 1997; Sardain et al. 2019). Here I quantified potential fluxes in ballast water discharge volume under scenarios of tanker and bulker

traffic in Alaska and qualitatively describe how fluxes in natural resource extraction and exports may impact vessel traffic. Faced with uncertainty about future trade dynamics, scenario development represents possible and feasible outcomes that can inform research and management. For example, the source location and management rates of ballast water is an indication of NIS type and abundance. Those factors can be used to target species for monitoring in ports that export bulk goods. Future studies can assess the likelihood of NIS survival between source and recipient ports under current and changing abiotic conditions.

Modeling existing and future NIS introduction dynamics with respect to trade is foundational to biosecurity, prevention, and early detection planning. Climate change has the potential to affect natural resources, infrastructure development, and maritime shipping in Alaska (Berman & Schmidt 2019), influencing likelihood of NIS establishment. I recommend continued evaluation of NIS vectors and their economic drivers in high latitude systems. Furthermore, implementation and oversight of preventative management practices, particularly among vessels sourcing ballast water in high risk locations, is critical to reducing NIS introductions to Alaska and other places.

Tables

Table 3.1. Modeled ballast water discharge volume

Projected median volumes and 95% prediction intervals (MMT) of ballast water from tankers and bulkers as the number of discharging vessel arrivals decreases or increases from 10%-50% of the lowest or highest number of arrivals from 2009-2018. The number of discharging vessels when percent change is zero indicates the mean number of vessels from 2009-2018.

	Tanker				Bulker			
Percent change	Number of vessels	Ballast water volume	Lower limit	Upper limit	Number of vessels	Ballast water volume	Lower limit	Upper limit
-50%	130	9.43	8.14	10.72	26	0.46	0.29	0.64
-40%	156	9.84	8.74	10.94	31	0.53	0.37	0.70
-30%	182	10.24	9.32	11.16	36	0.60	0.45	0.76
-20%	208	10.65	9.90	11.40	41	0.67	0.53	0.82
-10%	234	11.06	10.46	11.65	46	0.74	0.60	0.88
0	288	11.90	11.48	12.32	71	1.09	0.97	1.21
+10%	351	12.88	12.24	13.52	97	1.45	1.31	1.59
+20%	383	13.38	12.54	14.23	106	1.58	1.42	1.73
+30%	415	13.88	12.82	14.95	114	1.69	1.52	1.86
+40%	447	14.38	13.09	15.68	123	1.81	1.63	2.00
+50%	479	14.88	13.35	16.41	132	1.94	1.73	2.14

Table 3.2. Scenarios

Eight hypothetical fluctuations in the number of tanker and bulker arrivals that discharge ballast water in Alaska. 'Stable' refers to the mean number of discharging vessels from 2009-2018.

Scenario	Tanker	Bulker
1	-20%	-20%
2	-20%	Stable
3	Stable	-20%
4	Stable	Stable
5	Stable	+20%
6	+20%	Stable
7	+20%	+20%
8	Stable + new exports	Stable

Figures









The number of arrivals of each vessel type that discharged ballast water (BW) in Alaska, 2009-2018.



Figure 3.3. Annual ballast water discharge by vessel type

Annual ballast water discharge from tankers and bulkers in Alaska, 2009-2018. Tankers and bulkers discharged 99% of the volume of ballast water received statewide (tankers – 91%, bulkers – 8%).



Figure 3.4. Spatial arrivals and ballast water discharge

Relative (A) arrivals and (B) ballast water discharge by vessel type to ports and places in Alaska from 2009-2018. Arrivals are shown for only locations that received at least 10 cumulative vessels. Ballast water is shown for only locations that received at least 100,000 metric tons. Ballast water discharge is shown from tankers and bulkers only (99% of total volume). GC = general cargo; MMT = million metric tons.





Annual volume of ballast water (BW) discharge to Alaska that was reported managed and unmanaged, 2009-2018. More than half of annual discharge was reported managed for the first time in 2015, improving to 70% by 2018.





Projected ballast water discharge volume with 95% prediction intervals in eight scenarios of decreasing and increasing numbers of discharging tankers and bulkers in Alaska.

Acknowledgements

Funding was provided by a North Pacific Research Board Graduate Student Research Award in May 2019 and the Alaska Education Tax Credit contributed by the Groundfish Forum to the Fisheries, Aquatic Science, and Technology Laboratory at Alaska Pacific University. Thank you to Jim Muirhead, Suresh Sethi, and Brad Harris for discussion and insight into model development.

References

85 Fed. Reg. 197. 2020. "Greens Creek Mine North Extension Project."

- Alyeska Pipeline Service Company. 2019. "Trans Alaska Pipeline Systems." Alyeska Fact Book. https://www.alyeska-pipe.com/TAPS/PipelineFacts.
- Ashton, Gail, Ian Davidson, and Gregory Ruiz. 2014. "Transient Small Boats as a Long-Distance Coastal Vector for Dispersal of Biofouling Organisms." Estuaries and Coasts 37 (6): 1572–81. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12237-014-9782-9.
- Ashton, Gv, Ei Riedlecker, and Gm Ruiz. 2008. "First Non-Native Crustacean Established in Coastal Waters of Alaska." Aquatic Biology 3: 133–37. https://doi.org/10.3354/ab00070.
- Bailey, Sarah A. 2015. "An Overview of Thirty Years of Research on Ballast Water as a Vector for Aquatic Invasive Species to Freshwater and Marine Environments." Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18 (3): 261–68. https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2015.1027129.
- CAFF and PAME. 2017. "Arctic Invasive Alien Species: Strategy and Action Plan, Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna and Protection of the Arctic Marine Environment." Akureyri, Iceland. ISBN: 978-9935-431-65-3.
- Cárdenas, Leyla, Jean-Charles Leclerc, Paulina Bruning, Ignacio Garrido, Camille Détrée, Alvaro Figueroa, Marcela Astorga, et al. 2020. "First Mussel Settlement Observed in Antarctica Reveals the Potential for Future Invasions." Scientific Reports 10 (1): 5552. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-62340-0.

- Carney, Katharine J., Mark S. Minton, Kimberly K. Holzer, A. Whitman Miller, Linda D. McCann, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2017. "Evaluating the Combined Effects of Ballast Water Management and Trade Dynamics on Transfers of Marine Organisms by Ships." PLOS ONE 12 (3): e0172468. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0172468.
- Casas-Monroy, Oscar, Robert D. Linley, Jennifer K. Adams, Farrah T. Chan, D. Andrew
 R. Drake, and Sarah A. Bailey. 2015. "Relative Invasion Risk for Plankton across
 Marine and Freshwater Systems: Examining Efficacy of Proposed International
 Ballast Water Discharge Standards." PLOS ONE 10 (3): e0118267.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118267.
- Chan, Farrah T., Keara Stanislawczyk, Anna C. Sneekes, Alexander Dvoretsky, Stephan Gollasch, Dan Minchin, Matej David, Anders Jelmert, Jon Albretsen, and Sarah A. Bailey. 2019. "Climate Change Opens New Frontiers for Marine Species in the Arctic: Current Trends and Future Invasion Risks." Global Change Biology 25 (1): 25–38. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.14469.
- Chapman, Daniel, Bethan V. Purse, Helen E. Roy, and James M. Bullock. 2017. "Global Trade Networks Determine the Distribution of Invasive Non-Native Species"
 Global Ecology and Biogeography 26 (8): 907–17. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12599.
- Cohen, C. Sarah, Linda McCann, Tammy Davis, Linda Shaw, and Gregory Ruiz. 2011. "Discovery and Significance of the Colonial Tunicate Didemnum Vexillum in Alaska." Aquatic Invasions 6 (3): 263–71. https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2011.6.3.03.

- Cope, Robert C., Thomas A. A. Prowse, Joshua V. Ross, Talia A. Wittmann, and Phillip Cassey. 2015. "Temporal Modelling of Ballast Water Discharge and Ship-Mediated Invasion Risk to Australia." Royal Society Open Science 2 (4): 150039. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.150039.
- Daniels, Jean M., Michael D. Paruszkiewicz, and Susan J. Alexander. 2016. "Tongass National Forest Timber Demand: Projections for 2015 to 2030." PNW-GTR-934.
 Portland, OR: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station. https://doi.org/10.2737/PNW-GTR-934.
- Davidson, Ian C., Christopher Scianni, Mark S. Minton, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2018. "A History of Ship Specialization and Consequences for Marine Invasions, Management and Policy." Journal of Applied Ecology 55 (4): 1799–1811. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13114.
- Davidson, Ian, Christopher Scianni, Chad Hewitt, Richard Everett, Eric Holm, Mario
 Tamburri, and Gregory Ruiz. 2016. "Mini-Review: Assessing the Drivers of Ship
 Biofouling Management Aligning Industry and Biosecurity Goals." Biofouling
 32 (4): 411–28. https://doi.org/10.1080/08927014.2016.1149572.
- Donlin Gold. 2021. Shipping to the Mine. 2021. https://donlingold.com/.
- Droghini, A, A S Fischbach, J T Watson, and J P Reimer. 2020. "Regional Ocean Models Indicate Changing Limits to Biological Invasions in the Bering Sea." ICES Journal of Marine Science 77 (3): 964–74.

https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsaa014.

- Durkee, Jack, Bethany Johnson, Michaela Stith, Taylor Holshouser, and Taylor Poole. 2021. "Arctic Infrastructure Inventory." Wilson Center. https://arcticinfrastructure.wilsoncenter.org/.
- Epanchin-Niell, Rebecca S. 2017. "Economics of Invasive Species Policy and Management." Biological Invasions 19 (11): 3333–54. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-017-1406-4.
- Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, (FERC). 2020. "Alaska LNG Project Final Environmental Impact Statement." FERC Docket No. CP17-178-000. Volume 1 of 3.
- Fofonoff, PW, GM Ruiz, B Steves, C Simkanin, and JT Carlton. 2021. "NEMESIS: National Exotic Marine and Estuarine Species Information System." 2021. https://invasions.si.edu/nemesis/.
- Goldsmith, Scott. 2010. "REVISED Structural Analysis of the Alaska Economy: What Are the Drivers?," 145.
- Grosholz, Edwin, Sabrina Lovell, Elena Besedin, and Marilyn Katz. 2011. "Modeling the Impacts of the European Green Crab on Commercial Shellfisheries." Ecological Applications 21 (3): 915–24. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1657.1.
- Harrison, Sarah CTR (CMTS). 2019. "A Ten-Year Projection of Maritime Activity in the U.S. Arctic Region, 2020–2030," 153.
- Hines, AH, and GM Ruiz. 2000. "Biological Invasions of Cold-Water Coastal
 Ecosystems: Ballast-Mediated Introductions in Port Valdez / Prince William
 Sound, Alaska." Chapter 4. Predicting Initial Survival of Ballast Water

Organisms. Final Project Report Presented to Regional Citizens' Advisory Council of Prince William Sound.

Holzer, Kimberly K., Jim R. Muirhead, Mark S. Minton, Katharine J. Carney, A.
Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2017. "Potential Effects of LNG Trade Shift on Transfer of Ballast Water and Biota by Ships." Science of The Total Environment 580 (February): 1470–74.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.12.125.

- Hulme, Philip E. 2009. "Trade, Transport and Trouble: Managing Invasive Species Pathways in an Era of Globalization." Journal of Applied Ecology 46 (1): 10–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01600.x.
- Huntington, Henry P., Raychelle Daniel, Andrew Hartsig, Kevin Harun, Marilyn
 Heiman, Rosa Meehan, George Noongwook, et al. 2015. "Vessels, Risks, and
 Rules: Planning for Safe Shipping in Bering Strait." Marine Policy 51: 119–27.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2014.07.027.
- Huntington, Henry P., Seth L. Danielson, Francis K. Wiese, Matthew Baker, Peter Boveng, John J. Citta, Alex De Robertis, et al. 2020. "Evidence Suggests Potential Transformation of the Pacific Arctic Ecosystem Is Underway." Nature Climate Change 10 (4): 342–48. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-0695-2.
- Lassuy, Dennis R, and Patrick N Lewis. 2013. "Invasive Species: Human-Induced." Arctic Biodiversity Assessment: Status and Trends in Arctic Biodiversity, Conservation of Arctic Flora and Fauna. Akureyri, Iceland.

- Mahanes, Samuel A., and Cascade J. B. Sorte. 2019. "Impacts of Climate Change on Marine Species Invasions in Northern Hemisphere High-Latitude Ecosystems."
 Frontiers of Biogeography 11 (1). https://doi.org/10.21425/F5FBG40527.
- McGee, Steven, Robert Piorkowski, and Gregory Ruiz. 2006. "Analysis of Recent Vessel Arrivals and Ballast Water Discharge in Alaska: Toward Assessing Ship-Mediated Invasion Risk." Marine Pollution Bulletin 52 (12): 1634–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.06.005.
- Miller, A. Whitman, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2014. "Arctic Shipping and Marine Invaders." Nature Climate Change 4 (6): 413–16. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2244.
- Minton, Mark S., Emma Verling, A Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2005.
 "Reducing Propagule Supply and Coastal Invasions via Ships: Effects of Emerging Strategies." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3 (6): 304–8. https://doi.org/10.1890/1540-9295(2005)003[0304:RPSACI]2.0.CO;2.
- Minton, Mark S., A. Whitman Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2015. "15 Implications of Ship Type on Delivery and Management of Ballast Water." In Biological Invasions in Changing Ecosystems, edited by João Canning-Clode. Warsaw, Poland: De Gruyter Open. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783110438666-021.
- Mooney, H. A., and E. E. Cleland. 2001. "The Evolutionary Impact of Invasive Species." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 98 (10): 5446–51. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.091093398.

- Muirhead, Jim R., Mark S. Minton, Whitman A. Miller, and Gregory M. Ruiz. 2015.
 "Projected Effects of the Panama Canal Expansion on Shipping Traffic and Biological Invasions." Diversity and Distributions 21 (1): 75–87. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12260.
- National Ballast Information Clearinghouse. 2019. "NBIC Online Database. Electronic Publication, Smithsonian Environmental Research Center & United States Coast Guard." Smithsonian Environmental Research Center.

https://doi.org/10.5479/data.serc.nbic.

- National Research Council. 2011. Assessing the Relationship Between Propagule Pressure and Invasion Risk in Ballast Water. Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/13184.
- Northern Economics, Inc. 2011. "Alaska's Regional Ports. Prepared for U.S. Army Corps of Engineers Alaska District and Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities." 244 pages.
- Powers, Sean P., Mary Anne Bishop, Jonathan H. Grabowski, and Charles H. Peterson. 2006. "Distribution of the Invasive Bivalve Mya Arenaria L. on Intertidal Flats of Southcentral Alaska." Journal of Sea Research 55 (3): 207–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.seares.2005.10.004.
- Rivera, Catherine E. de, Brian P. Steves, Paul W. Fofonoff, Anson H. Hines, and GregoryM. Ruiz. 2011. "Potential for High-Latitude Marine Invasions along WesternNorth America: High Latitudes Susceptible to Marine Invasion." Diversity and

Distributions 17 (6): 1198–1209. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2011.00790.x.

- Ruiz, Gregory M., James T. Carlton, Edwin D. Grosholz, and Anson H. Hines. 1997.
 "Global Invasions of Marine and Estuarine Habitats by Non-Indigenous Species: Mechanisms, Extent, and Consequences." American Zoologist 37 (6): 621–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/icb/37.6.621.
- Ruiz, Gregory M., Paul W. Fofonoff, Brian Steves, Stephen F. Foss, and Sharon N.
 Shiba. 2011. "Marine Invasion History and Vector Analysis of California: A
 Hotspot for Western North America: Marine Invasion History for Western North
 America." Diversity and Distributions 17 (2): 362–73.
 https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2011.00742.x.
- Sardain, Anthony, Erik Sardain, and Brian Leung. 2019. "Global Forecasts of Shipping Traffic and Biological Invasions to 2050." Nature Sustainability 2 (4): 274–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0245-y.
- Scianni, Chris, Maurya Falkner, and Lisa DeBruyckere. 2017. "Biofouling in the U.S. Pacific States and British Columbia."

https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.27403.69924.

- Seebens, H., M. T. Gastner, and B. Blasius. 2013. "The Risk of Marine Bioinvasion Caused by Global Shipping." Edited by Franck Courchamp. Ecology Letters 16 (6): 782–90. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12111.
- Seebens, Hanno, Nicole Schwartz, Peter J. Schupp, and Bernd Blasius. 2016. "Predicting the Spread of Marine Species Introduced by Global Shipping." Proceedings of the

National Academy of Sciences 113 (20): 5646–51.

https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524427113.

- Spalding, Mark D., Helen E. Fox, Gerald R. Allen, Nick Davidson, Zach A. Ferdaña, Max Finlayson, Benjamin S. Halpern, et al. 2007. "Marine Ecoregions of the World: A Bioregionalization of Coastal and Shelf Areas." BioScience 57 (7): 573–83. https://doi.org/10.1641/B570707.
- Staples, P, J Hannon, AP Romero, B Davis, JJ DiMarchi, JB Austin, R Sim, C Boese, B Murphy, and T Sharp. 2018. "Trilogy Metals Inc. Arctic Project, Northwest Alaska, USA NI 43-101 Technical Report on Pre-Feasibility Study." Vancouver, BC.
- US Energy Information Administration, (USEIA). 2020. "Annual Energy Outlook 2020 with Projections to 2050." Washington, D.C. https://www.eia.gov/aeo.
- Vander Zanden, M. Jake, and Julian D. Olden. 2008. "A Management Framework for Preventing the Secondary Spread of Aquatic Invasive Species." Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences 65 (7): 1512–22. https://doi.org/10.1139/F08-099.
- Verling, Emma, Gregory M Ruiz, L. David Smith, Bella Galil, A. Whitman Miller, and Kathleen R Murphy. 2005. "Supply-Side Invasion Ecology: Characterizing Propagule Pressure in Coastal Ecosystems." Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 272 (1569): 1249–57.

https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3090.

- Verna, Danielle E., and Bradley P. Harris. 2016. "Review of Ballast Water Management Policy and Associated Implications for Alaska." Marine Policy 70: 13–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2016.04.024.
- Verna, Danielle, Bradley Harris, Kimberly Holzer, and Mark Minton. 2016. "Ballast-Borne Marine Invasive Species: Exploring the Risk to Coastal Alaska, USA." Management of Biological Invasions 7 (2): 199–211. https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2016.7.2.08.
- Westphal, Michael I., Michael Browne, Kathy MacKinnon, and Ian Noble. 2008. "The Link between International Trade and the Global Distribution of Invasive Alien Species." Biological Invasions 10 (4): 391–98. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-007-9138-5.
- Williams, S. L., I. C. Davidson, J. R. Pasari, Gail V. Ashton, James T. Carlton, R. E. Crafton, R. E. Fontana, et al. 2013. "Managing Multiple Vectors for Marine Invasions in an Increasingly Connected World." BioScience 63 (12): 952–66. https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2013.63.12.8.

Chapter 4

A decision tree analysis of nonindigenous species risk from ballast water to the lower Columbia River and Oregon coast, USA

This chapter has been published with the following citation: Verna DE, Rueb RR, Gantz CA, Gala JT, Green J, Zalusky JA, Hooff, R. 2018. A decision tree analysis of nonindigenous species risk from ballast water to the lower Columbia River and Oregon coast, USA. Management of Biological Invasions 9: 309-321. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2018.9.3.13</u>

Abstract

Hazard characterization and risk assessment are commonly used to prioritize vectors of nonindigenous species (NIS) for inspection or other prevention opportunities. Commercial shipping vessels are a target of such vector-based management since ballast water has been known to transport NIS between aquatic ecosystems globally. Here we used a risk-based screening protocol to prioritize vessels discharging ballast water to the lower Columbia River and Oregon coast. We began by adapting established methods of assessing risk factors that influence the initial stages of the invasion process (arrival and survival). We created relative risk scales for each factor using data collected from vessels that discharged ballast water in three unique zones within our study area. We then organized a decision tree based on the confidence level of the proxies used for each risk factor to create a tool that prioritizes vessels with high risk ballast water for attention from regulatory personnel. In order of consideration, decision tree factors included: intent to discharge ballast water, reported adherence to required management practices, environmental distance between source and discharge locations (habitat suitability), ballast water discharge volume (propagule pressure number and frequency), and ballast water age (organism viability). As a result, vessels were prioritized on a scale of low,

medium, medium-high, or high. We applied the decision tree to a 2016 dataset of vessel arrivals and found that 173 of 1,592 arrivals were deemed high priority, with most occurring at ports in the freshwater zone of the Columbia River (158), followed by fewer in the estuarine zone of the Columbia River (4) and in Coos Bay (11). The decision tree is transferable to NIS prevention and regulatory efforts in other port systems. The vessel prioritizations are adaptable for managers using risk assessment strategies to allocate limited regulatory program resources for vector screening.

Introduction

Globalization contributes to the intentional and unintentional transport of nonindigenous species (NIS). Consequently, biological invasions occur as NIS establish and spread into novel environments (Hulme 2009). Vectors such as commercial shipping, recreational boating, and aquaculture have emerged as leading contributors over time (Carlton and Geller 1993; Murray et al. 2014; Williams et al. 2015). Strategies for managing these and other vectors with an aim to limit NIS introductions have become common and progressively more rigorous (Ojaveer et al. 2014; Lodge et al. 2016). However, unintentional introductions from persistent vectors continue to pose a management challenge given the scope of global trade, limited resources allocated to prevention and early detection/rapid response measures, and the variety of probable NIS connected through a web of primary and secondary pathways (Simberloff et al. 2013).

Complete restriction of unintentional NIS transfer is neither practical nor cost effective (Costello and McAusland 2003), and therefore management depends upon

voluntary or regulatory measures that reduce risk of uptake, transport, introduction, and/or establishment. A common approach to characterizing NIS risk is the absolute or relative measurement of threats posed by each vector (Mandrak and Cudmore 2015). The factors that influence risk are identified from a foundation of ecological theory and defined by the traits of the vector itself. Many threat assessments of unintentional introductions are designed with consideration that the initial stages of the invasion process, arrival and survival, are prerequisite to the subsequent stages of establishment and spread (Herborg et al. 2007; Casas-Monroy et al. 2015). It follows that an analysis of risk factors at these initial stages provides a reasonable starting point for identifying high risk vectors and selecting mitigation techniques (Heger and Trepl 2003; Lodge et al. 2016).

Critical factors for evaluating species arrival and survival in a new environment are habitat suitability and propagule pressure (Hayes 1998; Kolar and Lodge 2001). Habitat suitability is commonly quantified as environmental similarity, whereby abiotic parameters are measured in the source and recipient ranges to determine likelihood of survival following release to the receiving environment (Keller et al. 2011; Seebens et al. 2016). Environmental similarity is also the most effective way to determine whether large numbers of species will survive in a novel environment, as single species ecological modeling requires extensive resources and a priori assumptions of which species pose high risk (Barry et al. 2008). Propagule pressure consists of the number or density of individuals, the frequency of releases, and the viability of organisms (Simberloff 2009). As the number of individuals or the number of release events increases, propagule

pressure and the likelihood of invasion also increases (Lockwood et al. 2005). The importance of considering propagule pressure in invasion success is well supported (Verling et al. 2005; Colautti et al. 2006; NRC 2011; Britton and Gozlan 2013), even though there is uncertainty associated with the shape of the dose-response relationship for NIS (Ruiz and Carlton 2003; David et al. 2015). Viability strongly affects likelihood of invasion success, which cannot occur unless organisms survive the voyage between source and release locations (Carlton 1996). Organisms that are viable upon release may establish self-sustaining populations that subsequently spread (Gollasch et al. 2000a). Thus, NIS viability is also an important risk factor to consider when assessing potential threat of invasion (Kang et al. 2010).

The management of ballast water from commercial shipping vessels stands out as an example of effective application of risk reduction measures. Ballast water routinely transports organisms between novel locations and the factors that influence NIS introduction likelihood in coastal waters are common across vessels and ports (Seebens et al. 2013). Efforts to manage the ballast water vector have focused on reducing the number and viability of organisms entrained in ballast water tanks and conveyed between port systems. The predominant management strategy has relied upon ballast water exchange, wherein ballast water sourced from nearshore is replaced with open ocean water. This practice decreases coastal organism density and alters the ambient salinity inside the tank to reduce likelihood of survival (Molina and Drake 2016). Recent regulatory developments aim to achieve far greater reductions in organisms discharged per unit volume by employing ballast water management systems based on chemical, ultraviolet, filtration, or other treatment methods (Tsolaki and Diamadopoulos 2009).

In the United States, commercial vessels are subject to federal ballast water management regulations (i.e., United States Coast Guard and Environmental Protection Agency) as well as management requirements specific to some states (Albert et al. 2013). State ballast water programs operate with the goal of protecting against NIS while considering the specific ballast water management options, traffic patterns, and environmental conditions within their jurisdictions. For example, in the state of Oregon, the Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) conducts pre-arrival screening of commercial shipping as well as vessel inspections and enforcement (Oregon DEQ 2016). Both federal and state agencies typically require vessels to maintain a ballast water management plan and record book. Ballast water activities are reported on standardized forms that contain the locations, volumes, and dates of ballast water source, management, and discharge (NBIC 2017). Data from these reports may be used to analyze long-term trends and to identify voyage-specific factors that contribute to NIS introduction risk; they may also be used for compliance verification screening.

Reporting and inspections are tools often employed by regulatory agencies to ensure compliance with regulations and to track program efficacy. Ballast water inspections by federal and/or local authorities may be routine or prompted by concerns raised from ballast water reports, such as missing or incomplete data or elevated risk factors discussed in detail here. Due to limited resources, most regulatory jurisdictions are unable to inspect and conduct compliance verification sampling on all vessel arrivals.

Therefore, it is important to target limited inspection resources on vessel arrivals that pose greater threat of introducing NIS.

Here we applied established methods of assessing risk factors to the development of a tool that meets the needs of resource-limited prevention programs engaged in vector screening. Previous vector-based studies on the risk of NIS from ballast water have identified or used similar proxies for risk factors associated with species arrival and survival (e.g., Keller et al. 2011; Chan et al. 2013; Seebens et al. 2013; Ware et al. 2015; Verna et al. 2016). We relied on Keller et al.'s (2011) approach to approximating environmental similarity with a global dataset of parameters and adapted Verna et al.'s (2016) approach to approximating propagule pressure number and viability. We arranged the risk factors into a decision tree designed to identify high risk ballast water and prioritize boarding and inspection effort for commercial vessels based on relative NIS threat. Our study area on the lower Columbia River and Oregon coast serves as a case study of applying these methods by creating unique relative risk scales with data collected from local commercial vessel traffic. The application of these methods is adaptable to NIS prevention in other ports and can be beneficial to programs lacking formalized risk assessment frameworks.

Methods

Data and study area

Ballast water data were provided by the Oregon DEQ for the period January– December 2016. Oregon DEQ regulates ballast water discharge and collects data from

commercial vessels greater than 300 gross tons that are equipped with ballast water tanks (foreign and domestic). Vessel operators reported to Oregon DEQ 24 hours prior to arrival in state waters using the federal ballast water reporting form (OMB 1625-0069). Data were manually entered from this form into a DEQ Microsoft Access database and standardized for consistency of port names (vessels may report e.g., for Portland, Oregon: Portland, OR; PORTLAND OR; Portland O.R.) and conversion to metric units. When multiple tanks on a vessel contained similarly sourced, managed, and discharged ballast water, those data were entered as one record with a combined ballast water volume. When ballast water characteristics differed across a vessel's tanks, those data were entered separately. Each vessel was assigned a unique arrival identification number.

The primary ports in Oregon for arriving commercial vessels are within freshwater zones of the lower Willamette and Columbia Rivers near Portland, as well as estuarine zones of the lower Columbia River at Astoria and on the southern Oregon coast at Coos Bay (Figure 4.1). All vessels destined for Columbia River ports in Washington transit through Oregon waters and are therefore regulated under Oregon DEQ reporting requirements and are included here.

Risk factors

We used established risk factors that influence the initial stages of the invasion process (arrival and survival): environmental similarity between source and discharge port and propagule pressure (number, frequency, and organism viability) (Hayes and Hewitt 2000). Using the Oregon DEQ dataset, we assessed these factors individually and in order of the associated confidence levels of their proxies before applying them to a decision tree.

Although a variety of bioregional factors can influence invasion potential, only temperature and salinity measurements were included in our analysis of environmental similarity as these are generally predictive of species' ability to survive and are broadly available at a global scale (Barry et al. 2008). Environmental parameters including mean temperature of the warmest month, mean temperature of the coldest month, mean annual temperature, and a single salinity value were obtained from Keller et al. (2011) for 6,651 ports globally. Keller et al. (2011) obtained surface water temperature and salinity values through direct measurement, the World Ocean Atlas, or by utilizing a generalized additive regression model to interpolate missing values from measured data for freshwater and estuarine locations. We supplemented the global dataset with observed temperature and salinity data for the Columbia River freshwater and estuarine zones (Center for Coastal Margin Observation and Prediction 2017) and the Coos Bay estuarine zone (South Slough National Estuarine Research Reserve 2017). The four environmental parameters in each zone were standardized with a Z-transformation. Due to the differences in salinity between freshwater and estuarine zones, we created a Euclidian distance model for three distinct regions (focus ports):

The distance between ports in a freshwater zone of the Columbia River (i.e.
 Portland, Clatskanie, Kalama, Longview, Rainier, St. Helens, Vancouver) and the remaining 6,644 global ports;

(2) The distance between the estuarine port zone of the Columbia River (i.e. Astoria and surrounding waters) and the remaining global ports;

(3) The distance between the estuarine zone at Coos Bay and the remaining global ports.

Ballast water reported as sourced and discharged between our focus ports was rare (0.4% of the total volume) and was considered low risk. Ballast water sourced from an oceanic location (i.e. an open ocean location greater than 200 nautical miles from shore) was also considered low risk. Non-specific coastal source locations (e.g., "coastal Japan") and unreported locations were considered high risk. The resulting environmental distance scores (range 0.6–4.1 for relevant source ports where lower numbers indicate increased similarity) were used to create a five-category risk scale of very low (> 4), low (> 3–4), medium (> 2–3), high (> 1–2), or very high (\leq 1) (Keller et al. 2011) (Table 4.1). We assumed a high level of confidence in the use of temperature and salinity as a proxy for habitat suitability due to widespread use in similar assessments (Chan et al. 2013; Ware et al. 2013; Casas-Monroy et al. 2015).

Given the importance of propagule pressure to invasion success but due to the lack of assessment on the relationship between propagule number and frequency we addressed these components independently. Ballast water discharge volume was used as a proxy for propagule number given the high degree of variability in density of organisms or species richness in ballast water tanks (Chan et al. 2013). Although it is not a direct measure (Drake et al. 2015), ballast water volume data are readily available and provide a better estimate of propagule pressure than number of vessel arrivals (Miller et al. 2011).

A five-category relative risk scale for propagule number was created based on the 20th, 40th, 60th, and 80th percentiles of ballast water discharge volume, rounded to the nearest hundred cubic meters for ease of analysis. Relative risk from ballast water volume was categorized as very low (< 2,000 m³), low (\geq 2,000–4,600 m³), medium (> 4,600–9,900 m^{3}), high (> 9,900-17,200 m³), or very high (> 17,200 m³) (Table 4.1). Frequency is defined by NRC (2011) as the "rate of propagule delivery per a given cohort of vessels over a given time period." We used an indirect approach to create a relative risk scale for propagule frequency based on the 20th, 40th, 60th, and 80th percentiles of the volume of ballast water discharged per month per source country or U.S. state. Relative risk from propagule frequency per source location was categorized as very low ($< 3,300 \text{ m}^3$), low $(\geq 3,300-10,600 \text{ m}^3)$, medium (> 10,600-22,400 m³), high (> 22,400-67,700 m³), or very high (> $67,700 \text{ m}^3$) (Table 4.1). We assumed a medium level of confidence in the use of ballast water volume as a proxy for propagule pressure number and frequency due to its lack of specificity in estimating organism composition and abundance with an understanding that robust biological data are often not readily available to resource managers.

Propagule pressure is also influenced by the viability of organisms upon release. Within ballast water tanks, organisms may be affected over time by physical, chemical, and biological conditions. Most studies have demonstrated a decrease in diversity and abundance of organisms with increased holding time (Cordell et al. 2009; Gollasch et al. 2000a; Klein et al. 2010), though occasionally reduced competition and predation or increased food resources can cause some taxa to flourish (Gollasch et al. 2000b) and

organisms have been known to survive for multiple weeks or even months (Gollasch et al. 2000a; Klein et al. 2010). Given the generally inverse relationship between organism survival and time in ballast water tanks, ballast water age was used as a proxy for viability (Verna et al. 2016). The age of ballast water was determined as the difference between source and discharge dates. Undetermined ages were considered high risk. Fiveday age bins (sensu Cordell et al. 2009) were used to create a five-category risk scale of very low (> 20 days), low (> 15–20 days), medium (> 10–15 days), high (> 5–10 days), or very high (1–5 days) (Table 4.1). We assumed a low level of confidence in ballast water age as a proxy for species viability given the potential for variability in species composition and fitness across and within vessels and voyages.

Decision tree

Screening-level risk assessments often use decision trees to characterize the relative threat of a species or vector (Mandrak and Cudmore 2015). Decision trees are composed of a series of questions that are typically dichotomous, where the end nodes of the tree prioritize risk level (e.g., low/medium/high; invasive/not invasive; pass/fail; further study warranted) (Kolar and Lodge 2002; Daehler et al. 2004). After the initial identification and characterization of risk factors, decision trees provide a transparent and efficient method of focusing prevention or compliance verification efforts on sources that represent the greatest threat.

The first question in the decision tree presented here (Figure 4.2) screened vessels by whether they intended to discharge ballast water, where vessels with no intent to discharge were considered low priority. The second question asked whether ballast water proposed for discharge was managed in accordance with regulatory requirements. If the vessel has not conducted required management in real time, identifying the threat during screening presents an opportunity to ensure that management takes place before noncompliant discharge occurs. Next, all vessels, regardless of ballast water management regulatory requirements, were screened through the remainder of the decision tree using data collected on ballast water characteristics. We refer to ballast water from a vessel with similar characteristics as a "parcel". Some vessels discharged ballast water with multiple parcels, (i.e., varying characteristics such as source location or discharge date). When a vessel discharged multiple parcels of ballast water, we ran multiple decision tree analyses. Vessel priority was assigned based on the highest risk parcel.

The remainder of the decision tree was hierarchically arranged according to the confidence level of the proxies used for the risk factors. The third question screened ballast water by environmental similarity (high confidence), where a risk score of 4 or 5 (low, very low) was deemed low priority and scores of 3, 2, or 1 (medium, high, or very high) called for further screening. The fourth question screened ballast water by discharge volume (medium confidence), where a risk score of 4 or 5 (low, very low) was deemed medium priority to account for the risk posed by medium–very high environmental similarity. Scores of 3, 2, or 1 (medium, high, or very high) called for screening at the final question in the decision tree, which screened ballast water by age (low confidence). A risk score of 4 or 5 (low, very low) was deemed medium-high priority to account for the medium–very high risk posed by both environmental similarity and propagule number. If the risk score was 3, 2, or 1 (medium, high, or very high), the

ballast water was considered high priority for further attention from regulatory personnel. If the ballast water discharge volume risk score was 4 or 5 but the risk score from propagule frequency (ballast water source location) was 3, 2, or 1, the ballast water was considered medium-high priority to account for the medium–very high risk posed by environmental similarity and the potential cumulative risk of several small discharges from a similar location over time.

Results

In 2016, 953 of 1,592 commercial vessel arrivals reported discharging approximately 14 million m³ of ballast water to ports within our study area of the Columbia River, lower Willamette River, and Coos Bay. Among the three zones, 173 vessel arrivals (11%) and approximately 2.4 million m³ (17%) of ballast water were identified from the decision tree process as high priority for inspection and compliance verification. The number of vessels that were prioritized for inspection was roughly distributed across months, ranging from a minimum of 10 in April to a maximum of 19 in November (mean $14 \pm SD$ 3).

Vessels discharged ballast water in the freshwater zone of the Columbia River that was sourced from 259 locations. The environmental similarity risk was high or very high for 85 of these source locations, medium for 130 locations, and low or very low for 44 locations. In the estuarine zone of the Columbia River, vessels discharged ballast water that was sourced from 20 locations. Environmental similarity risk was high for most locations (17) while the remainder (3) were low. In Coos Bay, vessels discharged
ballast water that was sourced from 28 locations. Environmental similarity risk was high or very high for 24 locations, medium for two locations, and low for two locations. Many of the medium, high, and very high risk source locations (ports) for each environmental distance model were found in countries of eastern Asia (e.g., China, Japan, South Korea, Philippines), though some locations were identified in western North America (e.g., Canada, California, Washington) (Figure 4.3).

The mean volume per parcel of ballast water discharged to the freshwater zone of the Columbia River was 8,739 (SD \pm 7,511) m³. Ballast water age per parcel ranged from zero to 442 days, though the mean age was 26 days and most was less than 30 days old. The mean volume per parcel of ballast water discharged to the estuarine zone of the Columbia River was 12,684 (SD \pm 6,448) m³ and the mean age was 22 (SD \pm 14) days. In Coos Bay, the mean volume per parcel of ballast water was 17,760 (SD \pm 6,401) m³ and the mean age was 20 (SD \pm 11) days. Ballast water that was high risk from discharge volume tended to be sourced in locations that were also high risk from environmental similarity, though the age was often low risk (Figure 4.4).

Of 1,213 vessel arrivals to the Columbia River freshwater zone, 888 discharged ballast water; the remaining 325 non-dischargers were deemed low priority. Environmental similarity risk was medium to very high for 832 of the 888 dischargers, thus an additional 56 vessels were low priority and did not proceed through the remainder of the decision tree. Risk from ballast water volume was medium to very high for 699 of the 832 vessels. Of the 133 vessels that did not proceed to the final question on ballast water age, 110 had medium to very high risk from ballast water source location

(propagule frequency) and were thus medium-high priority; the remaining 23 vessels were medium priority. Ballast water age risk was low or very low for 541 of the 699 vessels and these were additionally medium-high priority. The remaining 158 vessels had medium to very high risk ballast water age and were therefore high priority (Table 4.2). High priority vessels predominantly called on four ports in the Columbia River freshwater zone: Portland (62), Longview (41), Kalama (28), and Vancouver (24). An average of 13 (SD \pm 3.0) high priority vessels per month were identified through the decision tree for targeted inspection.

Of 328 vessel arrivals to the Columbia River estuarine zone, 22 discharged ballast water; 326 non-dischargers were low priority. Environmental similarity risk was high for most (20) discharging vessels, thus only two vessels were additionally deemed low priority. Risk from ballast water volume was medium to very high for 19 of the 20 vessels. The remaining vessel had very high risk from ballast water source location and was thus medium-high priority. Ballast water age risk was very low or low for 15 of the 19 vessels and these were also considered medium-high priority. The remaining four vessels had medium or high ballast water age risk and were high priority for inspection (Table 4.2). Astoria received high priority vessels for inspection in March, August, and November.

Of 51 vessel arrivals to Coos Bay, 47 discharged ballast water; four vessels did not discharge and were low priority. Environmental similarity risk was medium to very high for 45 of the 47 vessels, thus only two vessels were additionally deemed low priority. Risk from ballast water volume was medium to very high for 42 of the 45

vessels. The remaining three vessels had very high risk from ballast water source location and were thus medium-high priority. Ballast water age risk was very low or low for 31 of the 42 vessels and these were additionally medium-high priority. The remaining 11 vessels had medium to very high risk ballast water age and were high priority (Table 4.2). Coos Bay received vessel arrivals deemed high priority for inspection in February, March, April, August, September, and December.

Discussion

Vector management to reduce the risk of NIS introduction is a widely employed practice that can be made more robust with a standardized approach (Williams et al. 2013). Here, relative priority of vessels is determined through a decision tree that provides a basis for next-step risk management action and appropriate allocation of resources for a prevention-based regulatory program in Oregon. The screening protocol is designed to identify high risk ballast water from ships, a well-documented vector responsible for the introduction of NIS to freshwater and marine ecosystems globally. Prioritization is especially important when management agencies have limited financial resources and personnel to screen all incoming vessels.

An advantage of the decision tree is its adaptability to local agency goals and resources. Choices on how to implement the decision tree may depend on management priorities and local or regional ballast water discharge characteristics. For example, the Oregon DEQ aims to inspect 12% of vessel arrivals; the decision tree used here identified high priority vessels within the realm of available resources (Table 4.2). Individual

jurisdictions may choose to prioritize vessels as resources allow or as risk factors are deemed important. Each factor is beneficial in refining the number of prioritized vessels and the risk they pose, but defining relative risk among vessels is not necessarily dependent on answering all questions, i.e. managers may choose to only screen by environmental similarity and volume if resources are available to inspect all medium-high priority vessels. Lastly, prior inspection and compliance history have been used by management agencies to influence inspection priority. For example, vessels arriving to the states of Oregon or California are more likely to be boarded on first arrival, if they have had a prior violation, or if they have not been boarded recently (CSLC 2013).

The decision tree can also be adapted for risk analysis based on data availability. In our analysis, accuracy and format of vessel data presented a challenge to answering the questions in the decision tree. Managing agencies may choose to allocate personnel to manually standardize data across vessel reports or commit resources upfront for automation and maintenance. A further challenge was missing or incomplete data. Managers may attempt to solve this problem by contacting the vessel prior to arrival, but some data discrepancies are unavoidable. In this case, we suggest that ballast water is at least screened by environmental similarity. If these data are not available, the vessel should be considered high priority. When implementing the decision tree in real time, we suggest a monthly rolling assessment of the previous 12 months of data for the propagule pressure number and frequency risk factors to routinely account for changes in vessel patterns. Agencies could shorten or lengthen this time frame depending on the quantity and quality of data available. Computational ability may likewise be an agency limitation. If processed manually when individual vessels may discharge both high and low risk ballast water, the decision tree need only be applied until high risk ballast water is identified. If processed in an automated environment, we suggest the decision tree be applied to the entire vessel for a comprehensive assessment of risk, though a vessel with at least one high risk tank or parcel of ballast water should be considered for compliance verification or inspection. The number of high risk tanks/parcels per vessel may be further used to prioritize if necessary.

An example of method adaptability may be found at the Oregon DEQ. As of March 1, 2017, vessels that are operating an approved ballast water treatment system and source ballast water with a salinity of less than or equal to 18 parts per thousand must additionally perform ballast water exchange (Oregon DEQ 2017). The combination of ballast water exchange and treatment is expected to reduce the risk of NIS introductions to freshwater environments (Briski et al. 2015). In this scenario, the decision tree question on ballast water management would be expanded to address whether or not the vessels completed the appropriate type of management depending on source location. Vessels that source ballast water in low salinity ports may immediately become high priority based on their expected environmental similarity to Columbia River ports and their heightened requirement for management. This risk management approach is valuable for the state of Oregon's freshwater and estuarine resources given that NIS delivery from both trans-Pacific and intra-coastal ballast water has been documented in nearby Puget Sound, Washington (Lawrence and Cordell 2010), and several species of

Asian copepods have already been introduced to the Columbia River from vessels originating in California (Cordell et al. 2008; Bollens et al. 2012; Dexter et al. 2015).

In applying the decision tree to Oregon data from 2016, many vessels discharged ballast water that was deemed medium to very high risk from environmental similarity and propagule number. Considering ballast water age, therefore, was key to reducing the number of vessels prioritized for inspection to a manageable amount. However, the ballast water age proxy is associated with low confidence. Oregon DEQ may choose to restrict the number of prioritized vessels earlier in the decision tree using factors with higher confidence by only considering vessels with high or very high environmental similarity and propagule number risk (i.e. vessels deemed medium risk would not advance through the decision tree).

Agencies that are implementing prevention-based vessel inspection programs can use the results of the decision tree to inform long-term management strategies for their jurisdictions. A record of high and low risk ballast water per location may reveal patterns within each factor, e.g., ports in the Columbia River often receive environmentally similar ballast water from San Francisco Bay and southeast Asia, though of varying ages (Figure 4.4). Establishing a baseline allows managers to document spatial and temporal shifts and set acceptable levels of risk. Furthermore, documentation of relative risk among ports can aid decision making on whether and where to implement early detection/rapid response measures. For example, is a survey of the receiving waters warranted? How frequently should surveys be conducted? What NIS are likely to have been transported from ballast water source regions? Should species-specific risk

assessments be conducted? For a more robust management approach, particularly when data are lacking, expert opinion and stakeholder involvement should be solicited (Maguire 2004). Experts may provide insight into species-specific risk(s) associated with each factor. Stakeholders may provide opinions or values that would otherwise not be recognized.

A vector screening protocol such as the decision tree presented here can be standardized across port systems to encourage consistent management strategies. Standardization and collaboration may be particularly valuable amongst agencies that collect similar data such as U.S. west coast states. The data collected from pre-arrival reporting forms facilitate screening for regulatory compliance as well as identification of higher risk ballast water that may be targeted for inspection. Ballast water vessel inspection efforts have a goal of ensuring that management requirements have been adequately performed; compliance verification may include checking vessel logs, management plans, crew knowledge, or the salinity of water in a tank. Inspections are also a time to share outreach about NIS and communicate with captains and crews on prevention objectives and best management practices. Consistency of message and management tools reduces confusion and encourages transparency between regulators and industry.

Our model relies heavily on proxies to determine environmental similarity and components of propagule pressure. A more accurate measurement of environmental parameters, though perhaps difficult to obtain on a global scale, would provide a more robust assessment of environmental similarity risk. Furthermore, environmental similarity

does not account for the ability of NIS to adapt to conditions outside of those encountered in their native habitat. We note, however, that we do not use species-specific tolerance levels for temperature and salinity as this is a vector-based assessment where many species have the potential to be introduced. Likewise, our approach to propagule pressure frequency assumes species assemblages throughout a country or state present uniform risk and that risk is cumulative over a given time frame (e.g., one month). When available, an ecoregion or port-specific list of known NIS may increase the resolution of risk from particular species (Molnar et al. 2008; Verna et al. 2016). However, here we collectively allow for both native species and NIS to be considered possible invaders sourced throughout a broad spatial range. The frequency measurement is not intended to identify high risk species but rather to proxy a component of propagule pressure, and can be spatially and temporally adjusted as data allow. Lastly, the risk categories assume a linear increase in risk. Less arbitrary category divisions based on empirical data are needed and would substantially strengthen the assessment of risk from environmental similarity and propagule pressure.

Risk assessment provides an opportunity to intersect science and real time management. First, risk is broken into components to encourage practical measurements, calculations, and data collection, ideally reducing uncertainty (Hayes 1998). Second, the risk components are incorporated into a screening protocol such as a decision tree. Third, agency personnel use the decision tree as a tool to streamline decision making for risk management. Regular acknowledgement of uncertainties and adaptability will result in continuous program development and improved efficiency of resource allocation. As NIS

continue to pose a threat to terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems, management tools such as the decision tree presented here can help reduce vector-based risk of introductions.

Tables

Table 4.1. Risk factors and scales

Risk factors and five-category risk scales for ballast water discharged to ports of the Columbia River and coastal Oregon (USA), January–December 2016. See Methods for a description of relative risk scales. The final column represents the confidence level of the proxy used for each risk factor.

	Very Low (5)	Low Medium High Ver (4) (3) (2) (1)		Very High (1)	Confidence Level	
Habitat suitability: Environmental distance	>4	> 3-4	> 2-3	> 1-2	≤1	High
Propagule number: Volume (m ³)	< 2,000	≥2,000- 4,600	> 4,600– 9,900	> 9,900– 17,200	> 17,200	Medium
Propagule frequency: (m ³ /month/source location)	< 3,300	≥3,300– 10,600	> 10,600– 22,400	> 22,400– 67,700	> 67,700	Medium
Organism viability: Age (days)	> 20	> 15–20	> 10–15	> 5-10	1–5	Low

Table 4.2. Vessel prioritization

Vessel prioritizations based on a decision tree analysis of ballast water risk factors for introducing NIS to ports of the Columbia River and coastal Oregon (USA), January–December 2016. Percentages represent proportion of arrivals in each zone.

	Columbia River freshwater zone	Columbia River estuarine zone	Coos Bay estuarine zone	All zones	
Arrivals	1213	328	51	1592	
Low priority	381 (31.4%)	308 (93.9%)	6 (11.7%)	695 (43.7%)	
Low priority (not discharging)	325	306 4		635	
Low priority (environmental similarity risk)	56	2 2		60	
Medium priority	23 (1.9%)	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	23 (1.4%)	
Medium-high priority	651 (53.7%)	16 (4.9%)	34 (66.7%)	701 (44.0%)	
Medium-high priority (environmental similarity and volume risk)	541	15	31	587	
Medium-high priority (environmental similarity and frequency risk)	110	1	1 3		
High priority	158 (13.0%)	4 (1.2%) 11 (21.6%)		173 (10.9%)	

Figures





Primary estuarine and freshwater ports of the Columbia River and coastal Oregon (USA) that receive ballast water from commercial vessels.



Figure 4.2. Decision tree

A decision tree to prioritize vessel arrivals as low, medium, medium-high, or high priority for further attention from regulatory personnel based on the characteristics of ballast water discharge.



Figure 4.3. Environmental similarity risk of ballast water

The environmental similarity risk and source locations of ballast water that was discharged to (A) the freshwater zone of the Columbia River (including the ports of Portland, OR, Kalama, WA, Longview, WA, Vancouver, WA), (B) the estuarine zone of the lower Columbia River (including the port of Astoria), and (C) an estuarine zone on the southern Oregon coast (Coos Bay), January – December 2016.



Figure 4.4. Volume and age of ballast water

The mean volume and age of ballast water from each source location that was discharged to (A) the freshwater zone of the Columbia River (including the ports of Portland, OR, Kalama, WA, Longview, WA, Vancouver, WA), (B) the estuarine zone of the lower Columbia River (including the port of Astoria), and (C) an estuarine zone on the southern Oregon coast (Coos Bay), January – December 2016.

Acknowledgements

The authors are grateful to Catherine de Rivera for comments and guidance, and to two anonymous reviewers for valuable feedback. This manuscript was initiated from a project in the course Ecology and Management of Bioinvasions at Portland State University, Department of Environmental Science and Management. Development and publication were supported by an Edward D. and Olive C. Bushby Scholarship at PSU and the Scion Natural Science Association. References

- Albert RJ, Lishman JM, Saxena JR (2013) Ballast water regulations and the move toward concentration-based numeric discharge limits. Ecological Applications 23: 289–300, https://doi.org/10.1890/12-0669.1
- Barry SC, Hayes KR, Hewitt CL, Behrens HL, Dragsund E, Bakke SM (2008) Ballast water risk assessment: principles, processes, and methods. ICES Journal of Marine Science 65: 121–131, https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsn004
- Bollens SM, Breckenridge JK, Cordell JR, Rollwagen-Bollens G, Kalata O (2012) Invasive copepods in the Lower Columbia River Estuary: Seasonal abundance, cooccurrence and potential competition with native copepods. Aquatic Invasions 7: 101–109, https://doi.org/10.3391/ai.2012.7.1.011
- Briski E, Gollasch S, David M, Linley RD, Casas-Monroy O, Rajakaruna H, Bailey SA (2015) Combining ballast water exchange and treatment to maximize prevention of species introduction to freshwater ecosystems. Environmental Science & Technology 49: 9566–9573, https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.est.5b01795
- Britton JR, Gozlan RE (2013) How many founders for a biological invasion? Predicting introduction outcomes from propagule pressure. Ecology 94: 2558–2566, https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0527.1
- Carlton JT (1996) Pattern, process, and prediction in marine invasion ecology. Biological Conservation 78: 97–106, https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(96)00020-1
- Carlton JT, Geller JB (1993) Ecological roulette: the global transport of nonindigenous marine organisms. Science 261: 78–82, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.261.5117.78

- Casas-Monroy O, Linley RD, Adams JK, Chan FT, Drake DAR, Bailey SA (2015) Relative invasion risk for plankton across marine and freshwater systems: examining efficacy of proposed international ballast water discharge standards. PLoS ONE 10: e0118267, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0118267
- Chan FT, Bailey SA, Wiley CJ, MacIsaac HJ (2013) Relative risk assessment for ballastmediated invasions at Canadian Arctic ports. Biological Invasions 15: 295–308, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-012-0284-z
- Center for Coastal Margin Observation and Prediction (2017) Data Center, Saturn Observation Network. http://www.stccmop.org/datamart (accessed 8 September 2017)
- Colautti RI, Grigorovich IA, MacIsaac HJ (2006) Propagule pressure: a null model for biological invasions. Biological Invasions 8: 1023–1037, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-005-3735-y
- Cordell JR, Bollens SM, Draheim R, Sytsma M (2008) Asian copepods on the move: recent invasions in the Columbia-Snake River system, USA. ICES Journal of Marine Science 65: 753–758, https://doi.org/10.1093/icesjms/fsm195
- Cordell JR, Lawrence DJ, Ferm NC, Tear LM, Smith SS, Herwig RP (2009) Factors influencing densities of non-indigenous species in the ballast water of ships arriving at ports in Puget Sound, Washington, United States. Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems 19: 322–343, https://doi.org/10.1002/aqc.986

- Costello C, McAusland C (2003) Protectionism, trade, and measures of damage from exotic species introductions. American Journal of Agricultural Economics 85: 964– 975, https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8276.00500
- CSLC (2013) California State Lands Commission. California's Marine Invasive Species Program and the United States federal programs that manage vessels as vectors of nonindigenous species: A comparison of the relative effectiveness at reducing the risk of nonindigenous species introductions from maritime shipping activities. Report produced for the California State Legislature, 72 pp. http://www.slc.ca.gov/Programs/MISP_Rpts.html
- Daehler CC, Denslow JS, Ansari S, Kuo HC (2004) A risk-assessment system for screening out invasive pest plants from Hawaii and other Pacific Islands.
 Conservation Biology 18: 360–368, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2004.00066.x
- David M, Gollasch S, Leppakoski E, Hewitt C (2015) Risk assessment in ballast water management. In: David M, Gollasch S (eds), Global Maritime Transport and Ballast Water Management Issues and Solutions. Springer Dordrecht Heidelberg New York London, pp 133–169, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-017-9367-4_7
- Dexter E, Bollens SM, Rollwagen-Bollens G, Emerson J, Zimmerman J (2015) Persistent vs. ephemeral invasions: 8.5 years of zooplankton community dynamics in the Columbia River. Limnology and Oceanography 60: 527–539, https://doi.org/10.1002/lno.10034

- Drake D, Casas-Monroy O, Koops M, Bailey S (2015) Propagule pressure in the presence of uncertainty: extending the utility of proxy variables with hierarchical models.
 Methods in Ecology and Evolution 6: 1363–1371, https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12429
- Gollasch S, Lenz J, Dammer M, Andres H-G, Andres H-G (2000a) Survival of tropical ballast water organisms during a cruise from the Indian Ocean to the North Sea. Journal of Plankton Research 22: 923–937, https://doi.org/10.1093/plankt/22.5.923
- Gollasch S, Rosenthal H, Botnen H, Hamer J, Laing I, Leppäkoski E, Macdonald E, Minchin D, Nauke M, Olenin S, Utting S, Voigt M, Wallentinus I (2000b)
 Fluctuations of zooplankton taxa in ballast water during short-term and long-term ocean-going voyages. International Review of Hydrobiology 85: 597–608, https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2632(200011)85:5/6<597::AID-IROH597>3.0.CO;2-4
- Hayes K (1998) Ecological risk assessment for ballast water introductions: a suggested approach. ICES Journal of Marine Science 55: 201–212, https://doi.org/10.1006/jmsc.1997.0342
- Hayes KR, Hewitt CL (2000) Risk assessment framework for ballast water introductions
 Volume II. Centre for Research on Introduced Marine Pests Technical Report No.
 21, 188 pp
- Heger T, Trepl L (2003) Predicting biological invasions. Biological Invasions 5: 313–321, https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BINV.0000005568.44154.12

- Herborg LM, Jerde CL, Lodge DM, Ruiz GM, MacIsaac HJ (2007) Predicting invasion risk using measures of introduction effort and environmental niche models.
 Ecological Applications 17: 663–674, https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0239
- Hulme PE (2009) Trade, transport and trouble: managing invasive species pathways in an era of globalization. Journal of Applied Ecology 46: 10–18, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2008.01600.x
- Kang J-H, Hyun B-G, Shin K (2010) Phytoplankton viability in ballast water from international commercial ships berthed at ports in Korea. Marine Pollution Bulletin 60: 230–237, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.09.021
- Keller R, Drake J, Drew M, Lodge D (2011) Linking environmental conditions and ship movements to estimate invasive species transport across the global shipping network.
 Diversity and Distributions 17: 93–102, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-642.2010.00696.x
- Klein G, MacIntosh K, Kaczmarska I, Ehrman JM (2010) Diatom survivorship in ballast water during trans-Pacific crossings. Biological Invasions 12: 1031–1044, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10530-009-9520-6
- Kolar CS, Lodge DM (2001) Progress in invasion biology: predicting invaders. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16: 199–204, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(01)02101-2
- Kolar CS, Lodge DM (2002) Ecological predictions and risk assessment for alien fishes in North America. Science 298: 1233–1236, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1075753

- Lawrence DJ, Cordell JR (2010) Relative contributions of domestic and foreign sourced ballast water to propagule pressure in Puget Sound, Washington, USA. Biological Conservation 143: 700–709, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.12.008
- Lockwood JL, Cassey P, Blackburn T (2005) The role of propagule pressure in explaining species invasions. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20: 223–228, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.02.004

Lodge DM, Simonin PW, Burgiel SW, Keller RP, Bossenbroek JM, Jerde CL, Kramer AM, Rutherford ES, Barnes MA, Wittmann ME, Chadderton WL, Apriesnig JL, Beletsky D, Cooke RM, Drake JM, Egan SP, Finnoff DC, Gantz CA, Grey EK, Hoff MH, Howeth JG, Jensen RA, Larson ER, Mandrak NE, Mason DM, Martinez FA, Newcomb TJ, Rothlisberger JD, Tucker AJ, Warziniack TW, Zhang H (2016) Risk analysis and bioeco-nomics of invasive species to inform policy and management. Annual Review of Environment and Resources 41: 1–36, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-110615-085532

- Maguire LA (2004) What can decision analysis do for invasive species management? Risk Analysis 24: 859–868, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0272-4332.2004.00484.x
- Mandrak NE, Cudmore B (2015) Risk assessment: Cornerstone of an aquatic invasive species program. Aquatic Ecosystem Health & Management 18: 312–320, https://doi.org/10.1080/14634988.2015.1046357
- Miller AW, Minton MS, Ruiz GM (2011) Geographic limitations and regional differences in ships' ballast water management to reduce marine invasions in the

contiguous United States. BioScience 61: 880–887, https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2011.61.11.7

- Molina V, Drake LA (2016) Efficacy of open-ocean ballast water exchange: a review. Management of Biological Invasions 7: 375–388, https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2016.7.4.07
- Molnar J, Gamboa R, Revenga C, Spalding M (2008) Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 6: 485–492, https://doi.org/10.1890/070064
- Murray CC, Gartner H, Gregr EJ, Chan K, Pakhomov E, Therriault TW (2014) Spatial distribution of marine invasive species: environmental, demographic and vector drivers. Diversity and Distributions 20: 824–836, https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12215
- NBIC (2017) National Ballast Information Clearinghouse. Online Database. Electronic publication, Smithsonian Environmental Research Center & United States Coast Guard. https://doi.org/10.5479/data.serc.nbic
- NRC (2011) National Research Council. Assessing the relationship between propagule pressure and invasion risk in ballast water. The National Academies Press, Washington, D. C., USA, 144 pp
- Ojaveer H, Galil BS, Minchin D, Olenin S, Amorim A, Canning-Clode J, Chainho P, Copp GH, Gollasch S, Jelmert A, Lehtiniemi M, McKenzie C, Mikuš J, Miossec L, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Pećarević M, Pederson J, Quilez-Badia G, Wijsman JWM, Zenetos A (2014) Ten recommendations for advancing the assessment and

management of non-indigenous species in marine systems. Marine Policy 44: 160–165, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2013.08.019

Oregon DEQ (2016) Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. Oregon Ballast Water Management. <u>http://www.oregon.gov/deq/</u> Hazards-and-Cleanup/envcleanup/Pages/Ballast-Water.aspx (accessed 09 August 2017)

Oregon DEQ (2017) Oregon Department of Environmental Quality. Oregon Administration Record 340 Division 143. Ballast Water Management. http://arcweb.sos.state.or.us/pages/rules/oars_300/oar_340/340_143.html (accessed 16 August 2017)

- Ruiz GM, Carlton JT (2003) Invasive species: vectors and manage-ment strategies. Island Press, Washington, D.C., USA, 536 pp
- Seebens H, Gastner M, Blasius B (2013) The risk of marine bioinvasion caused by global shipping. Ecology Letters 16: 782–790, https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12111
- Seebens H, Schwartz N, Schupp PJ, Blasius B (2016) Predicting the spread of marine species introduced by global shipping. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 13: 5646–5651, https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524427113
- Simberloff D (2009) The role of propagule pressure in biological invasions. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 40: 81–102, https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120304
- Simberloff D, Martin JL, Genovesi P, Maris V, Wardle DA, Aronson J, Courchamp F, Galil B, Garcia-Berthou E, Pascal M, Pysek P, Sousa R, Tabacchi E, Vila M (2013)

Impacts of biological invasions: what's what and the way forward. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 28: 58-66

South Slough National Estuarine Research Reserve (2017) Science Program.

http://www.oregon.gov/dsl/SS/Pages/Science.aspx (accessed 8 September 2017)

- Tsolaki E, Diamadopoulos E (2009) Technologies for ballast water treatment: a review. Journal of Chemical Technology & Biotechnology 85: 19–32, https://doi.org/10.1002/jctb.2276
- Verling E, Ruiz G, Smith L, Galil B, Miller A, Murphy K (2005) Supply-side invasion ecology: characterizing propagule pressure in coastal ecosystems. Proceedings of the Royal Society B 272: 1249–1257, https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2005.3090
- Verna DE, Harris BP, Holzer KK, Minton MS (2016) Ballast-borne marine invasive species: exploring the risk to coastal Alaska, USA. Management of Biological Invasions 7: 199–211, <u>https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2016.7.2.08</u>
- Verna DE, Rueb RR, Gantz CA, Gala JT, Green J, Zalusky JA, Hooff, R. 2018. A decision tree analysis of nonindigenous species risk from ballast water to the lower Columbia River and Oregon coast, USA. Management of Biological Invasions 9: 309-321, <u>https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2018.9.3.13</u>
- Ware C, Berge J, Jelmert A, Olsen SM, Pellissier L, Wisz M, Kriticos D, Semenov G, Kwasniewski S, Alsos IG (2015) Biological introduction risks from shipping in a warming Arctic. Journal of Applied Ecology 53: 340-349
- Ware C, Berge J, Sundet JH, Kirkpatrick JB, Coutts ADM, Jelmert A, Olsen SM, Floerl O, Wisz MS, Alsos IG (2013) Climate change, non-indigenous species and shipping:

assessing the risk of species introduction to a high-Arctic archipelago. Diversity and Distributions 1-10

- Williams SL, Crafton RE, Fontana RE, Grosholz ED, Ha G, Pasari JR, Zabin CJ (2015)
 A vector analysis of marine ornamental species in California. Management of
 Biological Invasions 6: 13–29, https://doi.org/10.3391/mbi.2015.6.1.02
- Williams SL, Davidson IC, Pasari JR, Ashton GV, Carlton JT, Crafton RE, Fontana RE, Grosholz ED, Miller AW, Ruiz GM, Zabin CJ (2013) Managing multiple vectors for marine invasions in an increasingly connected world. BioScience 63: 952–966, https://doi.org/10.1525/bio.2013.63.12.8

Conclusion

The chapters presented in this dissertation examine aspects of globalization, trade, maritime shipping, and biological invasions. The methods and results described here fill existing research gaps by examining unique behaviors of vessel types, defining relationships between trade and ballast water dynamics, and identifying key drivers of vessel arrivals and ballast water delivery across national, regional, and local scales and varying degrees of invasion. The findings are useful for advancing invasion ecology and management in the dynamic and global network of maritime trade.

Trade is recognized as a driver of biological invasions in coastal ecosystems as ships transport most goods and commodities between countries. However, the exact relationships between trade and key vectors of nonindigenous species (NIS) have been difficult to quantify. Ballast water is a leading vector of NIS, but most ship arrivals do not discharge, and the volume and frequency of ballast water delivery is variable across ship types. Here, I examined the unique trade and ballasting behaviors of various ship types to identify a novel proxy of ballast water delivery. Specifically, I found that exports of bulk commodities drive the ballast water discharge behavior of bulk and tank ships, and that tonnage of bulk exports reliably predicts ballast water volume.

I found this relationship held across spatial scales, time periods, and trade commodities, further demonstrating its robustness and usefulness for improving our understanding of invasion dynamics. In San Francisco Bay, California, where nearly 20 different ports traded thousands of goods transported by a variety of ship types, the tonnage of only a few bulk exports explained bay-wide ballast water delivery. On all

coasts of the United States, growth of bulk energy exports explained annual variation in national ballast water volume, with implications for forecasting the effects of policy and trade shifts on vessel behavior and invasions.

Furthermore, I demonstrated that trade partner and export commodity can elucidate ballast water and invasion dynamics. Trade partners have shifted through time in response to changing markets, production, and demand, in turn influencing patterns of maritime shipping. The models developed here can estimate ballast water delivery across longer time periods when ballast water data are unavailable, but trade data are available. Using historical trade data, hindcasted estimates of ballast water delivery would identify events that led to fluctuations in volume, shifts in trade partners, and changes in exports of dominant bulk commodities. These data would support the development of a timeline to reveal patterns of known invasions and their drivers. Since mandatory ballast water management went into effect around the same time as mandatory reporting, estimates of ballast water delivery prior to management could reveal the effects of past and current management strategies (i.e., ballast water exchange), and establish a baseline for detecting the effects of up-and-coming management (i.e., onboard treatment systems).

The models developed here are also useful for forecasting ballast water delivery. In Chapter 2, demand for fossil fuel energy combined with availability of resources and technological advances (e.g., hydraulic fracturing) in the United States led to a recent dramatic spike in ballast water. While that demand is not likely to drop precipitously soon, as the world moves toward 'cleaner' energy resources I anticipate a shift away from coal (dry bulk) toward liquefied natural gas (liquid bulk), in addition to renewables. Since

the United States has abundant natural resources, it may continue to export large tonnages of energy commodities but receive more tank than bulk vessels. This flux in vessel type would influence the volume and location of ballast water delivery (and degree of propagule pressure) since tank ships discharge less per capita than bulk ships and commodity-specific export terminals vary spatially across coasts.

Future fluctuations in trade of other bulk goods will likewise influence ballast water and invasions. As seen in Alaska, mining and timber production (in addition to oil and coal) are leading drivers of bulk exports and ballast water delivery. Additional bulk carriers will be needed to export ore as existing mines expand or new mines are developed to meet demand for metals, minerals, and rare earth elements. These mined materials are used in the production of electronics, generators, and batteries that are necessary for electric vehicles and wind turbines, among other things. As such, demand may continue to grow with the global shift toward renewable energy sources, spurring mining exploration and production. Waste products, recycling, and agricultural goods from the West Coast, including San Francisco Bay, are also leading bulk exports that may vary depending on handling locations and demand.

The locations of refineries and smelters are important to shipping dynamics since raw materials are often transported to separate facilities before further dissemination as a refined or finished product. For example, crude oil exports from Alaska are delivered to the US West Coast and mineral ore is delivered primarily to China. On the US Gulf Coast, where refineries recently adjusted their practices to process domestic oil, there was in increase in export tonnage across an assortment of refined fuel types. Policy and

regulations that affect the production and refinement of raw materials, including the relatively stringent oversight in the United States, will influence the source and destination of energy commodities, and associated trade partners.

Identifying fluctuations in trade and markets can inform scenario development of potential changes in the abundance of vessel traffic and in-port activity. Since the source locations of ballast water and biota, and the magnitude of discharge, are a by-product of bulk exports, this approach can aid future predictions of NIS invasions. Expressly, trade partner is an indication of the species source pool and abiotic match to the recipient port, and tonnage of bulk exports is an indication of ballast water volume and propagule pressure. Incorporating these risk factors into management decisions can emphasize previously unappreciated consequences of resource development, infrastructure expansion, or changes to trade patterns.

Resource managers can apply the methods and models developed here to track bulk exports and related ballast water imports and predict new or changing bulk trade that may influence the likelihood of NIS introductions. As a result, managers can efficiently allocate resources for both vessel compliance verification and NIS surveillance, where vessel that import relatively large volumes of ballast water and ports that export bulk goods to trade partners with similar coastal habitat conditions are prioritized. A transparent screening tool, such as developed in Chapter 4, can aid the decision making process and standardize its application. This approach is useful across port systems, even in places that lack comprehensive ballast water data. Variable trade patterns and partners can influence delivery of NIS, while changing climatic conditions can influence likelihood of survival and establishment in novel ecosystems. In high latitudes, climate change is anticipated to improve abiotic match to lower latitude conditions, allowing species to colonize new habitat or expand ranges in a poleward direction. Climate change is also leading to altered trade routes, resulting in new infrastructure development (e.g., ports). The combination of increased propagule pressure and anthropogenic disturbance to previously remote coastlines will likely affect biological invasions. Recognizing this threat, resource managers can proactively ensure that management actions are taken by ships prior to ballast water discharge and strategically deploy surveillance equipment for NIS early detection. It is also an opportunity to prioritize sites for protection, for instance within marine protected areas and other ecologically or culturally significant zones as recognized by local stakeholders.

This dissertation improves understanding of the relationships between trade, ballast water, and biological invasions. Applying the concepts and results advanced here, scientists and managers can aim to proactively prevent invasions by (1) hindcasting ballast water delivery to identify temporal invasion patterns and effects of management, (2) identifying ports that currently export bulk goods and estimating ballast water volume, and (3) forecasting changes in trade and maritime shipping that will influence NIS introductions. Coupled with targeted NIS surveillance, this approach can advance synergistic management of biological invasions alongside other global challenges. **Supplemental Table 1.** The proportion of vessel arrivals and ballast water discharge to San Francisco Bay from overseas tankers from Hawaii and remaining bioregions. Total number of vessels (n) shown for % discharging vessels.

Overseas Tankers	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014
Hawaii Source									
Region*	44%	44%	72%	67%	45%	67%	45%	73%	71%
% Discharging (n)	(25)	(25)	(18)	(12)	(11)	(9)	(22)	(22)	(17)
Other Source									
Regions	9%	11%	18%	18%	26%	30%	31%	40%	53%
% Discharging (n)	(218)	(218)	(265)	(241)	(213)	(213)	(245)	(223)	(228)
Contributions from									
Hawaii									
% Total arrivals	10%	10%	6%	5%	5%	4%	8%	9%	7%
% Dischargers	35%	32%	21%	15%	8%	9%	12%	15%	9%

*Hawaii bioregion: SP-XXI



Supplemental Figure 1. The contribution of ballast water by (A) overseas bulk carriers originating from countries in the Asia source region and (B) overseas tankers originating from the Central America source region.

Appendix B: Supplemental Material to Chapter 2



Supplemental Figure 1. Annual petroleum exports from the United States. Regions are denoted by Petroleum Administration for Defense Districts (PADDs 1 - 5), see Figure 2.2 for locations. This study captured the rise in US energy exports from 2005 through 2018.



Supplemental Figure 2. Energy goods exported by bulk and tank vessels from the coastal United States. Values represent million metric tons.



Supplemental Figure 3. The relationship between energy exports and ballast water imports by vessel type. Values represent million metric tons. A linear regression model of the relationship can be described as: $y = 1.69 \times 10^6 - 3.19 \times 10^6_T + 5.60 \times 10^{-1}x - 2.61 \times 10^{-1}_{Tx}$, where *T* is the dummy coded contrast between tankers and bulkers, and *Tx* is the interaction between ship type and energy exports. Adjusted R² = 0.95. Shaded areas represent 95% confidence intervals.


Supplemental Figure 4. Top 25 destinations for shipborne energy exports from the United States.



Supplemental Figure 5. The percentage of ballast water imports that were reported managed by bulk and tank vessels on each coast of the United States.



Public infographic for Chapter 2.